



The potential of pyrolysis technology in climate change mitigation - influence of process design and -parameters, simulated in SuperPro Designer Software

Hauggaard-Nielsen, Henrik: Bruun, Esben: Thomsen, Tobias Pape: Ahrenfeldt, Jesper

Publication date: 2011

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Citation for published version (APA): Hauggaard-Nielsen, H., Bruun, E., Thomsen, T. P., & Ahrenfeldt, J. (2011). The potential of pyrolysis technology in climate change mitigation – influence of process design and –parameters, simulated in SuperPro Designer Software. Danmarks Tekniske Universitet, Risø Nationallaboratoriet for Bæredygtig Energi. Denmark. Forskningscenter Risoe. Risoe-R No. 1764(EN)

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain.
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal.

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact rucforsk@kb.dk providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



The potential of **Pyrolysis Technology** in climate change mitigation

- Influence of process design and -parameters, simulated in SuperPro Designer Software



Risø DTU National Laboratory for Sustainable Energy Tobias Thomsen Henrik Hauggaard-Nielsen Esben W. Bruun Jesper Ahrenfeldt

The potential of pyrolysis technology in climate change mitigation – influence of process design and –parameters, simulated in SuperPro Designer Software

Biosystems Division

Abstract:

This report investigates whether or not it would be possible to produce carbon-negative energy from pyrolysis of wheat straw in a series of Danish agricultural scenarios. A combination of process simulation in SuperPro Designer software, correlations derived from literature studies and experimental work, and overall balance calculations has been applied in the process.

The study deviates from other studies of pyrolysis and biochar production by the inclusion of substitution energy impact on the overall carbon-balance. Substitution energy is integrated to account for the gap between the energy production from the pyrolysis and the full energy potential of the biomass, quantified by complete conversion in either combustion or gasification systems.

It was concluded that it is feasible to produce carbon-negative energy under a variation of different settings, but also that the negative carbon-balance is only robust for the slow pyrolysis scenario.

The CO₂ benefit of the most carbon-negative slow pyrolysis process is estimated to be around 10 % of the atmospheric carbon stored in the original biomass when natural gas is applied for energy substitution. This process avoids the emission of around 150-200 kg CO₂/ton wheat straw with substitution energy with a Denmark 2007 average carbon-intensity. This result is weighted against the net emissions of the carbon-"neutral" process of conventional combustion. This emission is in this report estimated to be around $50 - 150 \text{ kg CO}_2$ /ton straw depending on scenario settings.

The final results of the study have been compared to another study with convincing results. Results concluded that the primary force of the pyrolysis technology is the recalcitrant char product and not the pyrolysis oil. Based on this, the study suggests that despite the trend in commercial pyrolysis technology that focuses on fast pyrolysis processes with maximized bio-oil production, the twin challenge of climate mitigation and sustainable energy production is most efficiently addressed with a combination of slow pyrolysis and complete biomass conversion through combustion or gasification instead. Risø-R-1764 (EN) January 2011

ISSN 0106-2840 ISBN 978-87-550-3877-6

Pages: 112 Tables: 22 References: 154

Information Service Department Risø National Laboratory for Sustainable Energy Technical University of Denmark P.O.Box 49 DK-4000 Roskilde Denmark Telephone +45 46774005 <u>bibl@risoe.dtu.dk</u> Fax +45 46774013 www.risoe.dtu.dk

Contents

1	Preface	2
2	Introduction	3
2.2	Climate change Carbon negative energy production Main research question, scope and structure of the report	3 4 5
3	Biochar processes - the carbon balance	7
	Biochar – public and political integration and acknowledgement Biochar and carbon-negativity Biochar energy system calculations	7 8 10
4	Biochar processes – chemistry and technology	13
4.1 4.2	Short on biochar – characteristics, production, and use Process design, feedstock and products	13 15
5	Pyrolysis process simulation	32
5.1 5.2	About the software – SuperPro Designer Modelling the pyrolysis process in SuperPro Designer	32 33
6	Incubation study	49
	Materials and methods Results and discussion	49 50
7	Process evaluation: mass- and energy balances	54
7.2	Preliminary assumptions and considerations Energy production in Denmark: Three scenarios Overall carbon-balance calculation model	54 55 58
8	Conclusion	74
9	References	77
10	Appendix	90

1 Preface

This report is a joined effort between the two programmes Ecosystems and Biomass Gasification under the Biosystems divisions at Risø DTU.

First author of the report is research assistant Tobias Thomsen from Biomass Gasification Group. Project concept, development, execution and presentation have been carried out in close collaboration between Ecosystems and Biomass Gasification Group with participants: Henrik Hauggaard-Nielsen (senior scientist) and Esben W. Bruun (PhD candidate) from Ecosystems and Tobias Thomsen (research assistant) and Jesper Ahrenfeldt (Senior scientist) from Biomass Gasification Group. Senior scientists Ulrik Henriksen and Helge Egsgaard from Biomass Gasification Group have participated with validation of specific parameters and text passages.

2 Introduction

2.1 Climate change

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) has established strong correlations between modern life and a subsequent risk of climate changes. Large scale combustion of fossil fuels, deforestation, and poor agricultural management contribute to an increased concentration of green house gases (GHGs) in the atmosphere. The increase has initiated an increase in the global average temperature (IPCC-WG1, 2007). A shift in global temperatures will cause a variety of changes on both natural and human environments, and will be devastating to many species and cultures (IPCC-WG2, 2007).

To meet this challenge, it is a widely used strategy to make energy consumption more efficient, and thereby reduce the net amount of GHGs released per quantity of products produced, kilometres driven, etc (IPCC-WG3, 2007). In this manoeuvre the carbon-balance is shifted from a given positive value closer to zero -a neutral carbon level. In most energy-production processes the carbon balance is positive, but some processes - like the combustion of biomass, are considered carbon neutral (Miljø&Energi Ministeriet, 2001). The difference between a carbon positive and a carbon neutral energy production is exemplified in Figure 2-I. The black arrow in scenario "A" indicates a net supply of carbon to the production – rendering the production carbon positive, which is compared to the closed carbon neutral production in "B" with no net carbon change. The positive net flux of carbon into scenario "A" will result in a build-up of carbon within the cycle. In modern business-as-usual settings this build up will take place in the atmosphere. For carbon-positive processes, there are profound differences in the level of positivity (the size of the black arrow in scenario "A") depending on the fossil fuel, process efficiency, and many other aspects. As an example, Danish energy production from coal is more carbon positive than energy from oil, which yet again is more positive than energy from natural gas (Miljø&Energi_Ministeriet, 2001).



Figure 2-I: A schematic difference between a carbon positive ("A") and a carbon neutral ("B") process.

2.2 Carbon negative energy production

Increased efficiency in energy production and use can shift carbon-balances from positive towards neutral. However, efficiency alone will never shift the balance to negative, and can thus never on its own reduce the current GHG concentration in the atmosphere from the present level. This is important to be aware of when taking into account the un-ambitious approach to climate mitigation in the last decades that has already led to very high levels of GHGs in the atmosphere. The effort made to reduce the CO₂ level since the Kyoto treaty was signed in 1997 has proved too weak, and CO₂ concentrations continues to rise (IPCC-WG3, 2007). With a present CO₂ level around 387 parts per million (ppm) on a global yearly average (NOAA, 2009), climate changes are already happening globally, and the impact is causing increasing difficulties for people, plants, and animals day by day. More and more grass root movements and scientific organizations argue that CO₂ levels must be returned to around 350 ppm to avoid catastrophic consequences for areas in especially Africa and around Bangladesh (350.org, 2010). The result of the recently resolved COP15 climate summit - the Copenhagen Accord, was an agreement between world leaders to keep maximum temperature increases from GHGs on +2 °C on a global average. The CO₂ level agreed on in the Copenhagen Accord is thereby around twice as high as the 350 ppm, and the press coverage of the COP15 suggest that even this goal will be very difficult to meet with current levels of dedication. The Copenhagen Accord is a very light – and not legally binding, agreement. With the failure at COP15, new measures will be necessary to stabilize GHG concentrations before reaching the +2 tipping point - or ideally to reduce the concentrations to the 350 pmm level (Decision-/CP.15, 2009; Greenpeace, 2009; Holst, 2009).

These conditions lead to a requirement for the last category of energy production processes – the carbon negative process. This type of process requires that carbon is removed from the atmosphere as energy is produced. There are currently two very different approaches to meet this requirement. The first method is a validated carbon negative energy production method from pyrolysis of biomass and the concomitant production and use of biochar (Lehmann, 2006; Mathews, 2007). In this process biomass is turned into biochar – a carbon rich char similar to coke or charcoal, with bio-oil or combustible gases as energy output. Amending the char in farm soil will sequester the carbon for a very long time, as well as replenish the contents of nutrients and carbon in the soil (Swift, 2001; Zwieten, et al., 2009). Every year around $1.05 \cdot 10^{14}$ kg of atmospheric carbon (ca 1/8 of total) is absorbed in the combined biosphere (terrestrial and oceanic), suggesting great potential for significant sequestration (Field, et al., 1998).

In Figure 2-II the impact of biochar carbon sequestration on the overall carbon cycle is illustrated. Scenario "B" is a carbon neutral energy production with a completely closed carbon cycle. This neutrality is shifted towards negative in scenario "C", where carbon is removed from the cycle in the form of biochar and sequestered on a long term basis. Running the "C" cycle repeatedly will slowly drain carbon from the atmosphere, and thus lower the CO2 concentration, as energy is produced.



Figure 2-II: Schematics of a carbon-neutral energy production "B" and a carbonnegative energy production "C"

An alternative proposal for carbon-negative energy production is the full combustion of biomass with CCS technology (Carbon Capture and Storage) (IPCC_WG3, 2009). However the CCS technology is expensive and still in its infancy (Holm, 2009).

2.3 Main research question, scope and structure of the report

Based on the rising demands for truly carbon-negative energy production technologies, and the apparent qualities of pyrolysis of biomass and biochar sequestration in this regard, – the aim of this report is to answer the following question:

Is pyrolysis of biomass with subsequent biochar sequestration in a Danish agricultural scenario, a truly carbon-negative bio-energy technology?

The approach to this question will be to set up guidelines for the carbon-balance of pyrolysis concepts, and propose a process to yield a carbon-negative energy production in a given scenario or set of scenarios. Using the simplified representation of a pyrolysis bio- energy infrastructure in Figure 2-III, the present study is to develop a set of tools to solve an inequality like the following:

A% + B% + D% + E% + F% + G% + I% < 100%

In this equation, the variables are all based on the carbon-fluxes in Figure 2-III, indicated by black or red arrows. This version of the inequality might prove to be insufficient compared to the final assessment on which factors to include, but it will work as a guide in the process.



Figure 2-III: Variables included in carbon balance calculations. Red arrows are thoroughly investigated, black arrows are researched through literature survey, and grey arrows are possibly omitted from this work.

The colour indications in Figure 2-III describe the level of work subjected to the specific flux variable in this work. The variables indicated by red arrows are subjected to the most thorough investigation through either simulation- or laboratory studies. The black variables are investigated through a literature survey, and the grey variables are probably omitted in the process to limit the work. The grey variables are assumed to have only insignificant impact on the overall carbon balance. To investigate the different variables three main steps are carried out:

- The process design and parameters red arrows around the pyrolysis plant and combustion operation (G, I). In this step the industrial process of biochar production from pyrolysis of biomass is investigated. To establish a flexible platform for later process evaluation, the pyrolysis process is modelled using the process design software SuperPro Designer 7.5 (Intelligen, 2009).
- Char stability red arrow from biochar (D). To evaluate the model output, it is important to establish some knowledge about the stability of different kinds of biochar in the soil, and thereby the influences of the process design on the sequestration potential. This is done through a small scale incubation study experiment of biochar/soil mixtures with biochar produced under different conditions.
- Overall balance literature review and data collection (A. B, E and F). In this final step, the different model inputs and outputs are to be collected and used in combination with knowledge about the impact of the variables as well as fertilizer utilization, etc. A set of scenarios in Danish agriculture present the limits of the analysis, and the output of the overall investigation is a suggestion to a specific bio-energy production process designed to secure a carbon-negative energy production within the given scenario.

3 Biochar processes - the carbon balance

3.1 Biochar – public and political integration and acknowledgement

Biochar is no new investigation; it is basically charcoal with a new label and purpose. Production of traditional charcoal has been known to the human race for thousands of years, and the first production may date as far back as 7000 years (Emrich, 1985). Use of charcoal as soil amendment for fertilising purposes is thought to be just as old, as evidenced by the terra preta in the Amazonas (Lehmann, 2006). In modern times, this utilization has been systematically researched for a relatively long period - more than 150 years (Trimble, 1851). However, the use of charred biomass as a mean for carbon sequestration and mitigation of climate change is new – no more than 10 years (Sombroek, et al., 2003). The word biochar is even younger and appears for the first time in the article "Bio-char Sequestration in Terrestrial Ecosystems – a Review" from 2006 (Lehmann, et al., 2006). The term Biochar was introduced as the appropriate term to use, where charred organic matter is applied to soil with the intent to improve the soil's properties (Lehmann, et al., 2009).

Today, the number of biochar initiatives is growing at high speed. The International Biochar Initiative (IBI, 2006), TERRA – The Earth Renewal and Restoration Alliance (TERRA, 2009), the CarbonZero Project (CarbonZero, 2009), Biochar Carbon Sequestration (BCS, 2006) and The Biochar Fund (BiocharFund, 2008) are just a few of the many organizations, who use their time and effort to support and promote the use of biochar. Commercial initiatives are also growing in numbers, and "old" companies like Dynamotive (Dynamotive, 1991), EPRIDA (EPRIDA, 2002) and BEST Energies, Inc (BEST, 2006) are no longer alone on the market (Miles, 2007).

Biochar production is also gaining acknowledgement on the political scene as a tool for climate mitigation and soil enhancement on a global scale. Pyrolysis processes for the production of biochar is on the list of technologies being scoped for the 5th assessment report of the IPCC in the investigation of the limited possibilities for low GHG level stabilization scenarios (IPCC_WG3, 2009), and biochar has been mentioned repeatedly in the UN as a tool to combat desertification and climate change. In the preparation for the COP15 in Copenhagen in December 2009 (AWG-LCA 4, 2008; UNCCD, 2009), many individual countries have submitted reports to the UNFCCC containing references to the use and benefits of biochar (IBI, 2009). Biochar - and pyrolysis of biomass in general, is growing in both awareness and acknowledgement, as new research is conducted and new technology progresses. There are, however, still many unanswered questions, giving fuel to critics and selfproclaimed prophets, who taint the discussions and debates with exaggerations, extreme scenarios (both pro and con), and silver-bullet fixes. Doubts about the benefits of the technology are present on all levels, and critics target the overall concept, as well as specific characterizations or scientific results. See for example the critical debate from the Guardian on a pop article on biochar by James Lovelock (Lovelock, 2009), a commentary doubting the negativity of the carbon-balance (Bruun, et al., 2008), the highly critical briefing "Biochar for climate change Mitigation: Fact or Fiction?" from the organisation Biofuel Watch (Ernsting, et al., 2009) or an article about acceleration of humus carbon mineralization by biochar (Wardle, et al., 2008).

3.2 Biochar and carbon-negativity

In regard to climate change mitigation, the main effect from application of biochar is the carbon-negativity of the production process. In this process, the energy output reduces GHG emissions by fossil fuel displacement, and is in itself an example of carbon-neutral energy production. The long term sequestration of carbon in soil renders the overall-process carbon-negative. Any additional effects of biochar amendment – e.g. reduction of soil emissions of CH_4 and N_2O or increased crop production and thereby carbon capture through photosynthesis, will not be addressed quantitatively in this report, but is regarded as a significant plus in the struggle for reducing GHG emissions (Renner, 2007; Zwieten, et al., 2009).

The overall carbon-balance of an energy production based on biomass depends on many parameters. These parameters can push the process towards, or away from, carbon-negativity. Box 3-I illustrates an example of two bio-energy production processes, which have the primary difference of biochar sequestration in the second. In both scenarios, the energy production is based on conversion of biomass grown with fertilizer, which requires the use of fossil fuels to produce. The values represent carbon fluxes in relation to the main value: the flux of carbon from the atmosphere to the biomass through photosynthesis. The values are generally feasible values used for illustrative purposes, and based on a simplified model by (Lehmann, 2007).



Box 3-I: Shift in the carbon-balance in the production of bio-energy

Figure 3-I: Illustration of a "carbon-neutral" bio-energy production process

Carbon-"neutral" bio-energy: In Figure 3-I biomass is produced through the photosynthetic capture of atmospheric carbon (CO₂) fuelled by soil, water, and fertilizers made from fossil fuels. The biomass is burned or gasified completely to produce electricity, (heat), and ash. This process is labelled carbon-neutral despite the fact that fertilizer comes from a carbon-intensive production process. Fertilizer nitrogen (N), for instance, is the largest single crop nutrition input, with an estimated energetic efficiency of about 50 MJ kg^{-h} N for urea production in the most efficient plants operating, equivalent to about 1.4 kg CO₂ kg^{-k} urea N manufactured (Boddey, et al., 2009). In Denmark the average fertilizer N application was 83

kg N ha⁻¹ in the 2007-2008 season distributed on a cultivated area of about 2.6 million hectares (Statistikbanken, 2010_A; Statistikbanken, 2010_B). This sums up to more than $3 \cdot 10^5$ tonnes CO2 for N application alone, and shifts the balance to carbon-positive. Only with organic production of the biomass, no wear and tear on process equipment and no use of external utilities (for unit operations, transport etc.) would the process be truly carbonneutral. This would, however, pose the long term problem of nutrient depletion (Cassman, 1999).



Figure 3-II: Illustration of a carbon-negative bio-energy production process

Carbon-negative bio-energy: In this scenario biomass is produced in almost the same manner as in the previous, but with less fertilizer and with the addition of biochar instead. Studies have shown that biochar can enhance soil quality both chemically and physically. It does so for instance by sorbing nutrients from fertilizer and thus securing them from being washed away (Lehmann, et al., 2006; Sohi, et al., 2009). These studies have been done mainly on sandy tropical soils, but for the purpose of this example, they are assumed valid for temperate soils also. The biochar is made during the energy production process via pyrolysis of biomass. When returning the char to the soil, nutrients are somewhat recycled, carbon-pools in the soil are replenished (by a small, labile fraction of the amendment), and carbon from the atmosphere is sequestrated on the long term. This has the potential to render the overall energy-production carbon-negative.

As indicated by the shifting electricity symbol in Box 3-I, the pyrolysis process produces less electricity and heat than the full combustion process, but maintains or even rebuilds soil fertility and structure. It also mitigates climate change in the energy producing process by sequestering atmospheric carbon, where combustion of biomass is normally slightly carbon-positive (conventional farming) or soil degrading (organic farming). This draws up an important difference: full combustion of biomass yield the highest amount of immediate energy, but has increased costs on the long term (reducing soil quality and depleting the carbon storage), where energy production including biochar use gives a smaller immediate energy yield, but addresses the problems of soil fertility and long term crop productivity in the same process.

Whether the carbon-balance of the processes in Box 3-I example should tip to one side or the other is controlled by the overall mass- and energy-balances of the specific process, which is again heavily influenced by such parameters as transportation, utility consumption, process-efficiency, etc. Specific process design features and -parameters have high impact on process yields of bio-oil, char, gas, heat, electricity etc (Brown, 2009; Hornung, 2008; Sohi, et al., 2009). However, changing parameters from one value to another will not always shift the carbon balance sufficiently. The first process in Box 3-I could never become carbon-negative from slight adjustments, but could shift from carbon-positive to almost neutral, as efficiency of the process increases, and less and less carbon is injected into the cycle. However, the second process can shift all the way from negative to positive; this could happen if a process variation reduced the char yield increasing energy output, and a technological deficiency added an increase in the consumption of utilities and transportation.

3.3 Biochar energy system calculations

System boundary considerations - in space and time

Energy system boundaries are important to specify in both space and time. Fluctuations in the need for heat and power with geography and seasonal changes play an immense part in the assessments of energy systems on many levels. Also, stability of biochar – or biomass, is very dependent on the time-span in which it is assessed.

One could claim that coal-power is carbon neutral as long as the time-span is wide enough, or that nothing is carbon-neutral if the time-span is short enough. The influences of space-oriented system boundaries can play similar grotesque roles on carbon- and energy-balances. In a very small system containing only a family and a cooking fire – the heat and light from the fire could be carbon negative if some char remains after cooking, and it remains there beyond the time-oriented system boundaries - or even if all wood is burned, but it was collected beyond the system boundaries. In another system a coal-fired plant within the boundaries can influence the entire system, rendering the overall energy production carbon-positive despite any biochar-initiative.

It is decided to address only some of the influence of space-oriented system boundaries in this report. The system confines of Denmark and the nation's energy consumption, and influence from beyond these boundaries is integrated only to the extent of the GHG-cost of procuring energy carriers like coal, oil or natural gas, and transporting it into the system.

The complexity of integrating the effect of time-spans on the carbon- and energybalances of biochar energy systems in Denmark is too big a task for this report, and it is decided to skip seasonal fluctuations in electricity and heat requirements. This is done roughly with the following assumptions:

- Heat is always equally needed, and electricity is therefore always produced with simultaneous heat production for district heating. In this way the report gives an evaluation as under stabile winter conditions, without addressing the differences in summer >< winter consumption. This assumption is briefly regarded in the final chapters, conclusion and recommendations on further work.

Methodical influential factors on carbon-negativity calculations

Biochar-focused energy production has a drawback, which is important to address before examining the impact of other variations on the process carbon balance. The char that is removed represents energy, as the char could have been fully gasified instead of incorporated in soil. This is illustrated in Figure 3-III. Calculations on energy balances that do not acknowledge this prerequisite will yield much better results than calculation systems that do. Calculation systems that operate with unlimited biomass resources will add new biomass to existing energy systems and the suppressing of fossil fuels from the energy production itself as well as the carbon benefit from burying biochar will then both add to the overall benefit. Operating with unlimited biomass resources undermines the scalability of the calculations.

In this report it is the origin of the calculations that biochar energy systems are introduced in an energy system that already utilizes the optimal biomass energy potential. In this case the introduction of biochar energy systems will always lead to an energy deficit compared to the reference. Therefore substitution energy systems are needed to balance the energy production of the biochar system to the reference system.



Figure 3-III: A special calculation prerequisite to acknowledge in biochar energy systems is the removal of energy potential from the reference in the shape of biochar.

Simply put, one could imagine an existing energy system – like an isolated country. In many biochar assessments the investigation method would introduce new biomass – e.g. bales of straw, in the isolated system along with the biochar technology. This will give both energy and negative carbon balances, but it is only usefull as long as new biomass resources can be added. In this report the biochar technology is introduced without adding new biomass to the system, but instead converting some of the already existing bales of straw in pyrolysis instead of the conventional way – incineration. This will sequester carbon, but yield less energy from conversion of biomass within the system. Therefore substitution energy is required.

The energy production method used to replace the biochar energy potential is essential for the carbon balance. Key characteristics and assumptions regarding various possibilities within the Danish energy sector are given in Table 3-I. Carbon costs calculations are based on Danish infrastructure and can be investigated further in a report from 2001 by the Danish Ministry of the Environment and Energy department (Miljø&Energi_Ministeriet, 2001). The table is shows the carbon-cost of combined energy production (electricity and district heating) from various energy sources. Electricity is the main parameter in the energy-balance assessments, but in the present calculations heat is also included as useful energy, as district heating grids in Denmark are widespread.

Table 3-I: Carbon cost of various energy production methods in Denmark (*Miljø&Energi_Ministeriet, 2001*).

Source	$Kg CO_2 GJ^{-1}$	Comments
Coal	106	Retrieving, transporting and processing coal for energy production requires large end-emissions of GHGs. Adding this to the combustion emissions, and emissions from the biochar production would render the total process very carbon-positive. The use of biochar will still have other advantages, but in relation to the carbon-balance the process would be pointless.
Energy produce intensive than e		Energy production from oil combustion is still less carbon intensive than energy production from coal combustion. This may, however, change as oil reservoirs are depleting faster than coal reservoirs.
Natural gas	60	In Denmark natural gas is a good alternative to coal for energy production, and replacing the energy stored as biochar with natural gas combustion may yield a favourable carbon balance in some situations.
Wind power	0	Assumed carbon-neutral. Accounts for ca 20% of Danish electricity production, and is assumed to increase further (DKvind, 2008)
DK 2007 - average	70	A combination of all the used energy-sources and the associated emissions of GHG's similar to the situation in Denmark in 2007. Calculated from (IEA, 2009; IEA, 2007)

Specific influential factors on carbon-negativity calculations

In addition to the large-scale influence of the replacement energy source, another parameter –, namely the stability of the char in the soil is also very important when addressing the carbon-balance. The char is expected to be substantially more recalcitrant than the feedstock. However, it is a fact that the char will not last forever, and that it will degrade eventually. How fast this degradation happens is very important to the carbon-balance, and therefore degradation patterns of different kinds of biochar are investigated later on in experimental setups.

Process design and parameters are already mentioned earlier as highly important to the overall balances. Among the most important parameters are whether the process is fast, slow or intermediate, the feedstock- and gas retention times, the heating rate and the maximum temperature (Brown, 2009; Hornung, 2008; Sohi, et al., 2009). However, also the overall efficiency of the plant, the integration of heat exchangers, the use of process utilities, the production of the biomass and finally any transportation and storage-requirements are influential on the total carbon-balance. These factors are taken into consideration throughout the report.

4 Biochar processes – chemistry and technology

4.1 Short on biochar - characteristics, production, and use

To be able to understand how the production and use of biochar could aid in the struggle for climate change mitigation, it is essential to establish some fundamentals about biochar characteristics, use, effects, and production methods.

Biochar - characteristics

Biochar is a carbon-rich solid material similar to charcoal. However, where charcoal is produced (or collected) for use in e.g. cooking, heating, colouring, or filtration operations, biochar is produced with the purpose of amending it to the soil for soil quality-enhancement, soil-layer replenishing or long-term carbon sequestration (Lehmann, et al., 2009).

Biochar contains a very large organic fraction, consisting primarily of carbon in aromatic compounds where six C-atoms are sharing electrons in a ring-shape, and several rings are linked and/or stacked. If this fraction is perfectly ordered and the ring-layers stacked systematically on top of each other, the substance is called graphite. However, the organic fractions of biochar are polymorph (not ordered as graphite) and contain H- and O-molecules in addition to the carbon, as well as different minerals depending on the feedstock (Lehmann, et al., 2009). Average carbon-content from 14 different feedstocks has been found to be 543 g C \cdot kg biochar ⁻¹ (Chan, et al., 2009).

One of the most important physical characteristics for biochar is the surface area of the particles. Biochar surface areas vary a lot with production process and parameters as well as feedstock, and can range from $1 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$ to at least 750 m²/g (Downie, et al., 2009). Other characteristics of biochar, which influence its use and effects on soil quality include porosity (nano- and macro-), density, particle size, stability, mineral content, residual oils and tars, and surface chemistry and sorption properties (Amonette, et al., 2009).

Biochar – use and effects

Biochar is produced from biomass, and is therefore build largely from atmospheric CO_2 with the aid of photosynthesis and solar energy. When biochar is returned to the soil, it sequesters carbon from the atmosphere on a long term basis, and thus creates a carbon sink. The stability of the char when incorporated in soil depends on many factors such as production process, feedstock, soil, amendment process, climatic conditions, etc. The turnover time of biochar in soil is generally suggested to be in the scale of hundreds or even thousands of years - compared to a turnover time of ordinary added organic matter (AOM) – like untreated straw or other agricultural residues, of typically 6-20 years (Masiello, et al., 1998; Swift, 2001; Torn, et al., 2005). Stability is a key feature of biochar in relation to the process carbon-balance, and to the scope of this report, and it will be investigated in chapter 6 in a series of incubation studies.

Biochar is also expected to have several positive effects on soil fertility. Like active charcoal, biochar has the ability to adsorb various ions and compounds. This could prevent valuable nutrients from being washed from soil layers into the ground water, as well as it could help to reduce emissions of CH_4 and N_2O from the soil (Zwieten, et al., 2009). Furthermore, water holding capacity and soil structure and architecture has

been known to be positively influenced by biochar on sandy soils (Laird, et al., 2009; Lehmann, et al., 2009; Thies, et al., 2009).

Biochar – Production

Biochar is formed when biomass is heated under moderate temperatures (400-700 °C) with insufficient oxygen for full combustion. The technical term for this thermal decomposition of organic matter is pyrolysis, and the process can take on many shapes depending on the desired products. These products can be combustible, non-condensable gases, or bio-oil in addition to the biochar (Lehmann, et al., 2009). Generally pyrolysis processes are divided into fast-, intermediate- and slow pyrolysis (Hornung, 2009_A). These overall designs will be described and discussed in more detail in the next chapter. To show the span in pyrolysis techniques in use today, two extremes are presented below Figure 4-I:



Figure 4-I: To the left: A large traditional pit kiln operated as a slow batch process (Brown, 2009). To the right a lab scale flash PCR (Pyrolysis Centrifuge Reactor) operated as a fast continuous process (Bech, 2008).

The large pit kiln in Figure 4-I is a traditional, low tech, method for producing charcoal, which has been used for thousands of years. The pit kiln can vary from about 1 m³ in volume to more than 30 m³. The kiln is dug out in the ground, filled with biomass, covered, and lit with a small fire. Controlling the air inlet is crucial, as too much air will lead to full combustion of the biomass, and insufficient air will kill the heat source prematurely. The product of the kiln pyrolysis is char, at a yield around 12.5-30 wt%, and the process can take as much as 2-3 days (Brown, 2009). The PCR is a highly advanced pyrolysis process that produces oil-, gas-, and charfractions. The gas is combusted in the heating process, while the bio-oil the char is collected. The pyrolysis reaction takes place at the inner surface of the heated reactor at temperatures around 480-620 °C, where small particles are twirled onto by high-speed centrifugal powers. Estimations on large scale versions of the unit predict a capacity of around 330 kg \cdot m⁻¹ \cdot hour ⁻¹ (Bech, 2008).

4.2 Process design, feedstock and products

In pyrolysis processes there is a strong relation between the design of the process, the feedstock, and the process output products (Brown, 2009). This is investigated in the following sections.

Biomass - biochar feedstock and main reactions

Pyrolysis is an extremely robust chemical operation, capable of converting a long range of different materials. It has been proposed several times as a way of addressing various waste problems – e.g. management of animal or crop wastes, sewage sludge, paper mill waste, old tyres or mixed plastic waste (Demirbas, 2002; Jung, 2009; Seung-Soo, et al., 2009; Shinogia, et al., 2003). The process is also readily applied to other feedstock sources like e.g. coal, rape seed or algae (Miao, et al., 2004; Morris, 1990; Onay, et al., 2003). For additional feedstock examples see (Yaman, 2004).

In this report, focus is on wheat straw as feedstock for bio-energy production. A lignocellulosic feedstock like straw, is mainly composed of the three polymers: cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin, with small fractions of water, organic extractives, and inorganic materials (ash) (Brown, 2009). Biomass of this composition includes various forms of agricultural residues, energy crops, wood residues and paper waste. Examples of the variations in composition with biomass type are shown in Table 4-I.

Feedstock	Cellulose (wt%)	Hemicelluloses (wt%)	Lignin (wt%)	Extractives (wt%)	Ash (wt%)
Willow	43	21	26	-	1
Switchgrass	32	25	18	17	6
Miscanthus	38	24	25	5	2
Maize stover	39	19	15	-	4.6
Wheat straw*	38	36	16	-	10

Table 4-I: Examples on the content of biomass (dry basis) (Brown, 2009). * (Brown, 2003)

Cellulose

Cellulose is normally the most abundant of the three major fractions of lignocellulosic biomass materials (Brown, et al., 2001). Cellulose is composed of repeating units of cellobiose, each unit consisting of two anhydroglucose units, and made from linear condensation of β -(1-4)-D-glycopyranose sugars. A cellobiose unit is shown in Figure 4-II.



Figure 4-II: The repeating unit in cellulose – the cellobiose constituent (Mohan, et al., 2006)

Cellulose structure is crystalline, consisting of long linear chains coupled by hydrogen bonds and van der Waal's forces. The number of glucose units in each cellulose chain is known as the Degree of Polymerization (the DP). The DP of cellulose is around 10,000 on average (Brown, 2009). During pyrolysis the cellulose fraction decomposes, and the DP decrease continuously. Finally when DP reaches values less than around 8, the fractions become volatile and evaporate from the solid mass (Overend, 2004). Cellulose degradation occur around 240-350 °C to produce anhydrocelluloses and levoglucosan in two parallel reaction pathways. The complex decomposition pattern of cellulose involves both endothermic and exothermic reactions, and the final products would normally involve biochar, CO_2 , H_2O , CO, CH_4 , other volatiles, and a range of condensable gases and/or tar (Brown, 2009).

Hemicelluloses

Hemicelluloses is a much less uniform polymer than cellulose. Where cellulose is build from glucose molecules alone, hemicelluloses is build from a large variety of hexoses, pentoses and deoxyhexoses. Also the structure is different, and the chains in hemicelluloses are branched with small side-chains along the main. The branching and variations in composition give a less crystalline structure in hemicelluloses than in cellulose and much smaller polymers – DP only around 150 (Mohan, et al., 2006). The consequence of the more amorphous structure is lower chemical and thermal stability, causing hemicelluloses to decompose at lower temperatures than cellulose - around 200 - 260 $^{\circ}$ C.

The decomposition of hemicelluloses yields more volatiles, less tars, and less chars than decomposition of cellulose. Pyrolysis products of hemicelluloses include a range of non-condensable gases (CO, CO₂, H₂, and CH₄, etc.), some low molecular weight organic compounds (e.g. aldehydes and alkanes) and water (Rutherford, et al., 2004).

Lignin

The last of the three major fractions is lignin. Lignin is the largest non-carbohydrate fraction of lignocellulosic material, and differs in many ways from both cellulose and hemicelluloses. Lignin is constructed from three different alcohols, all containing an aromatic ring (Brown, 2009). The three constituents are depicted in Figure 4-III.



Figure 4-III: The constituents of lignin (Mohan, et al., 2006).

Lignin has a highly amorphous structure, and the individual units can link in many different ways. This cross-linked resin serves as a binder in the lignocellulosic material, holding fibrous cellulosic components together and at the same time

providing a shielding effect against microbes and fungus (Mohan, et al., 2006). In lignin biosynthesis, the constituent units undergo radical dimerization and oligomerization, before they polymerize and cross-link. Ether bonds dominate in lignin material, but also carbon-carbon linkages exists. Unlike cellulose and hemicelluloses, lignin cannot be depolymerized back to its original monomers (Brown, 2009; Mohan, et al., 2006).

The differences in lignin compositions and structure from one biomass to another, and changes in the material occurring from the applied extraction manoeuvres, make it difficult to describe the thermal decomposition of lignin in biomass from studies of extracted lignin (Mohan, et al., 2006). However, investigations suggest that decomposition occurs around 280-500 °C (Rutherford, et al., 2004). The pyrolysis of lignin is more exothermal than pyrolysis of cellulose and hemicelluloses, and yield more char than the other fractions, together with around 10 % (weight of original material) non-condensable gases – CO, CH₄, and C₂H₄, a liquid fraction consisting of insoluble tar (~15%) and pyroligneous acid (~20%). The pyroligneous acid typically consists of methanol, acetic acid, acetone, and water, while the tar fraction is mostly homologous phenolic compounds (Brown, 2009; Mohan, et al., 2006). The methoxy substituents on the majority of the phenylpropane monomer units in lignin lead to a relatively large production of methanol. For a long time, wood pyrolysis has been a major source of acetic acid, acetone, and methanol. For the same reason, methanol is still known as wood alcohol (Overend, 2004).

Biomass components and degradation patterns for modelling purposes Figure 4-IV shows a schematic pattern of biomass decomposition via pyrolysis. The qualitative pattern forms the basis for modelling the thermal degradation of wheat straw in chapter 5.



Figure 4-IV: Generalized decomposition pattern of biomass from thermal decomposition in pyrolysis. Model adapted from Brownsort (2009) with additional reference to Brown (2009).

To limit the complexity of the model work in the next section of the report, the fraction of wheat straw known as Organic Extractives are neglected (wheat straw values ~ 0 – see Table 4-I) and the inorganic content of the biomass has been grouped and labelled ash. To further simplify the model, variations in hemi-cellulose and lignin are neglected, and only the overall content of the main constituents are assumed to influence the quality and quantity of the pyrolysis products.

Pyrolysis process design

Depending on design and operating conditions, pyrolysis processes can be divided into several sub categories from slow pyrolysis over intermediate- and fast pyrolysis to a full gasification Table 4-II. The general bio-oil, bio-char, and process gas product distribution estimation from Table 4-II is useful when trying to establish an initial understanding of the size of the different product fractions in relations to overall process design. Descriptions of the different process categories are given below, together with more thorough investigations on products quantities.

Table 4-II: Distribution of mass percentage on products of various pyrolysis processes (*Bridgwater, 2007_A*)

	Liquid (bio-oil)	Solid (biochar)	Gas (process gas)
FAST PYROLYSIS Moderate temperature (> 500 °C) Short vapour residence time (<2s)	75% (25% water)	12%	13%
INTERMEDIATE PYROLYSIS Low-moderate temperature (< 500 °C) Moderate hot vapour residence time	50% (50% water)	25%	25%
SLOW PYROLYSIS (< 500 °C) Low-moderate temperature, Long residence time	30% (70% water)	35%	35%
GASIFICATION high temperature (>800 °C) Long vapour residence time	5% (5% water)	10%	85%

Main parameters

The most influential design-specific parameters on the pyrolysis process are peak temperature and residence time (Sohi, et al., 2009). However, process parameters like heating rate, gas retention/sweep gas scenarios, feeding rate and pressure, as well as feedstock/pre-treatment parameters (e.g. particle size and water content) can also have significant additional influence on the process (Antal, et al., 2003; Overend, 2004).

Slow pyrolysis

Traditional slow pyrolysis by batch in kilns of various sorts is an example of the pyrolysis wave phenomena in massive biomass. The process progresses through solid biomass like a wave from a central initiation point. The starting point is normally the burning of a small amount of the wood charge which then provides the initial heat to start the wave reaction. In these kilns, good isolation is a key parameter for minimizing the amount of air needed to support the ongoing reaction. The global average charcoal yield from this kind of operation is around 30 wt%, ranging from less than 25 wt% in primitive African pit and Mound kilns to more than 45 wt% in South American industrial kilns (Overend, 2004). Traditionally gas and oil are lost through exhaust pipes or holes in this kind of process, but in modern kilns it is possible to use part of the gases in extern heating of the process and collect some of the tar and oils from the process outlets (Brown, 2009).

Modern slow pyrolysis often takes place in continuous reactors – e.g. drum pyrolysers, screw pyrolysers, or rotary kilns (Brown, 2009). These plants are highly energy efficient compared to traditional kilns, and are capable of producing biochar, bio-oil, and gas. The general principle in all these processes is comparable to the simplified drum pyrolyser in Figure 4-V.



Figure 4-V: Schematic of drum pyrolysers, a modern slow pyrolysis process with external heating. Own work with reference to Brown (2009)

The illustrated process in Figure 4-V has an extern heating-source, where pyrolysis gases from the process are burned to keep the reaction going. This kind of heating is often used for modern slow pyrolysis, because it is technically fairly simple and good for the long retention times. However, it is also possible to use one of the following alternative heating techniques (Maschio, et al., 1992):

- Direct heating: Heating of the biomass through contact with an inert heating medium, such as an inert gas, solid steel balls or hot sand.
- Partial oxidation: The original pyrolysis heating process where a little oxygen is introduced into the reactor and heat is provided by the partial combustion of the pyrolysis products.

A study by Peacocke of the characteristics of modern and traditional slow pyrolysis processes, has led to the following characteristics (Peacocke, et al., 2009):

- Long residence times of 5 s + for volatiles and minutes to days for solids
- Relatively low reactor temperatures < 450 °C
- Atmospheric pressure
- Very low heating rates ranging from 0.01 °C/s to up to 10 °C/s
- Low rate of thermal quenching of the products minutes to hours

The Biomass Gasification Group at the Technical University of Denmark conducted a series of studies of the slow pyrolysis of wood chips in 2005 to characterize the release of tar as a function of pyrolysis temperature. The results showed that almost all the tar produced in a process with a heating rate of 6 °C/min was released in the temperature interval between 300 °C and 400 °C, and that no additional tar was released after reaching 600 °C (Ahrenfeldt, et al., 2005). When setting up the pyrolysis process model later in the report, the temperature range to simulate is based on these results. Therefore, focus will be on building model which yields valid results in the temperature span from 400 °C to 600 °C.

Fast pyrolysis

Fast pyrolysis or rapid pyrolysis plants are a category of high-tech continuous processes, converting biomass to pyrolysis products in a few seconds. To secure this instant conversion of the feedstock particles, preparations must be made to avoid significant diffusion barriers and temperature gradients in the particles during the heating process. These preparations include thorough shredding/pulverizing and drying to a water content < 10 wt% (Emrich, 1985).

In general, the methods of heating a fast pyrolysis plant are categorized similar to the heating of the conventional pyrolysis plant above. However, the technology is a lot more advanced than the technology in most slow pyrolysis plants, and the specific approach varies a lot from one plant to another. Examples of the different kinds of fast pyrolysis reactors and heat carriers are given in

Table 4-III. For additional examples see e.g. Bridgwater et al. (1999).

Fast pyrolysis reactor	Description of heating source
Fluidised bed or fluid bed	The feedstock is blown into a bed of heated sand, and mixed instantly. Close packing of sand and biomass secure rapid heat transfer and conversion.
Ablative reactor	The feedstock is pressured against a heated metal disc. The disc is rotating at high speed, melting the biomass.
Twin screw reactor	Two parallel screws, rotating at high speed transport and mix heated sand and biomass.
Pyrolysis Centrifuge Reactor by (Bech, 2008) characterized as Flash pyrolysis	The feedstock is blown into a heated centrifuge at high speed. Biomass is transported and converted along the inner surface of the heated shell.

Table 4-III: Examples of fast pyrolysis reactors and heat carriers (Bech, 2008; Hornung, 2008).

Fast pyrolysis technical equipment does not exist in a primitive version like the original slow pyrolysis kilns, and therefore this category have smaller process parameter intervals. A general overview of these parameters could be as follows (Maschio, et al., 1992; Peacocke, et al., 2009):

- High heating rates > 200 °C/s
- Reactor temperatures greater than 450 °C
- Short residence times volatiles < 2 s, solids < 5 s
- Small particle size < 1 mm

For a given feedstock, there is an optimal operating temperature for the maximization of liquid product yield in fast pyrolysis processes. For wheat straw this optimum temperature is around 525 °C in a Pyrolysis Centrifuge Reactor, independent of the feedstock moisture content (Ibrahim, et al., 2008). Fast pyrolysis of wood shows approximately the same behaviour – see Figure 4-VI.





Figure 4-VI: Typical yields from fast pyrolysis of wood, wt% on dry feed basis. Adapted from Bridgwater et al. (1999)

Also the residence time is essential in fast pyrolysis plants, when aiming at bio-oil production. Especially the vapour residence time has to be short to minimise secondary reactions. Best practice is typically around 1 s, although good yields are still possible with vapour residence times of up to 5 s if the vapour temperature is kept below 400 °C (Bridgwater, et al., 1999).

Flash pyrolysis

Flash pyrolysis is the extreme end of the fast pyrolysis category. The distinction was originally of some importance, but has by now largely disappeared. Today, the term "flash" is gradually being replaced by a more generalised definition for fast pyrolysis (Peacocke, et al., 2009).

Intermediate pyrolysis

The intermediate pyrolysis process is a combination of the low temperatures ($350 \text{ }^\circ\text{C} - 500 \text{ }^\circ\text{C}$) and long solid residence time of the slow pyrolysis, with the short gas residence time of the fast pyrolysis process. The result is a robust, continuous process capable of handling many different kinds of feedstock while yielding large amounts of liquids (Hornung, 2009_B; Robert, et al., 2009).

The technical approach to the intermediate pyrolysis differs from one plant to another. The design is often based on slow pyrolysis technology with additional focus on gas flow management. Examples of intermediate pyrolysis reactors in use are:

- Electrically heated rotary kiln with gas-heated steel balls for heat transfer, and rotation of the cone for mixing (Robert, et al., 2009).
- Fixed kiln with two coaxial conveyor screws to mix biomass and gasheated steel balls for heat transfer (Apfelbacher, 2009).

Gasification

Gasification technology aims to convert the feedstock to a maximum amount of gas (mostly CO, CO₂, H₂, and N₂), with a small ash fraction and a water fraction as additional outlets (Brown, 2009).

Gasifiers can take on many different shapes and sizes, and it is out of the scope of this report to characterize them all. However, for discussion purposes later on gasification may prove to be an important alternative to pyrolysis in some given scenarios. It is therefore important to have at least one type of gasifier to relate to. A suitable alternative to the isolated pyrolysis process is the Danish 75 kW, two-stage gasifier Viking (Henriksen, et al., 2006). This gasifier produces a combustible gas with very small amounts of tar. This is important as tar damages internal combustion engines, gas turbines, and other machinery - see Figure 4-VII for simplified process schematics.



Figure 4-VII: Example of gasification – the Viking gasifier (simplified). Adapted from Henriksen et al. (2006)

The first stage in Viking is feeding, drying, and pyrolysis of the biomass (wood chips). The heat supply to this process comes from external heating by two streams – one is a direct exhaust stream from the plant gas engine, running on either natural gas or the produced gas, and the other is a similar stream that is heated additionally by heat exchanging with a gas stream from the gasification unit (Henriksen, et al., 2006). The first section of the pyrolysis unit is a drying zone, evaporating of the water vapour, and then follows the pyrolysis process. This stage is in many ways directly comparable to the similar procedure in a pure pyrolysis plant.

In the second stage of the gasification unit, air is supplied to partially oxidize the pyrolysis products and raise the temperature of the stream to as much as 1270 °C. This oxidation removes a significant amount of tar by cracking, and produce energy for the following endothermic char gasification. During the gasification water and CO_2 from the drying and the pyrolysis reacts with the char fraction due to the high temperatures (~ 800 °C) and a conversion from char and tar to gas takes place. After removing the ash fraction, the stream is used for heat exchanging with the pyrolysis heat stream, the air inlet for the oxidation process as well as district heating. Finally, the gas is combusted in the gas engine, producing electricity and heat for the pyrolysis (Henriksen, et al., 2006).

The gasification technology is an interesting alternative to the pyrolysis in scenarios where no biochar is needed or wanted. The plant produces electricity with high efficiency, it needs only little maintenance and the waste streams are small. For additional information on the Viking gasifier see e.g. Gassner et al. (2009), Henriksen et al. (2006) or Chen et al. (2003).

Based on the previous sections, some outlines for process designs and parameters to include in the pyrolysis process model in chapter 5 are suggested. These outlines are presented in Table 4-IV. Within these boundaries, the models should yield feasible results when compared to experimental values. Designs and parameters outside these boundaries are only considered qualitatively.

	Solid residence time	Temperature increase	Max temperature
Slow pyrolysis	10 – 60 minutes	5 – 20 °C min ⁻¹	350 – 550 °C
Fast pyrolysis	0.5 – 5 seconds	100 – 1000 °C sec ⁻¹	450 – 650 °C
Gasification	Not mod	elled. Qualitative consideration	ations only.

Table 4-IV: Outlines for pyrolysis processes and design parameters to be included in the pyrolysis process modelling

Present state technology

The scenario build up in the modelling part of this report will strive to resemble reality on many aspects – including size, capacity and availability of the pyrolysis technology assumed to be used. As mentioned in chapter 3.1, there is already a substantial industry centred on the production of biochar, pyrolysis systems or related products. Pyrolysis plants of various designs and size are operated all over the world for research purposes, energy production, or a production of oil, gas, char, or specific high value chemicals. The number and variations among the plant are huge, and it is out of the scope of this report to do a thorough investigation. To get some idea of the span of processes being presently operated, a few examples are given in Table 4-V. Lab scale pyrolysers processing only small amounts of biomass (a few grams or kilos per hour) are omitted from the table, as it is not feasible to engage in the use of such small capacities for energy production purposes. For additional information on different pyrolysis plants and gasifiers, see e.g. Bridgwater et al (2000) or Beenackers (1999).

	Product /reference	Capacity	Characteristics
EPRIDA/ EGenesis industries (Turn-key)	1-ton Pyrolysis System (eGen, 2008)	1 t/hr	Utilizes steam and nitrogen. Produce ~ 26 kg char and 126 kg gas on 100 kg biomass, 7 kg N and 88 kg steam.
UOP/ENSYN (Envergent) (Turn-key)	Rapid Thermal Processing (RTP) Plants (UOP_LLC, 2008)	10 - 100 t/d	Fast pyrolysis plant. 500 °C. 65 – 75 wt% bio-oil from woody biomass. Char and gas used for heating.
Dynamotive (Turn-key)	Fast Pyrolysis Pilot Plant (Dynamotive, 2009)	15 t/d	Fast pyrolysis plant. 450–500 °C. 60- 75 wt% bio-oil, 15-20 wt% char. 10- 20 wt% gas. Gas and some char used for heating.
BTG (Turn-key)	BTG-BTL pyrolysis Plant (BTG, 2009)	1 - 5 t/hr	Fast pyrolysis plant. 50-70 wt% bio- oil. Char used for heating.
Castle Capital, In Nova Scotia (Turn-key)	Continuous Ablative Regenerator (C.A.R.) (Brown, 1995)	50 t/d (dry basis)	Indirect hot plate heating. Operated under pressure. Operation temperature 500- 700 °C. Produces gas for gas turbines.
BEST energies (Turn-key)	BEST energies Pyrolysis Process (Downie, et al., 2007)	2 t/hr	Slow pyrolysis plant. Drum kiln with solids residence time ~ 30 min. 550 °C. High gas yield, no liquids and moderate char yield.
University of Tübingen (Research facility)	The Stenau process (Bridgwater, et al., 2000)	1 t/d	Slow pyrolysis plant. Rotary kiln at low temperatures. 1 t feed yields 300 kg bio-oil, 71 m ³ gas and 560 kg solid residue.
Aston University /EBRI (Research facility)	BtVB process and Pyroformer reactor (Apfelbacher, 2009)	~ 10 t/d	Intermediate pyrolysis 350-500 °C. Variable feedstock. Wheat straw at 450 °C yields ~ 30 wt% char, 50 wt% oil and 20 wt% gas.

Table 4-V: Examples of commercially available pyrolysis technology

For local small scale scenarios in the modelling section of the report, it is feasible that turn-key technology could be applied, and therefore this type of plant is heavily represented in Table 4-V.

Process outputs - the pyrolysis products

Quality and quantity of all three product fractions from modern pyrolysis processes – biochar, process gas and bio-oil, are very dependent on feedstock characteristics and process design. All three fractions have a role in the overall carbon-balance estimations of the pyrolysis process, and correlations between feedstock, process design, and product features and quantities are essential to understand for drawing usable overall conclusions on the carbon balance of a given scenario.

Biochar

The biochar fraction of the pyrolysis process and the potential for carbon sequestration through soil amendment of this recalcitrant substance is the one parameter of biomass pyrolysis that has the potential to render the entire process carbon-negative (see section 2.2). In the assessment of the process carbon balance, the main characteristic of biochar to focus on is the recalcitrance and the stability of the char in soil. How process parameters influence these characteristics is examined and discussed in chapter 6,

The other main aspect of the biochar correlation with process design and the carbon balance is the quantitative output of biochar from a given process. In this respect, maximum temperature and gas phase residence time are very important variables. In a simplified way, an increase in temperature will lead to more volatile material being forced out of the solid residue – reducing char yield, but increasing C-fraction in the char (Antal, et al., 2003). It is assumed that the recalcitrance of the remaining solid fraction increases with peak temperature, as more volatiles leave the compounds, the labile fraction of the solid residuals decreases and the ration of fixed-carbon increases (Antal, et al., 2003). This is illustrated for three different feedstocks in Figure 4-VIII (Demirbas, 2006).



C content in char, wt% dry ashfree basis

Figure 4-VIII: C-content in char as function of pyrolysis temperature. Adapted from Demirbas (2006)

The correlation based on the work by Demirbas is implemented for later modelling of slow pyrolysis of wheat straw. To also model the fast pyrolysis of wheat straw, a similar correlation is done based on the fast pyrolysis data in Table 4-VI. The two correlations are:

- Fast pyrolysis of wheat straw: Biochar C-content wt% = $0.08 \cdot T + 15.9$
- Slow pyrolysis of wheat straw: Biochar C-content wt% = $0.11 \cdot T + 20.8$

In general, biochar yields are considerably less in real life than the theoretically possible (from chemical equilibrium calculations). In traditional kilns the yield can be as low as 8 %. This is, among other things, because the traditional kilns admit O_2 into the pyrolysis chamber, partially oxidizing the char to CO and CO₂ (Brown, 2009). However, even a completely oxygen deprived pyrolysis process might yield lower than expected. This happens especially if vapours and gases are removed from the reaction zone before thermodynamic equilibrium is attained. Biochar is formed in two general reaction pathways – one where de-volatilized biomass leaves behind a carbonaceous residue (primary biochar), and one where organic vapours (tars) decompose on the residue surface to form coke (secondary biochar) (Brown, 2009). Variations in the venting of pyrolysis of cellulose have been verified to cause a shift from a few % biochar yields to almost 20 % yield (Suuberg, et al., 1996). The mentioned aspects of char formation are important when understanding the difference in slow-, intermediate-, and fast pyrolysis processes.

Another important char characteristic is the energy content. This is expressed by the heating value, and examples of such are given in Table 4-VI. The higher heating value (HHV) is an energy measurement which includes the heat that can be obtained by condensing the water vapour produced by combustion of the char. HHV is used for the remainder of this work, as the energy production facilities assessed often integrate energy extraction from vapour condensation.

Process description	Higher heating value	Elemental composition ^a	Reference
Fast pyrolysis 550 °C. Danish wheat straw	20 MJ/kg	C: 53 H: 3.6 N: 1 O: 17 S: 0.4 Ash: 25	(Bech, 2008)
Fast pyrolysis 577 °C. Wheat straw	23 MJ/kg	C: 64.3 H: 2.4 N: 0.5 O: 14.3 S: 0.3 Ash: 18.2	(Di Blasi, et al., 1999)
Fast pyrolysis 800 °C. Swedish straw	26 MJ/kg	C: 77.3 H: 1.9 N: 0.7 O: 19.7 S: 0.4 ^b	(Zanzi, et al., 2002)
Slow pyrolysis 10 °C·min⁻¹ -> 800 °C. Danish straw	27 MJ/kg	-	(Henriksen, et al., 1991)
	a O	b	Ash free composition

Table 4-VI: Examples of the dependence between char heating value and pyrolysis process parameters

^a Oxygen to balance wt% ^b Ash free composition

There are several other important characteristics of biochar which are influenced by feedstock and process design. These characteristics include porosity (Brown, 2009; Rutherford, et al., 2004), elemental composition, surface charge, application properties (density, dust fraction) (Blackwell, et al., 2009; Hammes, et al., 2009), etc. but as they have to do mainly with soil improvement and not the process carbon balance, they will not be thoroughly investigated in this report.

Non-condensable gases

As indicated in Figure 4-VI, gas production in pyrolysis processes is favoured at high process temperatures where it happens mainly on expense of the bio-oil fraction. This is in good agreement with the description of thermal decomposition of the feedstock components in section "Biomass - biochar feedstock and main reactions". The large condensable compounds which form the liquid phase cracks under additional thermal treatment to lighter gases, refractory tars and steam following a complicated pattern with increasing temperature from 500-1000 °C (Fjellerup, et al., 2005). Tar particles in gas are difficult to control and a potential source of damage to many types of unit operations. For this reason, it is important to diminish the amount of tar by cracking if the heavy compounds are not removed early in the downstream process. There are several ways to crack tar, and this has been practiced intensely in gasification processes. In the Danish Viking gasifier, the process is done in two steps – first a partial oxidation with thermal cracking at temperatures beyond 1100 °C, which reduces the tar content in the gaseous phase with a factor of ~ 100 , and then through a char bed in a char gasification reactor, reducing the tar content with an additional factor of 100 (Henriksen, et al., 2006).

Examples of the gas phase compositions and higher heating values from various setups to be used in the model work are given in Table 4-VII.

Process description	HHV	Gas composition (vol%, dry)	Reference
Slow pyrolysis 600 °C. Wheat straw	10.0 MJ/kg ^a	CO ₂ : 35.7 CO: 30 H ₂ : 20.9 CH ₄ : 11.8 C ₂ H ₆ /C ₂ H ₄ : 1.6	Calculated from (Di Blasi, et al., 2000)
Fast pyrolysis 550 °C. Wheat straw	11.2 MJ/kg	CO ₂ : 50 CO: 37 H ₂ : 1.1 CH ₄ : 2.2 CH ₃ CHO: 1.6 Additional C ₂₋₄ : 8.1	(Bech, 2008)
Fast pyrolysis 800 °C. Straw	14.9 MJ/kg ^a	CO ₂ : 23.7 CO: 28, H ₂ : 35 CH ₄ : 9.5 C ₂ H ₆ : 0.1 C ₂ H ₂ /C ₂ H ₄ : 3.1 Benzene: 0.6	(Zanzi, et al., 2002)
Slow pyrolysis -> 800 °C. Straw	13.0 MJ/kg	CO ₂ : 36 CO: 26.1 H ₂ : 22.9 CH ₄ : 12.7 C ₂ H ₆ : 1.6 C ₂ H ₂ /C ₂ H ₄ : 0.6	(Henriksen, et al., 1991)
Two-step gasifier 800 °C / 900 °C. Straw	16.5 MJ/kg	CO ₂ : 21.7 CO: 30.5 H ₂ : 29.3 CH ₄ : 17.4 C ₂ H ₆ : 0.0 C ₂ H ₂ /C ₂ H ₄ : 1.1	(Henriksen, et al., 1991)

Table 4-VII: Gas-phase values for modelling

^a Calculated from composition

Divided into slow and fast pyrolysis processes for use in the modelling section, elemental compositions of pyrolysis gases calculated from Table 4-VII:

- Fast pyrolysis of wheat straw: ~39 wt% C, 58 wt% O and 3 wt% H
- Slow pyrolysis of wheat straw: \sim 36 wt% C, 60 wt% O and 4 wt% H

Bio-oil

Bio-oil from pyrolysis of biomass has been known to contain more than 300 different compounds in various amounts, and the variations in quality and quantity of the oil with feedstock and process design and parameters are enormous. A thorough investigation of bio-oil characteristics and properties from a long range of different feedstocks and pyrolysis processes is given by Mohan et al. from 2006, together with a review of possible ways to alter the composition of the oils, and use them as a raw material for the production of specific chemicals (Mohan, et al., 2006). The production of specific chemicals from bio-oil, and the whole bio-refinery concept is out of the scope of this report, and focus will be on bio-oil from pyrolysis as fuel for energy purposes only.

As a general rule, fast pyrolysis processes yield higher liquid fractions than slow pyrolysis. Development of modern fast pyrolysis processes have succeeded in yielding as much as 80 wt% liquids on dry feed basis in extraordinary cases (Bridgwater, et al., 1990).

The pyrolysis oil itself consists of water and a long range of organic compounds that are collected by quenching a hot, char- and ash free, vapour stream. The speed of the quenching is important as it "freezes in" the intermediate products of the fast degradation of the biomass in a somewhat stable form (Mohan, et al., 2006). The liquid has a large water fraction bound by the polarity of the oxygenated organics (Bridgwater, et al., 1990). Some ash and char particles will normally remain in the oil, but hot-gas filtration techniques can bring the level beneath 0.01 wt%, thus meeting the requirements of the best quality diesel fuel (Bridgwater, et al., 1990).

Pyrolysis liquids are often dark brown free flowing substances with a strong distinctive smoky smell. It has a very high density (~ 1.2 kg/litre) compared to light fossil fuel oil (~ 0.85 kg/litre) and a viscosity that varies significantly with the water content and aging of the oil (Bridgwater, et al., 1990). Pyrolysis oils vary significantly, but some characteristic values are given in Table 4-VIII.

Filysical property	
Moisture content	15 - 30 wt%
рН	2.5
Elemental analysis (dry basis)	C: 56.4 wt% H: 6.2 wt% O: 37.3 wt% (by difference) N: 0.1 wt%
HHV as produced (depends on moisture)	16-19 MJ/kg
Viscosity (at 40 °C and 25 wt% water)	40-100 cp
Solids	Char < 0.5 wt%, Ash \sim 0.1 wt%
Distillation possible	Max 50 wt% due to instability

 Table 4-VIII: Examples of typical pyrolysis oil characteristics (Bridgwater, et al., 1990)
 Particular

Typical value

Physical property

As a fuel oil, bio-oil has some advantages and disadvantages compared to conventional fossil diesel fuel. Besides the obvious advantages on the carbon-balance, there are also other environmental benefits worth mentioning. Burning bio-oil emits essentially no SO_x compounds, as the level of sulphur in plant biomass is insignificant, and less than 50% of the NO_x 's from diesel oil depending on plant Nlevels and specific diesel oil type (Mohan, et al., 2006). Helge Egsgaard, senior scientist at Risø DTU suggests that one of the reasons for the diminished NO_x emissions could be an in-situ de- NO_x effect in the bio-oil by relatively high ammonia content.

A large disadvantage of bio-oil is the low energy content. With a HHV normally around 16-19 MJ/kg, the energy density in bio-oil from pyrolysis is less than half of that in hydrocarbon fuels with energy content around 40-44 MJ/kg. Volumetric heating value in bio-oil with 20 wt% water is approximately the same as in 95 % ethanol (Bridgwater, et al., 1990). This obviously makes some aspects of the logistics in energy production with bio-oil a lot more demanding than in fossil energy production, but as fossil fuels becomes more energy-demanding to acquire this balance may shift. One commonly used method to remove water from various liquids is distillation. This would increase the energy density in the bio-oil, and thus reduce transportation costs and improve the energy balance of transportation. Unfortunately, the possible distillation of bio-oil is only ~ 50 wt% (Table 4-VIII), because heating of pyrolysis oil initiates a fast reaction that transforms ~ 50 wt% of the liquid into a charlike residue that cannot be re-liquefied. The instable nature of the pyrolysis oils at room temperature or lower (Bridgwater, et al., 1990).

The use of bio-oil for energy purposes presents a series of other challenges. Using biooil in a normal diesel engine, for instance, will rapidly corrode or erode it due to the acidity of the bio-oil in combination with char fines (Bridgwater, et al., 1990). Table 4-IX present some examples of the troublesome aspects of bio-oil, and some methods to solve these problems.

Characteristic	Effect	Solution
Contains suspended char	Leads to erosion, equipment blockage, combustion problems due to slower rates of combustion; 'sparklers' can occur in combustion leading to potential deposits and high CO emissions.	Hot vapour filtration; liquid filtration; modification of the char for example by size reduction so that its effect is reduced; modification of the application.
Contains alkali metals	Causes deposition of solids in combustion applications including boilers, engine and turbines; in turbines the damage potential is considerable, particularly in high performance.	Hot vapour filtration; processing or upgrading of oil; modification of application; pre-treat feedstock to remove ash.
Low pH	Corrosion of vessels and pipe work.	Careful materials selection - stainless steel and some olefin polymers.
Incompatibility with some polymers	Swelling of destruction of sealing rings and gaskets.	Careful materials selection.

Table 4-IX: Bio-oil characteristics, and methods to alter them. From Mohan et al (2006)

Characteristic	Effect	Solution
High-temperature sensitivity	Liquid decomposition and polymerization on hot surfaces leading to decomposition and blockage; adhesion of droplets on surfaces below 400 °C.	Recognition of problem and appropriate cooling facilities; avoidance of contact with hot surfaces > 500 °C.
High viscosity	High-pressure drops in pipelines leading to higher cost equipment and/or possibilities of leakage or even pipe rupture. Higher pumping costs.	Careful low temperature heating, and/or addition of water, and/or addition of co-solvents, such as methanol or ethanol.
Water content	Complex effect on viscosity, lowers heating value, density, stability, pH, homogeneity, etc. Can lead to phase separation.	Recognition of problem; optimization with respect to application.
In-homogeneity	Layering or partial separation of phases; filtration problems.	Blending with methanol or ethanol.

Today it is possible to adapt equipment for energy production to run successfully on bio-oil, and tests have been carried out for many years with various tares of success. A test in 1995 of a low speed, 1.4 MW diesel engine with a special self-cleaning filter, and a ceramic coated special stainless steel fuel injector gave a thermal efficiency of 45% in a four hour run, with no signs of corrosion or other problems (Jay, et al., 1995). In another test, a 2.8 MW gas turbine designed for the alkaline environment of salt water spray was run on bio-oil produced with hot-gas filtering and gave a thermal efficiency of 28% (Andrews, et al., 1996). Other successful tests include a 1.4 MWe modified dual fuel diesel engine with at least 500 hours of operation on bio-oil over a few years, and a 2.5 MWe gas turbine modified for bio-oil utilization (Bridgwater, et al., 1990). Modern large scale testing of bio-oil as energy source is also well under way. The Biomass Technology Group (BTG) in the Netherlands has co-fired a 350 MWe natural gas fired power station with 15 tons of bio-oil producing 25 MWh of electricity. The combustion campaign revealed that natural gas-fired power plants can use the bio-oil with minimal retrofitting and high system reliability. The bio-oil must be completely ash-free, as there is no dust-collection unit at the natural gas power station and the price of this oil will be ~ 6 €/GJ, which compares to the cost of natural gas in the Netherlands (Wagenaar, et al., 2008). For a more thorough review of bio-oil applications see e.g. Czernik et al. (2004).

It is assumed for the remainder of this report that it is feasible to produce electricity and heat from bio-oil in a Danish energy scenario. The main parameter to investigate for use in the modelling section is the energy content in the oil. The energy content depends on many parameters involving feedstock composition and process design. However, (Bridgwater, et al., 1990) points out that the main variation comes from water content. This could be very useful in the modelling section, and a correlation between bio-oil water content and HHV is suggested in Figure 4-IX.



Figure 4-IX: Correlation between bio-oil water content and energy content (HHV = Higher heating value)

The correlation in Figure 4-IX is substantially simplified but assumed valid for the purpose of this report. The linearity could be suspected as if the correlation was regarded as a simple dilution. To avoid negative values in the modelling, an assisting function is created to take over the correlation when the water content exceeds 60 wt%. This function is linear from 60 wt% and HHV 2.4 MJ/kg until 100 wt% water and HHV 0 MJ/kg.

Another useful correlation for bio-oil characteristics is between the oils elemental composition and energy content. This matter has been thoroughly investigated – see e.g. Channiwala et al. (2002). However, for the scope of this report, a simpler approach is necessary. A suggestion to such a simplified correlation is given in Figure 4-X.



Figure 4-X: Simplified correlation between bio-oil C-content and HHV

Data behind the above correlations includes experimental results from both slow and fast pyrolysis processes with different designs and process parameters, and many different feedstocks (Bech, 2008; Bridgwater, et al., 2007_B; Demirbas, 2004; Maggi, et al., 1994; Miao, et al., 2004; Onay, et al., 2003; Özcimen, et al., 2004; Sipilaé, et al., 1998; Mohan, et al., 2006). The data used in the correlations is given in more detail in Appendix 1 and Appendix 2.

5 Pyrolysis process simulation

In the final chapters of the report the goal is to combine the information and correlations from the previous chapters with the use of Intelligen's SuperPro Designer software to examine the overall carbon-balance of pyrolysis processes. The first step in this process is to build a model of the pyrolysis process. The viability and usability of this model is essential in the carbon balance examination, and it is expected to function within the following boundaries:

- Fast and slow pyrolysis processes with standard operation parameters are investigated
- Only general unit operations within the different processes are included
- Peripheral units are investigated mainly to the extent of utility consumption.

The model build up is done in two steps. First, the main reactor in a fast and a slow pyrolysis process has to be set up and validated. Afterwards, additional standard unit operations are added to the model until it resembles a complete pyrolysis process. The work is based on a literature survey, and discussions with gasification expert, senior scientist Jesper Ahrenfeldt from Risø DTU.

5.1 About the software – SuperPro Designer

SuperPro Designer is a modelling tool used for evaluation and optimization of integrated processes in a wide range of industries (Pharmaceutical, Biotech, Specialty Chemical, Food, Consumer Goods, Mineral Processing, Microelectronics, Water Purification, Wastewater Treatment, Air Pollution Control, etc.). SuperPro Designer was originally developed for through-put optimization, project economic assessment, waste/pollution reduction and control as well as utility and work force management (Intelligen, 2010_a; Intelligen, 2010_b).

In the work with the pyrolysis process model, the main model focus will be on carbonand energy balances, including some considerations of utility consumption. This will make use of SuperPro Designers material- and energy balances, built-in unit operations for up- and downstream processing and default values for utility consumptions. Building the pyrolysis process model in SuperPro Designer, would open a wide spectrum of possibilities for future work using the program strengths on throughput- and economic optimization, environmental management and impacts as well as scheduling and work force assessments. These investigations could prove very useful in situations where a concrete pyrolysis process was considered, or in helping define an optimal process in a given socio-economic setting. It is thus possible that many of SuperPro Designers unused features could become useful in future work beyond the scope of this report.

The SuperPro Designer software package is chosen for the pyrolysis process model because it integrates all unit operations in the process, and therefore yields a total energy- and carbon balance of the process. The software is not chosen because it is assumed to provide the best and most accurate model of the pyrolysis reactor. This task has been met with other more specific software like the DNA simulation tool or the EES Gasifier (Elmegaard, et al., 2005; Fock, et al., 2000).

5.2 Modelling the pyrolysis process in SuperPro Designer

The main reactor build-up

The build of the main pyrolysis reactor in SuperPro Designer is the most crucial step in the modelling process, as it is unprecedented and not within the software's core competences. SuperPro Designer includes 140 different pre-designed unit operations, but not one of them is suited for use as a detailed pyrolysis reactor. It would be possible to implement kinetic one-step pyrolysis reactions in standard continuous reactors (Plug flow reactors or Continuously Stirred Tank Reactors), based on kinetic parameters from academic literature e.g. Shafizadeh et al. (1977), Lanzetta et al. (1998) or Van de Velden et al. (2010), but the result would be a model that is only capable of simulating very accurate results in a very narrow spectre of process variations (Miller, et al., 1996). To build a robust model, it is assumed necessary to level out the uncertainties, so that the model will work reasonably well in many scenarios, instead of very well in only a few.

On this background, it is decided not to use a single unit operation for the thermal reactions, but instead try to model the process in a parallel sequence combining three standard reactors processing cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin separately. Each reactor should apply build-in kinetic reaction calculations with kinetic parameters from suitable experiments. This approach for modelling of general biomass pyrolysis is using a superposition principle with individual reactions of cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin kinetics. This makes the model capable of transforming various feedstocks from knowledge about feedstock composition, instead of only wheat straw, and it increases the model robustness due to the interaction of several reaction pathways instead of only one. The concept is illustrated in Figure 5-I based on the work by Miller et al. (1996).



Figure 5-I: The superposition principle for degradation of biomass via individual constituent reactions. Own work with reference to Miller et al. (1996)

Main differences in slow- and fast pyrolysis reactors

The fast- and slow pyrolysis processes differ mainly in heating rates and solid retention times (see section 0). Detailed control of heating rates in SuperPro Designer standard reactors is very difficult as it is not possible to program detailed temperature variations over time. Based on this it is found necessary to find an unorthodox method for controlling reactor heating rates.

The fast pyrolysis has extremely high heating rates, and short residence times (see section 0), and may very well be considered isotherm without any significant impact
on reaction rates and pathways. This assumption reduces the problem with heating control and enthalpy integration to the slow pyrolysis process. These processes have long solid residence times and slow heating rates, and therefore it is not viable to assume all slow pyrolysis processes isotherm.

After thorough consideration it is decided to split the slow pyrolysis process into sections linked in series. Each of these sections will in itself be isotherm, but increasing temperature from section to section will resemble the effect of controlled heating rates in one reactor. The SuperPro Designer depiction of this setup with 4 sections is shown in Figure 5-II.

Heating occurs by heat exchanging the feed with a hot gas stream. For each pass through the heat exchangers, temperature increases in the next section of the reactor, and the hot gas stream loose an equivalent amount of energy. To complete the integration between reactors and heating stream, the enthalpy of the reactions need to be applied. Applying enthalpy calculations to the reactors is a possibility in SuperPro Designer, but it leads to many software errors, which the program cannot solve. This problem is addressed in section 0.



Figure 5-II: SuperPro Designer slow pyrolysis reactor setup.

The sectional approach gives good possibilities for temperature variations throughout the reactor. As an alternative to a uniform heating rate along the pyrolysis reactor, it is common to have a drying section at one temperature and a pyrolysis section at another. The sectional build-up of the reactor can also provide valuable information about the reaction progress in the reactor. It is now possible to follow the development of products and degradation of feedstock components from one section to the next, by monitoring the connecting streams.

The final build of the main pyrolysis reactors for the fast- and slow pyrolysis processes is illustrated in Figure 5-III. The illustration is of the fast pyrolysis process, but exchanging section 2 with 3 parallel versions of Figure 5-II would give the setup for the slow pyrolysis plant. In this build-up, the feed stream is first divided into main fractions of cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin (including ash and water). Then each stream is kinetically transformed in one isotherm reactor (fast pyrolysis) or several sections with the same or increasing temperature (slow pyrolysis). Finally, the streams are cosmetically altered – labelling e.g. carbon+ash+celluloses residue as biochar, before they are mixed into one stream, adding similar product fractions together and giving a final output of biochar, bio-oil, water, and process gas.

Heating is omitted from the diagram in Figure 5-III for better overview. In the fast process the feed would be heated by heat exchanging with a warm gas stream to reaction temperature just before section 1. After the heating the reaction would occur under isotherm conditions in section 2, and then reaction enthalpy influence is integrated in section 3. This would lead to a change in stream temperature, and to shift this temperature change to the heating stream, a final heat exchanging would occur

after section 4. For the slow pyrolysis process heat exchanging would also occur between each section of the combined reactor as indicated in Figure 5-II.



Figure 5-III: SuperPro Designer modelling - structure of slow- and fast pyrolysis main reactors

SuperPro Designer kinetics for main reactor

To build a temperature- and time dependent pyrolysis model, the main reactors is based on biomass degradation kinetics. In SuperPro Designer, all reactions for these kinds of operations are assumed to follow Arrhenius kinetics. This mean that reactionrate constants are temperature dependent following k (T) = $A \cdot e^{-E_a/RT}$. Here k (T) is the reaction-rate constant, A is the pre-exponential factor, R is the gas constant, T is the absolute temperature, and E_a is the activation energy. For simplicity purposes all reactions are assumed to be 1st order, irreversible reactions in this work. This is important as most kinetics studies of pyrolysis of biomass are based on this assumption. This leads to a reaction-rate expression $-r_B = k_B (T) \cdot C_B$ for a given reaction F -> P where C_B is the concentration of compound B. In a first-order reaction following Arrhenius kinetics, k (T) is in s⁻¹, A (the frequency factor) is also in s⁻¹, T is normally in K, and E_a is dependent on R and could be in kJ·mol⁻¹ if R is in kJ·K⁻¹·mol⁻¹ (Fogler, 2006).

Degradation pathways and kinetic parameters

Cellulose degradation and kinetics

The approach chosen for modelling the cellulose degradation is illustrated in Figure 5-IV.



Figure 5-IV: Degradation pathways and kinetic parameters for pyrolysis of cellulose (Diebold, 1994)

In the first step in Figure 5-IV, two reactions compete for converting the celluloses: Transformation to "active celluloses" – a product with lower DP, by chain cleavage, or formation of char and water (including small amounts of by-product gases) from a dehydration reaction. After transformation to "active cellulose", three reaction pathways compete for further conversion: Direct cracking to secondary gases, volatilization to primary vapours or dehydration into biochar and water (including small amounts of by-product gases). The primary vapours can crack again to form secondary gases, or form secondary tars (including small amounts of by-product gases and water) (Diebold, 1994). Unreacted celluloses fractions (active and inactive) will end up in the biochar yield.

Hemicelluloses and lignin degradation and kinetics

Main reaction scheme and kinetic parameters for both hemicelluloses and lignin are primarily based on the work by Miller et al. (1996), and illustrated in Figure 5-V and Figure 5-VI.



Figure 5-V: Degradation pathways and kinetic parameters for pyrolysis of hemicelluloses (Miller, et al., 1996)

The modelling by Miller et al. (1996) is comparable to that of the cellulose degradation, but simplified from 7 global pathways to 4. There is also a degradation proposition for cellulose in the work by Miller, but a more advanced approach by Diebold (1994) was chosen here.



Figure 5-VI: Degradation pathways and kinetic parameters for pyrolysis of lignin (Miller, et al., 1996)

Vapour phases from hemicelluloses are divided into 60 % condensables and 40 % gases while it is 42 % condensables and 58 % gases from lignin vapours. X-values for reaction of active hemicelluloses and lignin to char and gas are 0.6 and 0.75 respectively (Miller, et al., 1996).

The applied kinetics has been fitted originally to match experimental results from thermal degradation of many different feedstocks at once (Diebold, 1994; Miller, et al., 1996). Based on this knowledge, it is assumed a good idea to validate - and potentially re-fit, the pyrolysis model parameters for wheat straw in a SuperPro Designer reactor before using it for process predictions. This will integrate feedstock, the superposition principle, reactor build-up, and kinetics, and clarify process simulation deviations and uncertainties.

Validation of the main pyrolysis reactors

First step in the validation of the pyrolysis process model is to find suitable experimental results to validate against. The experiments should use wheat straw as feedstock, and the description in literature should have a level of details suitable for imitation. The experiments used for this exercise are described in Table 5-I.

Table 5-I: Experiments for use in validation of the main pyrolysis reactor model

Experiment	Process description	Main product yields
Slow pyrolysis 1 (Raveendran, et al., 1996)	Feedstock: Cellulose, hemicelluloses (xylan) and lignin extracted from wood. Temp. profile: Isotherm at 500 °C Retention: ca 10 min (solids)	20.4 % biochar, 39.0 % liquids and 40.6 % gas. Calculated from straw with 42.2 % cellulose, 40 % hemicelluloses and 17.8 % lignin.

Slow pyrolysis 2 (Di Blasi, et al., 2000)	Feedstock: Undefined wheat straw with 5.25 % ash and 7 % moisture. Temp. profile: 20 °C·min ⁻¹ from 25 °C to 500 °C. Retention: ca 24 min (solids)	28.5 % biochar, 48 % liquids and 23.5 % gas (dry basis).
Slow pyrolysis 3 (Hornung, 2009_B)	Feedstock: Undefined wheat straw. Temp. profile: Isotherm at 450 °C. Retention: ca 10 min (solids)	28 % biochar, 50 % liquids and 22 % gas (dry basis).
Slow pyrolysis 4 (Raveendran, et al., 1995)	Feedstock: Well defined wheat straw Temp. profile: 50 °C·min ⁻¹ from 25 °C to 500 °C. Retention: ca 10 min (solids)	24.9 % biochar and 75.1 % volatiles.
Fast pyrolysis 1 (Ibrahim, et al., 2008)	Feedstock: Defined wheat straw. 6.2 % water. Temp. profile: Isotherm at 525 °C. Retention: 2 seconds.	25.9 % biochar, 56.2 % liquids and 19.4 % gas.
Fast pyrolysis 2 (Scott, et al., 1999)	 Feedstock: Wheat straw with 1.3 wt% water and 4.6 wt% ash content Temp. profile: Isotherm at 550 °C. Retention: 1.5 seconds. 	24.5 wt% biochar, 52.8 wt% liquids and 17.8 wt% gas.
Fast pyrolysis 3 (Zanzi, et al., 2002)	Feedstock: Wheat straw Temp. profile: Isotherm at 800 °C. Retention: 1.5 seconds.	13.2 wt% biochar, 11.0 wt% liquids and 75.8 wt% gas (dry ash free basis).

To validate the pyrolysis model reactors capabilities on predicting product fraction yields, simulations are conducted with settings that resemble the experimental setups as closely as possible. Where no information about a given parameter has been available, common values have been used. Comparison of experimental results and model product values are given in Figure 5-VII. Deviations on experimental data are estimated to be around ± 5 % uncertainty on measurements of product yields when no uncertainty information is available (Brownsort, 2009).

Comparing the two models in Figure 5-VII, it is obvious that the fit of the fast pyrolysis model is noticeably better than the fit of the slow pyrolysis model. This is no surprise as the original kinetic parameters from Diebold (1994) and Miller et al. (1996) are fitted to be used in one-step models. The original parameters were not

intended for use in a sectional approach like the one in the slow pyrolysis model. However, results from a one-step slow pyrolysis model showed very poor results when comparing to non-isothermal experiments, and therefore it was important to make the sectional approach work. It was decided to re-fit the sectional slow pyrolysis model to new wheat straw data despite the possible expense of fit to results from other feedstock. The re-fitting was very modest – changing 14 of 30 parameters up to 8 % with an average of ~ 2%. For two parameters in the lignin degradation scheme the refitting was done by exchanging the parameters from Miller et al. (1996) with parameters from a more detailed study by Caballero et al. (1996). All original and improved parameters are enclosed in Appendix 3.





Even though the re-fitting has been limited, it has improved the accuracy of the slow pyrolysis model to a usable level. To validate and compare the quality of the different models, deviations are collected in Table 5-II.

Experiment	Deviations from experimental results	
	Span of deviations: 2.1 – 18.8 wt%	
Slow pyrolysis	Average deviation of 4 biochar fractions: 4.9 wt%	
	Average deviation of 3 liquids fractions: 12.3 wt%	
Original kinetic parameters	Average deviation of 4 process gas fractions: 12.2 wt%	
	Average deviation of all 11 fractions: 9.6 wt%	

	Span of deviations: 0.0 – 8.9 wt%	
Slow pyrolysis	Average deviation of 4 biochar fractions: 5.5 wt%	
Improved kinetic	Average deviation of 3 liquid fractions: 2.7 wt%	
parameters	Average deviation of 4 process gas fractions: 3.9 wt%	
	Average deviation of all 11 fractions: 4.5 wt%	
	Span of deviations: 0.3 – 5.7 wt%	
Fast pyrolysis	Average deviation of 3 biochar fractions: 2.5 wt%	
	Average deviation of 3 liquid fractions: 2.6 wt%	
Original kinetic parameters	Average deviation of 3 process gas fractions: 2.6 wt%	
	Average deviation of all 9 fractions: 2.6 wt%	

The results in Figure 5-VII and Table 5-II show that the main reactors of both the fast pyrolysis process and the slow pyrolysis process are now of usable accuracy. The slow pyrolysis reactor are assumed valid in the temperature span from 25 °C and up to at least 500 °C with heating rates from 0 °C·min⁻¹ (isotherm) to 50 °C·min⁻¹, and retention times of 10 to more than 25 min. The fast pyrolysis model is assumed to give usable results for reaction temperatures from 525 to 800 °C. Retention times in the fast pyrolysis model should be maintained in the 1-2 seconds region.

Integration of reaction enthalpy

To complete the energy balance of a full pyrolysis model where process gas is used for heating of the reactor, it is important to regard the overall reaction enthalpy of the pyrolysis process. The energy produced or consumed in the process influence the overall balance significantly.

Enthalpy of pyrolysis reactions has been variously suggested to range from endothermic to exothermic, and it has been shown that many factors influence the heat of pyrolysis. Mok et al. (1983) found an endothermic process and an exothermic process, and attributed the main endotherm to the devolatilization of levoglucosan (reaction 5 in Figure 5-VIII) and the main exotherm to the in-situ carbonization of levoglucosan (reaction 6 in Figure 5-VIII) (Brown, 2009; Mok, et al., 1983). There are many reactions partitioning in the degradation of cellulose, and their qualitative contribution to the overall heat of pyrolysis is depicted in Figure 5-VIII. The studies of pyrolysis enthalpy reveal complex correlations between process parameters, product yields, and overall reaction enthalpy and suggest that further investigation of pyrolysis control could improve not only product yields, but also the energy balance of the reaction (Brown, 2009).



Figure 5-VIII: Detailed reaction pathways for the decomposition of cellulose (Mok, et al., 1983).

Enthalpy integration in kinetic reactors in SuperPro Designer has caused several problems and errors in the model build-up. To limit the work, it has been decided to introduce the impact of process enthalpy as simple as possible. This is done by postponing the enthalpy calculations until after the kinetic reaction, and introducing it in the stochiometric and cosmetic reactors in section 3 of Figure 5-III. Doing it this way includes enthalpy impact on the energy balance while avoiding many software errors. The way the enthalpy is integrated on the different reactions, and the specific values used in the integration are shown in Table 5-III.

Main reaction pathway	Partial reaction enthalpy introduction
Cellulose degradation	The reactions in this pathway use enthalpy values from cellulose experiments from the work by (Milosavljevic, et al., 1996) that proposes endothermicity for all reactions evolving volatiles (538 J/g) and exothermicity for reactions leading to char formation (2000 J/g).
Hemicelluloses degradation	No usable reaction enthalpy values have been found for the pyrolysis of hemicelluloses. Therefore the product specific parameters from the cellulose degradation have been applied. This approach should exclude some of the errors from the use of enthalpy values from cellulose pyrolysis.
Lignin degradation	All reactions in this pathway use the endothermic enthalpy 116 J/g . This value is the result of modelling work in fine agreement with experimental results from pyrolysis of Kraft lignin done by Caballero et al. (1996).

Table 5-III: Enthalpy integration in the SuperPro Designer pyrolysis process model

Tests of these enthalpy settings in the pyrolysis process model led to satisfying results. The test was done using an average specific heat capacity for the combined product fractions of $1.6 \text{ J} \cdot \text{g}^{-1} \cdot \text{°C}^{-1}$ which is proposed in both (Miller, et al., 1996) and (Kofoed, et al., 1991). Results from a run in the slow pyrolysis model at 450 °C gave a total heat of reaction of 520 kJ/kg wheat straw while a test in the fast pyrolysis model at 525 °C gave a total heat of reaction of 360 kJ/kg wheat straw. Comparable results

from literature deviate almost as much – from 375 kJ/kg to 500 kJ/kg (Van de Velden, et al., 2010), and therefore the enthalpy settings are assumed viable for further use.

Peripheral unit operations, energy circuit and consumption of utilities

It is now time to set up the rest of the pyrolysis plant in the SuperPro Designer simulation, and integrate use of the process gas for reactor heating. The completion of this step will reveal:

- Which unit operations are necessary, and what utilities are consumed in the process?
- Does a specific process produce enough gas for continuous heating of the reactor?
- What will be the total impact on the overall plant energy balance?

Integration of up- and downstream unit operations

To make as general a model as possible, only the most basic unit operations are included in the model. A preliminary literature review, and discussions with senior scientist Jesper Ahrenfeldt from Risø DTU, has led to the following list of essential unit operations to include (Antal, et al., 2003; Bech, 2008; Bridgwater, et al., 1999; Brown, 2009; Dynamotive, 2009; Hornung, 2009_B; Henriksen, et al., 2006; Scott, et al., 1999):

- Feedstock dryer (only for fast pyrolysis)
- Feedstock fine shredder (only for fast pyrolysis)
- Screw conveyer or other mechanical transport in main reactor
- Cyclone for ~90 % solids separation
- Filter for final solids (~10 %) removal
- Condenser/quencher for separation of condensable fractions (bio-oil)
- Robust pump with heating to transport gas after separation of condensable fractions
- Incinerator used to burn process gases, and build a hot gas stream for reactor heating
- Pump for air feed to incinerator
- Various heat-exchangers.

Integration of the above mentioned unit operations in a SuperPro Designer process is a lengthy task. In this study it was done in separated phases using the validated pyrolysis reactor as starting points. One section at a time was then added, following the simplified schematics of the two processes in Figure 5-IX. After integration of each new unit operation, the unit parameters as well as stream characteristics and mass balances were evaluated and potentially corrected.



Figure 5-IX: Simplified schematics of a slow- and a fast pyrolysis process

The software has difficulties with integrating a heating stream directly in reactors, and therefore the assumed use of a heat carrier (and thus heat exchanging) has been applied to both processes.

SuperPro Designer depictions of the final fast- and slow pyrolysis process are shown in Figure 5-X and Figure 5-XI:



Figure 5-X: SuperPro Designer Fast Pyrolysis Model. The red part of the process is the main pyrolysis reactor.



Figure 5-XI: SuperPro Designer Slow Pyrolysis Model. The red part of the process is the main pyrolysis reactor.

Integration of process gas for reactor heating

As seen in Figure 5-X and Figure 5-XI, the heat for the pyrolysis reactor is supplied by a gas stream from the incinerator where the complete process gas fraction is combusted. In the fast pyrolysis process, the excess energy in the gas stream is used for drying in a separate unit before it is sent out of the system. In the slow process, the gas is sent out of the system after heating the reactor.

From test runs in SuperPro Designer of the integrated model it seems that most processes (but not all) within the investigated parameter spans yield sufficient gas for integrated heating.

To get an understanding of the system, here is an example with a fast pyrolysis process running with 110 kg moist wheat straw pr hour at 550 °C with 2 seconds retention time. This process yields 27.9 kg process gas pr hour, with an average elemental compositions of these gases of ~39 wt% carbon, 3 wt% hydrogen, and 58 wt% oxygen (see Table 4-VII). Using SuperPro Designer build-in incineration modelling of a gas with this composition and default excess oxygen supply of 35 % ($\lambda = 1.35$) the hot gas stream can heat the pyrolysis reactor, heat exchange with the wet biomass for drying and still have a temperature of more than 400 °C. Same process with a lower peak temperature of 525 °C produces 20.7 kg gas pr hour, influencing the temperature of the exit stream which is now only ~200 °C. Running the process at only 500 °C will yield only 14.7 kg gas pr hour, which is not sufficient for heating the reactor, and will thus require the additional combustion of some biochar or bio-oil or electrical heating to run a continuous process.

System boundaries and parameters

To complete energy- and carbon balances, the system in- and outlets are important as they form the system boundaries. The combined list of in- and out streams of the systems is:

- Biomass feed: Inlet stream feeding the process with biomass (wheat straw)
- Air inlet: Inlet stream with air for oxygen supply in incineration operation
- Moisture outlet (fast process only): Removal of water from drying operation
- Primary biochar/ash outlet from cyclone
- Secondary biochar/ash outlet from filter operation
- Bio-oil outlet from condensation/quenching operation
- Exhaust gas stream.

Default SuperPro Designer parameter values have been applied to most of the unit operations. However, some have been altered in agreement with senior scientist Jesper Ahrenfeldt, Risø DTU.

Main changes in the parameters have been made to the power consumption of the conveyer screw in the fast pyrolysis plant. This screw represents the mechanical part of the pyrolysis reactors. For the slow pyrolysis plant, the default value of 0.02 kWh/kg is assumed viable as the mechanical part of the slow pyrolysis plant is a slow turning snail with almost no friction in the bearings. However, for the fast pyrolysis plant there are often substantially more energy used in the reactor mechanics. For the PCR reactor the energy consumption is ~ 0.155 kWh/kg due to the extremely high rotation speeds of the reactor (Bech, 2008). This is thought to be in the high end of fast process energy consumptions, and the value is adjusted to 0.12 kWh/kg.

Changes have also been made in the default value for oxygen supply to the incineration process. It is recommended to use an excess oxygen level of 60 - 100 % ($\lambda = 1.6 - 2$) to avoid NO_x creation.

The default heat transfer coefficient of 1500 W/($m^2 \cdot K$) of the applied heat exchangers may prove reasonable for the heat exchanging between the hot reactor tube and the fast moving biomass particles in a fast pyrolysis plant like the PCR, but this should probably be adjusted to ~ 50 W/($m^2 \cdot K$) in the slow pyrolysis conveyer screw reactor. Regarding the other heat exchangers, something in between could be assumed feasible. However, variations in heat transfer coefficients in SuperPro Designer are compensated by automatic changes in heat exchanger size. As size primarily affects prize, and economics is not a part of this study, no more effort will be put into finding better parameters for the heat exchangers. For a complete list of process parameters from the SuperPro Designer slow- and fast pyrolysis models, see Appendix 5 which also includes more detailed process illustrations.

Model result patterns

It has been shown that the two pyrolysis models yield feasible results for point-data comparison. Based on these tests it is assumed that the two models can be used in an overall evaluation of pyrolysis of wheat straw. However, before initiating this evaluation it would benefit to validate that the models yield feasible result patterns instead of just feasible point data. This validation is attempted by running the two models for a series of process parameters and comparing the diagrams to process patterns known from literature. Modelling of a fast pyrolysis process is shown in Figure 5-XII.



Figure 5-XII: Process pattern for fast pyrolysis of wheat straw with 1.5 seconds retention time and various peak process temperatures

The product yield pattern in Figure 5-XII is qualitatively comparable to the fast pyrolysis product yield diagram in Figure 4-VI. There are obvious quantitative differences between the two, which are due to differences in feedstock. The diagram (Bridgwater, et al., 1999) is based on fast pyrolysis of wood, and the differences in composition between wheat straw and wood pose significant impact on specific product quantities (Mohan, et al., 2006). A similar diagram for modelling of a slow pyrolysis of wheat straw is given in Figure 5-XIII. The process is run with same solids retention of 30 min consisting of 10 min drying at 110 °C and 20 min heating at heating rates from ~ 12° C·min⁻¹ to 19.5° C·min⁻¹ with correlated changes in peak temperatures. This approach which varies the process in both heating rates and the correlated peak temperature is used to investigate the largest possible span of processes with the same retention time and reactor size.



Figure 5-XIII: Process pattern for slow pyrolysis of wheat straw with 30 min retention (10 min drying and 20 min heating) and various heating rates to give various peak temperatures

The best empirical data found for validating the reaction pattern of the slow pyrolysis model, was from an intermediate pyrolysis process by Hornung (2008) shown in Figure 5-XIV. The comparison is somewhat difficult as the intermediate process ran on special dry wheat straw pellets with a solid retention time of 2 minutes and unknown heating rates. However, the qualitative behaviour of the two processes is definitely comparable and follows the same pattern.



Figure 5-XIV: Intermediate pyrolysis of dry wheat straw pellets with various process temperatures (Hornung, 2008)

To see how much influence retention time has on product yields in the slow pyrolysis process model a few tests has been done. Both isotherm processes with varying retention times as well as processes with variations in both heating rates and retention times have been tested. The results are enclosed in Appendix 4 and show that the slow pyrolysis model give very small changes in product yields for retention times from 10 min and above. Changes in heating rate give similar small changes for variations above 5 °C \cdot min⁻¹ and imply that care should be taken in using these features of the slow pyrolysis model. Due to the limitations of the slow pyrolysis model, focus will be on temperature variations instead of retention time variations for the remainder of the work.

Model simplifications

The build of the models have included a long list of assumptions and simplifications. To guide future work on improvements, and to understand the origin of some of the model deviations and uncertainties, it is important to recognize the nature of some of the essential simplifications. For the build of the pyrolysis model, these simplifications have included among others:

- No particle size calculations. Particle size is not included in the model, even though this is very important for real life processes. In fast pyrolysis, particles have to be very small to get a uniform and complete reaction during the short residence in the reactor. In slow pyrolysis processes larger particles are usable, as there is longer time for complete reaction. In a detailed slow pyrolysis, model temperature gradients across large particles and diffusion barriers should be assessed (Miller, et al., 1996).
- No sweep gas inclusion. In many pyrolysis processes, sweep gas (e.g. nitrogen) is used to remove volatiles from the reactor before equilibrium and secondary reactions occur. This is especially important in fast- and intermediate pyrolysis processes where focus is on enhancement of the liquid fraction (Hornung, 2008; Brown, 2009). In SuperPro Designer it has no influence on the reactor kinetics or the product yields whether sweep gas is applied or not. To simplify the simulations it has therefore been omitted, but to enhance the possibilities of controlling the pyrolysis process it could be included in future work.
- Reactor variations. Specific design of the pyrolysis reactors (PCR, Fluid bed, Abrasive reactors, etc.) has not been integrated in the model. The

large differences between reactor types (see section 0) will influence the energy balance in real life.

- Equipment limitations. The correct use of modelled unit operations requires great knowledge about the specific operation. Unknowns such as the efficiency of a heat exchanger depending on type, stream characteristics and fouling, or the decreased efficiency and endurance of a filter bag due to high temperature, etc. are factors that influence the overall energy and carbon balances. In this work much equipment is assumed ideal, or applied with default values, and this will often produce favourable results compared to real experience.

6 Incubation study

The overall purpose of the incubation study is to investigate the influence of pyrolysis process parameters on the degradation of biochar in soil, using a Danish wheat straw feedstock, Danish soil samples, and Danish climatic conditions. With these data, it will be possible to make a simplified quantification of the sequestration potential of a given char from knowledge about the process design and parameters in a Danish wheat straw scenario. The experiments, data collection and calculations are done in collaboration with PhD student Esben W. Bruun.

The experiments are done by mixing different biochars with soil, and measuring the CO_2 -flux (respiration + abiotic degradation) from the samples under controlled conditions to get a measure of the degradability of the char. The degradation rate of the biochar is obtained by subtracting the CO_2 flux from a reference (soil without biochar) from incubations with biochar.

6.1 Materials and methods

Experimental setup

The incubation experiment was conducted in two parallel sessions – one comparing an untreated straw sample to a slow and fast pyrolysis char produced at the same process temperature, and one comparing chars produced with variations in pyrolysis temperature in the same process.

Pyrolysis

The feedstock for the biochar samples was conventional Danish wheat straw (*Triticum sp*.) with a moisture content of 6.2 wt% and an ash content of 6.02 wt%. The straw samples were dried and grinded to ~2 mm before pyrolysis. The fast pyrolysis was carried out at the Department of Chemical and Biochemical Engineering, DTU, Lyngby in a pilot scale PCR (Pyrolysis Centrifugal Reactor) like the one illustrated in Figure 4-I. For additional information about the PCR used for the pyrolysis see Bech (2008). The fast pyrolysis was done at 475 °C, 500 °C, 525 °C, 550 °C, and 575 °C. The slow pyrolysis biochar was prepared by the Biomass Gasification group under the Biosystems Division at Risø DTU. A sample of the same wheat straw was pyrolysed in an electrically heated oven in a process similar to the following: Heating rate of 6 °C·min⁻¹, a total solids residence time ~2 hours, constant nitrogen gas sweep, and a max temperature of 525 °C(Ahrenfeldt, et al., 2005).

Incubation experiment

The biochar was amended to soil collected in the top 25 cm in a Danish agricultural field near Risø characterized as a sandy loam (Typic Hapludalf) with 11% clay, 14% silt, 49% fine sand and 25% coarse sand (Hauggaard-Nielsen, et al., 2001). The soil was sieved to a max grain size of 2 mm and the soil moisture was measured. 40 g soil (38 g dry weight) was then mixed with either 2 g biochar from the five fast pyrolysis samples, 2 g biochar from the slow pyrolysis, or 2 g wheat straw in

100 ml containers with perforated rubber lids (ID = 48mm). Finally, the water content was adjusted to 30 % of water holding capacity (WHC). 4 pure soil reference samples with water content at 30 % of WHC were also prepared. All CO_2 flux measurements were done in 4 replicates.

Soil samples mixed with varying types of biochar are incubated at constant room temperature for 70-100 days with a water content kept constant at \sim 30 % of WHC. Water content is adjusted by weighing the samples regularly and compensating for evaporated water.

Biochar analysis

The microbial carbon dioxide (CO_2) respiration from the incubated samples was measured using infra-red gas analysis (LICOR 8100). Measurements were conducted manually once per day, five days per week in the first period, and then on weekly basis.

The bulk composition of the biochar was determined using classical wet chemical methods. The biochar was subjected to a strong acid hydrolysis after which the hydrolysates were filtrated, and the lignin plus char content is determined as the weight of the filter cake subtracted its ash content. The composition of released carbohydrates in the filtrate is determined by a combination of HPLC-analysis and conversion into acetates with subsequent GCMS analysis (Bruun, et al., 2009). Results of the analysis are given in Table 6-I.

6.2 Results and discussion

This short term study may give key knowledge about the influence of possible labile biochar fractions, and thereby indications about the relations between char characteristics and the long term stability.

Incubation data from both experiments is presented in Figure 6-I - a and b. Fluxes are calculated with initial subtraction of the reference soil flux to focus on char degradation. Averages of 4 replicates are used in the calculations. The calculations are shown in example in Appendix 6.

The results of both experiments show distinctive degradation patterns. There are more detailed versions of both graphs in Appendix 7.

All the incubation studies show a rapid loss of carbon in the first 5-10 days succeeded by a decline in the C-loss rates until they reach almost zero additional C-loss after 50-70 days. It is suggested by a number of studies that this pattern is due to a fast degradation of a labile fraction of the char, while another is recalcitrant and stable on the long term (Hamer, et al., 2004; Steiner, et al., 2008).



Incubation period (days)

A: Changes in C-loss rate (g carbon / g biochar) from soil samples as a function of time



B: Accumulated C-loss as g carbon /g biochar as function of time

Figure 6-I: Investigation of biochar stability through incubation studies

From Figure 6-I it is evident that all char types are much more recalcitrant than the straw sample, and that the stability increases with temperature of the pyrolysis process. It also looks as if biochar from a slow pyrolysis process is more stable than biochar from fast pyrolysis made under same or higher process temperatures. To examine what fractions of the char that are related to the shift in stability char bulk analysis was conducted as described earlier. The results of the analysis are given in Table 6-I, and they show a clear increase in remaining cellulose and hemicelluloses

with lower pyrolysis temperatures. These fractions seem to be the char fraction degraded in the first days after mixing the char with soil. Increasing the temperature of the fast pyrolysis converts more of these fractions, and yields a more recalcitrant biochar. Unfortunately, the slow pyrolysis biochar has not been analysed in this way, but according to literature the long solid residence times in the slow pyrolysis process are an even better way to fully convert the biomass constituents to recalcitrant biochar (Lehmann, 2007). This is important to asses in the evaluation of the pyrolysis process model later on in the report.

The column to the right in Table 3-I shows the accumulated level of carbon lost from the different samples at the end of the incubation period. The values are based on the data in Figure 6-I b.

	Cellulose (wt %)	Hemicelluloses (wt %)	Lignin and char (wt %)	Ash (%)	Biochar C-loss (g C/g biochar)
Biochar (475 °C)	30.0	5.5	46.3	15.8	0.049
Biochar (500 °C)	16.0	3.0	59.9	20.1	0.038
Biochar (525 °C)	7.4	1.4	69.0	21.6	0.029
Biochar (550 °C)	4.2	1.5	66.0	26.4	0.021
Biochar (575 °C)	2.7	0.8	66.4	27.9	0.017
Biochar, slow (525 °C)	-	-	-	-	0.015

Table 6-I: Biochar analysis. Adapted from Bruun et al. (2009)

For modelling purposes, it is optimal to correlate the biochar content of cellulose and hemicellulose to the stability of the char. To do this, it is essential first to evaluate how well the pyrolysis process model predicts cellulose and hemicelluloses fractions in the char. This is done by running simulations with process parameters identical with the parameters used to produce the char analysed in Table 6-I. Simulations were done with cellulose and hemicelluloses combined in one labile fraction and a model retention time for solids of 1 second. Based on the comparison between modelled and experimental values in Figure 6-II, it is assumed that the pyrolysis process model is suited for predicting labile fractions in biochar. The average deviation for the 5 value comparisons was 2.9 wt%, the largest was 5.7 wt% and the smallest 1.1 wt%. Validation was only possible for fast pyrolysis processes due to a lack of data from slow pyrolysis biochar, but it is assumed to apply for slow pyrolysis processes as well, as char from this process often contains little or no labile fractions at all (Lehmann, 2007).



Figure 6-II: Validation of pyrolysis process model quality for prediction of residual fractions of cellulose and hemicelluloses in produced biochar.

Having validated the models ability to predict labile fractions in biochar, the next step is to correlate this to char stability values. This is done in Figure 6-III. The use of this correlation in the scenario section of the report is based on the assumption that the stabile levels indicated by Figure 6-I b will hold for a period of time significant enough to qualify as a carbon sink. Whether this period is decades, centuries or more is out of the scope of this report to investigate.



Figure 6-III: Correlation between biochar labile fraction and stability

The linearity in Figure 6-III includes all 5 biochar samples from the experiment on different production temperatures, as well as the char produced with slow pyrolysis (labile fraction ~0 wt% according to model and literature). The fit of the correlation to the data is very strong.

With the stability correlation from Figure 6-III the study of biochar stability for modelling purposes is concluded. The next section of the report will utilize all the collected information and the proposed correlations together with the pyrolysis process model to estimate carbon balances in Danish wheat straw pyrolysis scenarios.

7 Process evaluation: mass- and energy balances

The goal of this section is to give viable estimations of the overall energy production and coherent carbon-balance in a few exemplified wheat straw pyrolysis processes.

7.1 Preliminary assumptions and considerations

Environmental aspects and pollution potential of different technologies is not discussed beyond CO2-emissions. This would require a much higher complexity level, and is out of the scope of this report. Additional simplifications and assumptions are listed in the following:

Quantifying amount of substitution energy

When burying biochar, a part of the biomass energy potential is not fulfilled in relation to end user consumption. In Denmark today, a significant amount of straw is used for co-firing in coal-plants or fired directly into special straw-fired plants. This is a difficult process, but it is well tested and will therefore act as the "full biomass energy potential" for the remaining work. Thus, the overall energy calculations are done following the pattern in Figure 7-I. This approach determinates the amount of substitution energy necessary to account for the unreleased energy potential from 1 ton of wheat straw pyrolysed in a specific process. The values X1, Y1 are dependent on the efficiency of a given straw fired plant, where values X2 and Y2 are dependent on the product distributions and energy requirements of the pyrolysis process as well as the efficiency of the plant burning the pyrolysis oil for electricity and heat.



Figure 7-I: Overall calculation pattern for determination of substitution energy quantity for a given pyrolysis process

The combined amount of X1 and Y1 will always be larger than X2 and Y2 as long as the pyrolysis process produces biochar, and use the pyrolysis gases in the process. Therefore it can be assumed that some amount of energy substitution will always be necessary. The energy source chosen for a specific substitution will be dependent on the scenario in which the demand arises (see below).

Carbon balances and system boundaries

Even though there is still burned a lot of coal in the Danish energy sector, the process is under pressure due to the extremely high carbon costs of coal energy (see Table 3-I), and the production of energy based on coal is declining (1994: 120 PJ, 2007: 72 PJ, 2008: 60 PJ) (Energistyrelsen, 2009). For the remainder of the report it is assumed that the system boundaries are set on a national level, but that the presence of coal is being diminished. The possible energy sources to replace lost energy from biochar sequestration are instead: oil, natural gas, biomass, wind power and an average based on the Danish energy sector in 2007 (see Table 3-I).

Limitations on the included biochar benefits

Biochar is used in these calculations exclusively for building a carbon sink in the soil. The possible effects of biochar amendment on emissions of N_2O and CH_4 from soil are not integrated in the assessment. To read more on this topic see section 0 or Zwieten et al. (2009). Amendment of biochar in farm soil is by many expected to reduce the amount of fertilizer needed in the biomass production. This could also affect the overall carbon balance effect, but the potential impact is ignored in the carbon-balance calculations to limit the extent of this report. See also (Laird, et al., 2009; Lehmann, et al., 2009; Thies, et al., 2009). The effect of the above mentioned biochar characteristics on the carbon balance are qualitatively mentioned in the end of this chapter. For an example on quantification see Gaunt et al. (2008).

7.2 Energy production in Denmark: Three scenarios

It is decided to build three simple scenarios within the Danish energy sector, to test the carbon balance in energy production from pyrolysis of wheat straw. This is done to make sure that the results obtained from the calculations are relatively robust, and also to render the selection of a given set of parameters probable to imitate a realistic situation. Descriptions of the scenarios are given in Table 7-I. The choice of scenario includes the following considerations:

- What types of facilities are available for combustion of baled wheat straw and bio-oil respectively? Choices in this category are based mainly on an official Danish report that describes all available energy production technologies in the Danish energy sector (Energistyrelsen, 1995). Where data from this report was insufficient, additional references was included.

Straw: For a large centralized straw fired facility it is decided to use a Low Temperature Circulating Fluidised Bed (LT_CFB). This is a gasification technology that is capable of large scale conversion of many different biomasses – including straw, with very high efficiency and good conditions for reuse of the ash fraction (Stoholm et. al., 2010).

Information about small scale sterling engines and correlated energy production setups is available online (StirlingDK, 2009). It is assumed possible to convert the wheat straw in an updraft gasifier + Stirling engine with no penalty to wood. This is a severe assumption as the high ash content of wheat straw can melt to cinder under high temperatures, and thus foul the equipment.

Bio-oil: For combustion of pyrolysis oil, 2 scenarios assume co-firing with natural gas as described from large scale testing in section 0. This method is assumed valid for a 350 MWe plant producing energy from bio-oil and natural gas. The electric efficiency of the plant is assumed to be ~41% of the bio-oil energy content calculated by estimate from work by Wagenaar et al. (2008). This value is comparable to efficiencies for gas fired Heat and Power plants in Denmark with total efficiencies around 91% and electrical efficiencies around 41% (Rambøll, 2008). The last scenario combusts bio-oil in a boiler connected to a sterling engine. In this process energy efficiencies are assumed to be the same as for combustion of wood in the same boiler (StirlingDK, 2009). The last process could be driven with gas combustion instead of the intermediate step of oil production, but that possibility is not included in this work.

- What are the regional settings? How far is the wheat straw production/pyrolysis plant from the combustion facility? Values in this category are strictly imaginative, and used primarily to integrate transport distance in the carbon-balance assessment.
- Losses of electricity and heat in local grid systems? The basis values used are 21 % heat loss in district heating grids which is used in a report by Rambøll Denmark A/S called Varmeplan Denmark (Heat plan Denmark) and 5 % electricity loss (senior scientist Ulrik Henriksen, Risø DTU).
- What kinds of energy sources are available for substitution of lost energy potential? For all scenarios, energy from more than one source is assessed, and to consider the relationship between the different substitution energies, all four are assessed in Scenario 1.
- What are the scenario impacts on the pyrolysis process and the production of the wheat straw? This may have only minor influence on the overall balance, but it is assumed important enough to incorporate.

	Scenario 1:	Scenario 2:	Scenario 3:
	Centralized	De-centralized	Local
	combustion	combustion	combustion
Straw combustion facility	Large, straw-fired LT- CFB Size: 5-100 MW 45% electric efficiency 50% heat efficiency	Small straw-fired steam turbine plant. Size: 5-50 MW 26% electric efficiency 59% heat efficiency	Updraft gasifier with Stirling engine. Size: 200kW+ 17% electric efficiency 68% heat efficiency

Table 7-I: Descriptions of scenario settings for assessment of carbon-balances in energy production with pyrolysis

Pyrolysis oil combustion facility	Co-firing of pyrolysis oil with natural gas in Combined Cycle Plant. Size: 75-400 MW 41% electric efficiency 50% heat efficiency	Co-firing of pyrolysis oil with natural gas in small gas turbines. Size: 5-15 MW 30% electric efficiency 55% heat efficiency	Oil boiler connected with sterling engine. Size: 200kW+ 12% electric efficiency 74% heat efficiency
Distance to combustion facility	100 km	20 km	0 km
Loss of electricity and heat in user grids	5 % electricity 21 % heat	5 % electricity 21 % heat	5 % electricity 21 % heat
Substitution energy available	Oil/Natural gas/biomass/wind power	Oil/Natural gas/biomass/wind power	Oil/Natural gas/biomass/wind power
Impact on pyrolysis process	90% of excess heat from pyrolysis used for district heating. Back-up energy for pyrolysis deducted from electricity production with 5% penalty to grid losses.	Same as for centralized scenario.	90% of excess heat from pyrolysis contributes to Stirling engine. Back-up energy for pyrolysis is taken from oil combustion with a 10% penalty.
Impact on wheat straw production and handling	Normal growth and handling of wheat straw for combustion. For pyrolysis, wrapping of the bales are omitted, but biochar distribution is included.	Same as for centralized scenario.	Straw bales are not wrapped for either process. Biochar is distributed after pyrolysis.

In addition to the three scenarios above there is also a special case of Scenario 3. This scenario is based on the work of (Bech, 2008), and it involves an in-situ fast pyrolysis process where the pyrolysis plant is combined with the harvester. The biochar is thus amended directly into the soil and bio-oil is collected during harvesting and taken home to the farm for combustion. Transporting the oil is estimated as half the cost of transporting the straw and this approach will therefore save pressing, transportation, and storing of straw bales as well as subsequent distribution of the char. The concept is highly hypothetical. A brief description of the scenario is given in Table 7-II. All considerations omitted from the table are similar to Scenario 3.

Table 7-II: Descriptions of In-situ scenario for assessment of carbon-balances in energy production with pyrolysis

Impact on pyrolysis process	No use of excess energy in exhaust gas, and no back-up energy available for pyrolysis with insufficient gas production – this results in a process temperature requirement of 525 °C or more. Max power consumption from pyrolysis process 100 kW. Only fast pyrolysis available.
Impact on wheat	No pressing, wrapping or transportation of straw, or biochar
straw production and	distribution on the fields. Oil is transported home at half the
handling	cost of transporting the straw.

Scenario 3-II: Local combustion, In-situ pyrolysis

The reason for the limitations in the In-situ pyrolysis scenario is based on the assumption that a mobile unit can only be expected to supply a certain amount of energy for the processes it takes part in. If the In-situ process was of the fluid bed type with a capacity of $10t \cdot h^{-1}$, then the power input required for the process would be approximately 440 kW. This is in addition to the requirements from harvesting. Only the largest agricultural tractors are rated above 150 kW and all together this will put some critical restrains on the process design and capacity (Bech, 2008).

Many additional parameters could be included to distinguish the scenarios further: e.g. biochar effect on fertilizer consumption, local geography, or wheat straw availability. It could also prove beneficial to consider additional or alternative scenarios, but for the purpose of this work the scenarios and parameters discussed above are assumed sufficient to make a robust assessment of the overall carbon-balance of the pyrolysis process.

7.3 Overall carbon-balance calculation model

The overall calculation model is based on the carbon flux arrows from Figure 2-III. However, it has been decided to set carbon balance system boundaries on a national level, and therefore an extra carbon flux, arrow J, is included to account for the carbon cost of substitution energy. Carbon flux E is subtracted from the main flux arrow into the system (atmospheric carbon), and a couple of smaller fluxes are combined leaving the final balance calculations as in illustrated in Figure 7-II.



Figure 7-II: Carbon fluxes included in overall carbon balance assessment

The fluxes in Figure 7-II are combined with the scenario variables from Table 7-I/Table 7-II, the energy substitution principle from Figure 7-I, and the SuperPro Designer pyrolysis process model to form the final calculation pattern for carbon balance assessments illustrated in Figure 7-III. Now the task is to fill in parameters, model results, and correlations in the different boxes. This is explained briefly for each section below.



Figure 7-III: Overall calculation pattern for assessment of pyrolysis process combined energy- and carbon-balances

Sectional description of the carbon-balance calculations

The principle of using substitution energy in the evaluation of carbon-costs founds the basis for the split calculations above with two pathways from the biomass. The sections marked by dotted lines in Figure 7-III are described below, and parameters and correlation equations that are used in the calculations are given for all three scenarios (with reference) in Appendix 8.

Wheat straw production

The production of wheat straw is included with fertilizer use, a series of standard agricultural operations (ploughing, seeding, etc.), and capturing of atmospheric carbon by photosynthesis. The calculations in this section include many values based on average Danish wheat straw production (Jørgensen, et al., 2004; Miljø&Energi_Ministeriet, 2001; Statistikbanken, 2010_B). One of the most important parameters in the calculations in this section is the weighing of the production costs on grain versus straw. Allocation of the costs is, in this report, based simply on weight distribution. For every 1 ton of collectable straw produced on average in Danish agriculture, 1.5 ton of grain is produced. Therefore 40% of the total resources spent in the combined production of grain and straw is allocated to the straw (Miljø&Energi_Ministeriet, 2001). The calculations in this section are to a large extent unaffected by scenario changes.

Conventional wheat straw combustion

Calculations in this section are based mainly on power plant efficiencies reported in Table 7-I, and are therefore highly sensitive to scenario changes. Combining the energy yields from the combustion of the straw and the results from the previous section yields the carbon balance for the carbon-neutral energy scenario. Carbon-balances for the three scenarios are given in Table 7-III.

	Energy yield	Carbon balance
Scenario 1: Centralized	3.9 MWh per ton straw (2.0 MWh _e and 1.9 MWh _{th})	37 kg CO₂/MWh
Scenario 2: Decentralized	3.4 MWh per ton straw (1.2 MWh $_{\rm e}$ and 2.2 MWh $_{\rm th}$)	25 kg CO₂/MWh
Scenario 3: Local	3.3 MWh per ton straw (0.8 MWh $_{\rm e}$ and 2.5 MWh $_{\rm th}$)	20 kg CO ₂ /MWh

Table 7-III: Carbon-balances for "carbon-neutral" energy from combustion of wheat straw

It is clear from the results in Table 7-III that energy production from combustion of wheat straw within the settings of this report move closer to a carbon-neutral level as the process is decentralized, but that the largest energy production is at the largest scale. If the calculation method was based on introduction of new biomass, repression of fossil fuels might give the centralized plant the best carbon-balance as well as the highest energy production.

SuperPro Designer pyrolysis process model

Concept, development, and use of this model have been described in detail in chapter 5. The model calculates the following from process parameters (temperature, retention, heating rate, and biomass composition): Biochar yield (with labile fraction), Bio-oil yield (with water content), Process gas yield (used for heating of the pyrolysis reactor), Plant electricity consumption, and Energy balance in process (excess energy >< insufficient energy).

Using only process peak temperature as variable makes it simple to draw diagrams for the five outputs with varying process setups. These diagrams are shown in Figure 7-IV. All product yield curves follow the primary axis with unit *kg product per ton straw* and the Plant heat balance- and electricity consumption curves follow the secondary axis with unit *kWh*.

The curves in the diagrams have subsequently been divided into sections and trend lines were fitted as 3^{rd} to 6^{th} degree polynomials with R^2 goodness-of-fit values from 0.97 to 0.99 (1 is optimal). The equations for the curve segments were finally incorporated in the overall calculations. This provided quick and direct calculation of all five process outputs from changes in a single variable, process peak temperature, and the high flexibility in the calculation sequence made it simple to shift between the different scenarios. The polynomial equations are given in Appendix 8 with a few decimals, along with the rest of the parameters and correlations used in the calculations.



Figure 7-IV: SuperPro Designer process output diagrams. On the left is a fast pyrolysis process with 1.5 seconds retention time and varying process temperatures. On the right is a slow pyrolysis process with 30 minutes total retention (incl. drying) and varying peak process temperatures (and correlated heating rates)

Energy production from bio-oil

This section functions as a parallel to the "Conventional wheat straw combustion" calculations. The output from this section is based on the bio-oil yield and water content from the pyrolysis model, as well as the scenario specific bio-oil combustion facility.

Biochar amendment and degradation

This section use the correlation founded in chapter 6 that relates the amount of labile material in the biochar to a carbon-loss from degradation of the char over time. This correlation has only been validated for ~100 days, but the pattern of the degradation data curve renders it feasible that the long term degradation will be somewhat similar. The other main variable in this part of the calculations are amount of biochar amended to the soil, and the labile phase in wt% of the biochar. These data are extracted from the SuperPro Designer simulation result curves.

Grid loss

It was decided to incorporate grid losses in the calculations. The effect of grid losses is based on standard values that could be expected in Danish electricity- and district heating grids. The suggested values were 5% loss in electric grid suggested by Ulrik Henriksen, senior scientist at Risø DTU and and 21% loss in district heating grid (Rambøll, 2008). These values are used for energy transport from the various production facilities including the application of substitution energy.

Substitution energy production

The carbon-cost of substitution energy is based on average values for procuring and consuming oil, natural gas, and biomass (and wind energy, assumed zero) in the Danish energy sector based on values from 2001 (Miljø&Energi_Ministeriet, 2001). The costs are influenced by the kind of substitution energy chosen, the amount of electricity and thermal energy required, and the losses in electricity- and district heating grids. It is assumed that electricity and heat can be substituted independently of each other.

It is important to notice that yields in the production of electricity and thermal energy also vary with the scenarios. Electricity production is strongly favoured at centralized facilities, and could be even higher than suggested in this report. Modern power plants (coal, gas, biomass etc.) have the option to operate in a condensing mode where extra electricity is produced from the energy extracted by condensing water vapour. However, this cancels the possibility to produce district heating, and is in this report omitted as a special case. In future work it could be interesting to include a seasonal approach to the different scenarios comparing them summer, winter, spring, autumn and a yearly average of heat- and electricity consumption.

Balancing the yields of electricity and district heating for consumption

In this central calculation section, the amount of substitution energy required for balancing the pyrolysis process to the complete combustion is calculated. The following parameters influence the balance:

- The amount of electricity and heat produced by complete combustion of the wheat straw in a non-condensing mode
- The amount of heat and electricity produced by combustion of the bio-oil in a non-condensing mode
- The heat used or generated by the pyrolysis process from either excess energy in the exhaust stream or insufficient energy for completing the pyrolysis process
- The electricity used in the pyrolysis process
- The loss in electric- and district heating grids.

After having adjusted the amount of substitution energy necessary to balance the two processes, the complete carbon balance can be calculated. It is done simply by adding

the CO2-emissions in flux A, D, F, G, H, I, and J to see if the sum is more or less than the CO2 captured by photosynthesis in stream IN. Dividing this carbon-price with the amount of energy produced in the process, the result is the overall carbon-balance per unit of energy.

Carbon-balance results in three Danish scenarios

A calculator has been build from the pattern described in the first part of section 7.3. The calculator has been used to test the overall carbon-balances a slow- and a fast pyrolysis of wheat straw for energy production in three different scenarios within the Danish energy sector. The pyrolysis processes are tested on all three scenarios with the parameters described in Table 7-IV.

Fast pyrolysis process

Table 7-IV: Pyrolysis process settings for carbon-balance calculations

Slow pyrolysis process

	., , ,	,,,,,	
Solid retention time	30 min	1,5 sec	
Feedstock composition	39.4 wt% cellulose (dry), 37.2 wt% hemicelluloses (dry) 16.6 wt% lignin (dry), 6.8 wt% ash (dry) and 6.2 wt% water		
Process capacity	1 ton/hour		
Process peak temperature	Complete: 300 - 700 °C Feasible: 350 - 550 °C	Complete: 400 - 800 °C Feasible: 450 - 650 °C	
Heating rate	Complete: 9.5 - 29.5 °C·min ⁻¹ Feasible: $12 - 22$ °C·min ⁻¹	Isotherm	

Results from the carbon-balance calculations build on Table 7-IV, and Table 7-I are given in Figure 7-V to Figure 7-XI. There are four small diagrams connected to each of the three scenarios, comparing slow and fast pyrolysis two by two. The first two diagrams illustrate the impact of process design (slow >< fast pyrolysis) on the overall carbon-cost in kg CO₂ per MWh consumable energy (no distinction between electricity- and district heat joules), depending on process temperature and the substitution energy used. The second two diagrams illustrate the impact of process design (slow >< fast pyrolysis) on how much of the total consumable energy that is produced in the pyrolysis process (gap filled by substitution energy). The diagrams also show the influence of process temperature (fast pyrolysis) or peak process temperature (slow pyrolysis) on carbon-balance or energy production.

Based on these diagrams, the ideal pyrolysis process would yield a very low carboncost (or high carbon-benefit), give close to 100% of the maximum energy potential (with focus on electricity), and be robust for large intervals in process temperature.

The error bars in the bottom of the diagrams give an indication of the overall uncertainty of the data in the specific point, and they are described in the next section on "Estimating model uncertainties".

Errorbars use the 2nd axis units and all curves use the 1st axis units. Diagrams share axis two by two.



Figure 7-V: Carbon-balance for slow and fast pyrolysis in scenario 1

From the diagrams in Figure 7-V: Carbon-balance for slow and fast pyrolysis in scenario 1Figure 7-V, it is evident how much the characteristics of the substitution energy influence the carbon-balance. The purple line indicates the carbon-cost of "carbon-neutral" energy from complete conversion of straw (in this case incineration). Above the purple line is the highly carbon-positive curve that represents a pyrolysis process with coal combustion as substitution energy carrier. This would be a pointless operation from an energy- and carbon-based perspective. However, if any other substitution energy source was used (and even the DK 2007 average, incl. coal) the slow pyrolysis process will give a better carbon balance than the conventional combustion for almost all process temperatures. Substituting the lost energy with the DK 2007 average, natural gas or wind power will give carbon-balances below the neutrality level (black line), yielding carbon-negative energy production from slow pyrolysis of wheat straw in this scenario!



In the fast pyrolysis process only pure wind power substitution can give a carbonnegative energy production, and only with pure wind power or natural gas will the process give a better carbon balance than the conventional combustion (purple line).

Figure 7-VI: Energy production from slow and fast pyrolysis in scenario 1

In Figure 7-VI, the curves are joined by colour. The straight blue line represents the total energy (electricity and district heating) available for consumption by combusting the straw (full energy potential), and the curved blue line represents the total energy available for consumption from the pyrolysis process. The green lines are the available district heating and the red lines are the available electricity. It appears that the fast pyrolysis produces more electricity and total energy than the slow process, but that they produce almost the same amount of district heating. The slow process is more robust, as the fast process has a clear production peak. It is important to notice that the conventional combustion produces a lot more electricity than both pyrolysis systems



Figure 7-VII: Carbon-balance for slow and fast pyrolysis in scenario 2

Curves are similar in shape to scenario 1, but in this scenario, slow pyrolysis with coal substitution will give more or less the same carbon-balance as conventional straw combustion. If these results hold, it could open up to the use of biochar's many additional benefits on a larger scale, and in a more resent future. The influences of some of these benefits are described in the end of this chapter in the section "Additional biochar characteristics' influence on the carbon balance".



Figure 7-VIII: Energy production from slow and fast pyrolysis in scenario 2

From scenario 1 to scenario 2, there is observed a general shift in the carbon balance, rendering the average carbon cost more negative in the decentralized scenario. The slow pyrolysis process is now carbon negative for all feasible peak process temperatures with substitution from all available sources, except coal. The fast pyrolysis process is carbon negative for substitution with wind energy, and for low temperature processes also with natural gas or DK 2007 average as substitute. The fast pyrolysis process. Both pyrolysis processes produce closer to the full energy potential and give better carbon-balances in the decentralized scenario than in the centralized.



Figure 7-IX: Carbon-balance for slow and fast pyrolysis in scenario 3



Figure 7-X: Energy production from slow and fast pyrolysis in scenario 3

The variation in the carbon-cost of energy from pyrolysis of wheat straw in the decentralized and the local scenario is insignificant, and questionable due to uncertainties. However, the variation in energy-production is obvious. The pyrolysis plants in the local scenario produce mainly heat, and not much electricity. This is important as electricity is energy of much higher quality than heat. The influence of seasonal changes in energy requirements is omitted from this report, but it is nevertheless essential to keep in mind that heat is not required all year in equal amounts, and only large, modern facilities has the ability to increase electricity production on behalf of district heating production by running in a condensing mode (Energistyrelsen, 1995).

In addition to the slow pyrolysis plant and the conventional fast pyrolysis plant, the hypothetical in-situ fast pyrolysis plant is also assessed. The diagrams are the same as the previous. However, the temperature span is smaller as the in-situ process cannot use backup energy (it is isolated in the field) and it must therefore run above ca 525 $^{\circ}$ C in order to produce sufficient gas to sustain the process.



Figure 7-XI: Carbon-balance and energy production from In-situ fast pyrolysis in scenario 3-II

Apparently, the restrictions of the in-situ fast pyrolysis in scenario 3-II make it almost impossible to produce carbon-negative energy with this technology when substituting the energy gap with oil or even natural gas. The limitations on process temperature also influence the energy-yields (especially district heat production), and the process does not seem favourable in this respect compared to either fast- or slow pyrolysis.

The slow process shows the most stabile behaviour with changing parameters and from scenario to scenario. This could have practical importance, as it would require more highly skilled personnel to maximise the outputs from the fast pyrolysis processes. As the slow processes seem to be more robust with fewer variations from both process temperature changes and scenario changes, it is less important to run the process under optimal conditions at all times. In addition, the carbon-cost of the slow pyrolysis energy is better in all scenarios than the cost of the fast pyrolysis energy. The carbon-balance of the slow plants reach negative levels with several different substitution energies, and the same level as conventional combustion for substitution

with coal in 2 of 3 scenarios. This is possible due to the high energy-content of coal compared to bio-char (charcoal) and the result is that other aspects of biochar energy systems can be investigated – starting today, without increasing the overall carbon-emissions in the Danish energy-sector.

Fast pyrolysis gives a better energy yield in all scenarios. It has a clear production peak around 525 °C, which makes it difficult to adapt but easy to guide. The carboncost of fast pyrolysis energy shifts significantly with process temperature, but they never reach the same low levels as is the case for slow processes.

Estimating modelling uncertainties

For every process simulation, a simple estimation of the overall interaction of correlations is done simultaneously. This check is done as a carbon-balance of the pyrolysis reactor weighing the amount of carbon going into the reactor against the amount going out. This will give some indication about which settings will make the many correlations used in the reactor calculations work well - or not so well, together. The misfit is presented as a % C-gap. The gap value is illustrated as error bars on the percentage scale on the curves in Figure 7-V to Figure 7-XI. This indication is useful when trying to asses with which parameters the model works the best. On the error bars in Figure 7-V to Figure 7-XI, it is clear that the correlation interaction test shows the smallest errors in the high end of the feasible temperature intervals of slow pyrolysis (see Table 7-IV) and in centre values of the fast pyrolysis process. In general, the errors in the calculations of the fast pyrolysis process are significantly smaller than the errors in calculations of the slow pyrolysis process. This indicates some general misfit in the correlation pattern of the slow pyrolysis carbon-balance calculation, and therefore care should therefore be taken when making conclusions based on the results from the low process temperatures in the slow pyrolysis process.

The sensitivity of 31 of the used variables has been investigated by changing each variable by +10% one at a time, and track the changes in output parameters. The test is enclosed as Appendix 9, and show that the parameters are *straw C-content, Straw HHV, thermal efficiency of straw combustion facility* and the correlation between *bio-oil carbon and HHV* gave large deviations in the overall carbon balance (90%, 55%, 40% and 35% respectively) from the 10% variation. The average deviation in carbon-balances and energy yields from a 10% change in the 31 parameters was 5% in 124 outputs, and only 16 outputs showed more than 10% deviation. The carbon-balances are much more sensitive to parameter variations than the energy yields. No further uncertainty assessment in done in this study, and with the note of caution on the four parameters mentioned above, the outputs are assumed as rough estimates.

Highlights and discussion of results

It is decided to focus on slow pyrolysis from 400 - 550 °C and fast pyrolysis from 500 - 650 °C and to assess only the Denmark 2007 average energy production and wind power as energy substitutes. This is to simplify the data for conclusions, and to establish a business-as-usual scenario in one end, and an optimal scenario in the other. It is more likely to regard 2007 average carbon-costs as a worst case substitution than a realistic one. The use of oil for energy production in Denmark has been declining over the last 10 years, while the use of natural gas has increased slightly (Energistyrelsen, 2009). Furthermore coal is a politically very sticky topic, and it seems almost impossible to expand – or even maintain the current level of coal consumption. On the other hand, wind power in Denmark is abundant, and the wind sector has begun expanding again (Østergaard, 2010). Bio-oil could serve as back-up energy source when wind is absent. In addition, there is a strong political focus on

enhanced biogas-from-manure and other 2nd generation bio-energy systems (Klima&Energiministeriet, 2010). These trends would all help to shift the 2007 DK average towards a lower carbon-cost. With these limitations, the results from Figure 7-V to Figure 7-XI are:

	Carbon-cost w. DK 2007 _{ave} (kg CO ₂ /MWh)	Carbon-cost w. Wind power (kg CO ₂ /MWh)	Electricity production (pyrolysis in % of total)	District heat production (pyrolysis in % of total)
Scenario 1:	Average: -7	Average: -142	Average: 39	Average: 67
Slow pyrolysis	Max: -5 / Min: -14	Max: -133 / Min: -160	Max: 40 / Min: 36	Max: 71 / Min: 52
Scenario 1:	Average: 35	Average: -91	Average: 39	Average: 72
Fast pyrolysis	Max: 39 / Min: 22	Max: -79 / Min: -110	Max: 56 / Min: 15	Max: 79 / Min: 66
Scenario 2:	Average: -43	Average: -173	Average: 48	Average: 60
Slow pyrolysis	Max: -39 / Min: -50	Max: -162 / Min: -193	Max: 50 / Min: 44	Max: 64 / Min: 56
Scenario 2:	Average: 8	Average: -113	Average: 47	Average: 6 5
Fast pyrolysis	Max: 10 / Min: -6	Max: -101 / Min: -132	Max: 69 / Min: 16	Max: 69 / Min: 61
Scenario 3:	Average: -48	Average: -179	Average: 25	Average: 65
Slow pyrolysis	Max: -44 / Min: -55	Max: -168 / Min: -199	Max: 26 / Min: 23	Max: 68 / Min: 61
Scenario 3:	Average: 4	Average: -117	Average: 20	Average: 71
Fast pyrolysis	Max: 8 / Min: -11	Max: -105 / Min: -136	Max: 36 / Min: -2	Max: 72 / Min: 67
Scenario 3-II:	Average: 44	Average: -119	Average: 20	Average: 54
In-situ	Max: 106 / Min: -12	Max: -107 / Min: -138	Max: 36 / Min: -2	Max: 72 / Min: 26

Table 7-V: Highlight results from overall carbon-balance calculations

Comparing the results across process type and scenario shows:

- All slow pyrolysis processes are carbon-negative in the feasible intervals, with carbon costs of -7 to -48 kg CO₂/MWh when substitution energy comes with a carbon-cost of the 2007 average (worst case), and -142 to 179 kg CO₂/MWh when substituted with wind power (best case).
- Fast pyrolysis processes are not significantly carbon-negative in any scenario, but have better carbon-balances than conventional combustion.
- The only process more carbon-positive than conventional combustion of wheat straw is the In-situ fast pyrolysis running at above 550 °C.
- Electricity output from fast pyrolysis is -2 to 69 % of the total output depending on process temperature. For slow pyrolysis the span is 23 - 50 % for the tested process temperatures.
- Total energy output (electricity + district heating) available for consumption from the fast pyrolysis process is 46 – 64 % of the full consumption potential. For slow pyrolysis the span is 49 – 59 %.
Answering the main report work question with an example

Based on the previous, it is assumed possible to produce carbon-negative energy by pyrolysis of Danish wheat straw with a CO_2 benefit of around 150-200 kg CO_2/MWh with substitution energy from the Denmark 2007 average and an energy output of ~ 50 % of the full potential. The process has to run as a slow pyrolysis to ensure the negative carbon-balance, and it has to be assumed that the ~50% energy gap is not substituted with burning coal.

The original work question of this report is answered by filling in the blanks of the modified version of Figure 2-III with a calculated example. The settings for the calculations is a decentralized Danish scenario with a slow pyrolysis process running on a wheat straw feed stock. The process runs with 10 minutes of drying and subsequently 20 minutes of slow heating to a max temperature of 500 °C. For substitution energy, natural gas is applied:



Figure 7-XII: Example of carbon-balance calculations in decentralized energy production with pyrolysis of wheat straw. Answer to main report work question.

Validation of results

Due to the integration of many simple correlations, and the earlier assessment of uncertainties and errors, it is necessary to test the overall carbon-balance calculations against other similar investigations. It is no easy task to find usable material for this comparison, but the work by Brownsort demonstrates some useful data and results (Brownsort, 2009). Brownsort does not substitute the energy difference between pyrolysis yield and full potential. This gives a much more beneficial carbon-balance than the results in this report. Nevertheless, it is easy to remove the substitution energy from the calculations of this report and compare the results by converting the energy outputs to fossil fuel displacement values. This is done in Table 7-VI, for three processes: One slow pyrolysis process with unknown plant biomass, one intermediate pyrolysis with wheat straw, and one fast pyrolysis process with undefined wood. For all three recalculations of the results from this report, the Carbon Emission Factor (CEF) of 0.43 kg CO₂-equivalent /kWh are applied as recommended by (Brownsort, 2009) for calculations in the UK energy sector.

_	Net CO ₂ benefit kg CO ₂ /kg dry feed (Brownsort, 2009)	Net CO ₂ benefit kg CO ₂ /kg dry feed (Own work)	Electricity production kWh _e /kg dry feed (Brownsort, 2009)	Electricity production kWh _e /kg dry feed (Own work)
Test 1: Slow pyrolysis	-1.2	-0.9	0.4	0.5
Test 2: Intermediate pyrolysis	-1.1	-0.9	0.5	0.6
Scenario 3: Fast pyrolysis	-0.9	-0.8	1.3	1.2

Table 7-VI: Comparing results to the work of (Brownsort, 2009)

There are many small differences in the two models, but the results are very much in keeping with each other, especially in the case of the wheat straw process. There is a tendency for the net CO_2 benefit of the present study to be slightly lower than Brownsort's results. The difference on the net carbon benefit is 10-30% and the difference on the electricity output is 10-20%. The smaller net CO_2 benefit in the present study could very well originate from emission factors like fertilizer usage, agricultural operations, oil transport, etc., which are integrated in the present study, but not in the work by (Brownsort, 2009). Differences in energy output could most likely be plant efficiency.

The data from the two studies is too different to compare well, but they show a reasonable correlation and the trend in the results is similar. On this background there is assumed to be a usable agreement, and validation of the calculation model. The level of detail is questionable, but the patterns and quantitative results seem highly usefull.

Additional biochar characteristics' influence on the carbon balance

As mentioned in section 0, the use of biochar as carbon sink is believed to have several beneficial effects on the overall carbon-balance besides the ones included quantitatively in this study. One of the main possible side-effects is that N_2O and CH_4 emissions from soil may be significantly reduced by biochar application. Studies have shown 50 – 100 % repression of CH_4 emission and up to 50 % repression of N_2O emission from soil amended with biochar. Especially in systems with fertilizer use, is the N₂O repression assumed significant (Rondon, et al., 2005). Another effect is the ability of the biochar to prevent leaching of valuable nutrients, and thus minimizing the fertilizer need of the biomass production. Greenhouse experiments by Lehmann et al. from 2003 showed a 60 % reduction in ammonium leaching from biochar amended soil after 45 days (Lehmann, et al., 2003). As indicated in Figure 7-XII, fertilizer may have measureable impact on the carbon balance, with emissions costs of more than 2 % of the carbon originally captured. Finally it has also been observed that biochar improves crop performance (Lehmann, et al., 2003; Steiner, et al., 2007). This could on one hand increase the amount of atmospheric carbon captured by plant growth, and on the other hand it could reduce the need for fertilizer. This effect has been observed primarily on old or sandy soils.

To quantify the effects above Gaunt et al (2008) estimates that N_2O emissions from farm soil is reduced by 50 % and fertilizer needs are reduced by 10 % by biochar usage (Gaunt, et al., 2008). The authors calculate a CO_2 emission reduction of ~ 3700

kg $CO_2 \cdot ha^{-1} \cdot y^{-1}$ in a slow pyrolysis scenario with winter wheat based on the reduction in N₂O emissions and fertilizer requirements.

Closing perspective on Energy, climate mitigation and technology

Examining the pyrolysis processes has pointed towards a robust, carbon-negative energy production when applying the slow pyrolysis in Danish wheat straw scenarios. The fast pyrolysis process produces more energy than the slow pyrolysis, but the overall carbon-balance of the fast process is not significantly negative in any of the tested scenarios. It is assumed that incorporation of the omitted effects of biochar mentioned above would have some impact on the fast pyrolysis carbon-balance, but even more effect on the carbon-balance of the slow process. There could be several reasons why the slow pyrolysis process achieves a better carbon-balance than the fast process:

- The mechanics of the fast pyrolysis reactor and peripheral units are highly energy consuming compared to the slow process.
- The focus on oil production pushes the total heat of the pyrolysis reaction towards the endotherm, where the slow pyrolysis favours a more exotherm char-producing process.
- The recalcitrance of the rapidly produced biochar is lower in biochar from the fast processes than for slow pyrolysis biochar.

All in all it seems that the fast pyrolysis process yields the extra amount of oil at a very high price. In addition, senior scientist at Risø DTU, Jesper Ahrenfeldt has experience with wheat straw pellets that can obtain the same energy density as lignite (~10 to 20 MJ/kg) and becomes hydrophobic over time. With this processing the straw product could potentially match the bio-oil in both energy density, transportability and storage aspects, and still yield higher total energy outputs.

Based on the findings in the report, a brief assessment of the examined energy technologies is given in Table 7-VII. The assessment includes the possibility of recycling the process ash to the field, as this is a subject of much interest. This is not done normally in processes with high temperatures (+800 °C) due to a concomitant production of polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) that might be harmful.

	Slow pyrolysis	Fast pyrolysis	Complete combustion
Electricity yield	20 - 50 %	0 - 70 %	100 %
Transportable /storable energy	As semi stable bio-oil or upgraded gas	As semi stable bio-oil or upgraded gas	As baled straw or straw pellets
Recycling of ash	yes	yes	no
Carbon-balance (with oil or natural gas used for substitution)	Negative to neutral	Neutral to positive	Neutral to positive

Table 7-VII: Qualitative compari	son of energy techno	ologies included in the present study
----------------------------------	----------------------	---------------------------------------

Effect on soil layer quality and quantity

The organic carbon in biochar rebuilds old and sandy soils Less char production than in slow pyrolysis. Higher energy cost/unit char Removal of biomass slowly depletes soil layer nutrients and organic carbon

Based on the characteristics in Table 7-VII, it is proposed that a combination of slow pyrolysis and complete combustion/gasification might give the best overall result in many scenarios. A 50/50 combination would render the total process carbon-negative, return some ash and carbon to the soil, and produce 65 - 75 % of the electricity possible. The fast pyrolysis process is in between the two other technologies, but it uses more energy to produce biochar than the slow process, and it is less efficient in energy production than the complete conversion.

This perspective is in some opposition to the trend in commercial pyrolysis technology where focus is strongly on bio-oil production. The reasons for this could be many, but it is not unthinkable that the following aspects could play a role in the popularity of fast pyrolysis:

- Most investigations of pyrolysis processes with production of both bio-oil and bio-char does not include assessments of substitution energy for the energy lost in the char. Therefore, the overall carbon-balance of the fast pyrolysis process will appear carbon-negative. As the fast pyrolysis process produce more oil, which is sellable, the choice of a fast process would give a better economy in the project. To a politician or researcher concerned with the amount of collectable biomass, and the actual carbonbalance on a broad perspective including substitution energy, this approach would be incorrect.
- Slow pyrolysis processes are specialized for biochar production, but there is no fast money in biochar. There is no quick commercial success in maintaining the soil layer fertile for the future, and it is still not possible to cash in carbon credits by building a farm soil carbon sink. Commercial interests need a cash flow to sustain their existence, and therefore the fast pyrolysis with the large production of (apparently) carbon-negative bio-oil acquires the most attention.
- The thought of swapping the fossil fuel in the old car, tractor of truck with green clean-conscience bio-fuel is broadly appealing. Therefore, it sells products regardless of how farfetched the process might be.

8 Conclusion

In this report the main concern has been to disclose whether or not it would be possible to produce genuine carbon-negative energy from pyrolysis of wheat straw in a series of Danish agricultural scenarios. A combination of process simulation, correlations derived from literature studies and experimental work and overall balance calculations has been applied to fill the blanks in the main inequity:

Carbon in process CO_2 emissions < Atmospheric carbon stored in wheat straw

The modelling work showed good correlation with point data reference and qualitative behaviour of reference experimental results. Two complete pyrolysis processes have been constructed in the SuperPro Designer software, and they are assumed capable of predicting process yields from various lignocellulosic feedstocks, varying fast pyrolysis temperatures, and slow pyrolysis peak temperatures and temperature scenarios. Using the capacities of SuperPro Designer in a next level improvement of the pyrolysis simulations could result in a valuable tool for broad process assessment on throughput optimization, scheduling, work load, environmental impact, utility consumption and economy.

The uncertainty of the overall calculations has been briefly examined, and it was concluded that the results could hold for rough estimation purposes as long as attention was given to key parameters. The final results have been compared to another study with convincing results.

The investigation of the overall carbon-balance of slow and fast pyrolysis was done in three different scenarios, explicitly centralized, decentralized and local, and different substitution energy supplies were considered for filling the gap between the energy yielded by the pyrolysis and the full bio-energy potential of the wheat straw, quantified as complete combustion or gasification. It was concluded that it is feasible to produce carbon-negative energy under the following settings:

- 2/3 slow pyrolysis scenarios with oil as energy substitute.
- 3/3 slow pyrolysis scenarios with Denmark 2007 average carbon-cost, natural gas or wind power as energy substitute.
- 0/3 fast pyrolysis scenarios with oil as energy substitute.
- 2/3 fast pyrolysis scenarios with very low temperatures and Denmark 2007 average carbon-cost or natural gas as energy substitute.
- 3/3 fast pyrolysis scenarios with wind power as energy substitute.
- The hypothetical in-situ fast pyrolysis scenario with wind power substitution but not with DK 2007 average, oil or natural gas substation.
- 2/3 slow pyrolysis processes yielded the same carbon-balance as complete combustion when substituting with coal.

The negative carbon-balance is only robust for the slow pyrolysis scenario, which is therefore conceived as the only process capable of producing carbon-negative energy based on this report.

The CO₂ benefit of the most carbon-negative slow pyrolysis process is estimated to be around 10 % of the atmospheric carbon stored in the original biomass when natural gas is applied for energy substitution. This process avoids the emission of around 150-200 kg CO₂/ton wheat straw with substitution energy with a Denmark 2007 average carbon-intensity. This result is weighted against the net emissions of the carbon-

"neutral" process of conventional combustion. This emission is in this report estimated to be around $50 - 150 \text{ kg CO}_2$ /ton straw depending on scenario settings. The investigation did not include effects of biochar amendment on N₂O/CH₄ emissions from the soil, the reduction in fertilizer usage, or the enhancement of biomass production. These effects are assumed to have beneficial influence on the overall carbon-balance of the processes.

Results showed that it was difficult to find optimal usage of the fast pyrolysis process in the Danish energy scenarios, as the process produce biochar at a higher cost than the slow process, and energy at a higher cost than the conventional combustion processes. Pyrolysis for energy cannot compete with full conversion through combustion or gasification. The primary strength of the pyrolysis technology is the recalcitrant char product and not the pyrolysis oil. The present study implies that despite the trend in commercial pyrolysis technology that focuses on fast pyrolysis processes with maximized bio-oil production, the twin challenge of climate mitigation and sustainable energy production is most efficiently addressed with a combination of slow pyrolysis and conventional biomass conversion instead.

The pyrolysis process makes no sense when strictly considering the energy- and the carbon-balance of sequestering coal-like biochar and then digging up and burning coal for energy purposes. However, coal combustion is a politically smoking gun, and in most parts of the industrialized world it is very difficult to gain acceptance of new coal based initiatives. Coal has to be phased out of energy supplies to meet the demands for political ambitions of $+2^{\circ}$ or back-to-350-ppm, and when burning coal is phased out, sequestering of char could be phased in. To break the growing curve of GHG concentration carbon-negative energy production is a must! There is no way around it, and as soon as any nation is coal free it could become economically feasible for that nation to begin the production of biochar. Until coal is phased out, biochar demonstration plants and field trials should be carried out. The results of this report shows that slow pyrolysis of wheat straw with biochar production and amendment has the same carbon-balance as conventional straw combustion in de-centralized or local scenarios - even with coal as energy substitute! This implies that even large scale trials will have no unintended influence on the carbon-concentration in the atmosphere - no matter what kind of substitution energy is applied. If such results on additional positive biochar effects are good, then the carbon-balance will not be a problem as long as the pyrolysis is slow and conditions are de-centralized or local. There is no reason not to begin right away ...

Another sticky point is the scarcity of biomass. As long as nations struggle to cast the shackles of fossil fuels biomass should mainly be used for energy purposes. However, the use and potential benefits of using biochar should be thoroughly investigated and considered to find the optimal use of the technology. Some of the key characteristics of the biochar process include:

- Slow pyrolysis is an extremely robust thermal conversion process that is applicable with many different feedstocks. Almost all industrial- and agricultural waste streams may be converted in the process, creating biochar that is free of polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs); a class of compounds which may have undisclosed effects in farm soil.
- With every other substitution energy carrier than coal, biochar production will be capable of yielding genuine carbon-negative bio-energy as either bio-oil or gas for combustion.

- Biochar may prove to be a valuable tool in closing the nutrient cycle of bio-energy and farm crops wastes, and at the same time in the building and maintaining of fertile soils. This could prove to be the main argument for biochar production in many parts of the world. The increase in biomass productivity that could follow biochar amendment would in the long run minimize the gap between energy production from pyrolysis and complete combustion.

Biochar is a good story, but it is a difficult one to sell. There is still no easy and fast way to commercial success by maintaining the soil layer thick and fertile for future generations, and it is still not possible to cash in carbon credits by building a farm soil carbon sink. This might change.

9 References

350.org. 2010. 350 Science. [Online] The David Brower Center, Berkeley, USA, January 2010. [Cited: 4 1 2010.] http://www.350.org/about/science/.

Ahrenfeldt, J., et al. 2005. *Experimental characterisation of residual-tar in wood char.* Lyngby : Department of Mechanical Engineering - Biomass Gasification Group, Technical University of Denmark, 2005. ISBN 87-7475-330-4.

Amonette, J. E. and Joseph, S. 2009. Characteristics of Biochar: Microchemical Properties. [book auth.] J. (ed.) Lehmann and S. (ed.) Joseph. *Biochar for Environmental Management - Science and Technology.* London : Earthscan, 2009.

Andrews, R. G. and Patniak, P. C. 1996. *Feasibility of Utilizing a Biomass derived Fuel for Industrial Gas Turbine Applications.* Newbury, U. K. : CPL Press, 1996. Biooil Production and Utilization. Proceedings of the 2nd EU/Canada Workshop on Thermal Biomass Processing pages 236-245.

Antal, M. J. and Grønli, M. 2003. The Art, Science, and Technology of Charcoal Production. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 2003, Vols. 42 pages 1619-1640, 10.1021/ie0207919 - American Chemical Society.

Apfelbacher, A. 2009. *Bio-thermal Valorisation of Biomass (BtVB) for CO2 negative power generation from Biomass.* Bermingham : Bioenergy Special Interest Group Seminar, BCU, Aston University, 2009. ONLINE: http://www.bioenergywm.org/documents/Pyrolysis%20-%20Dr%20Apfelbacher.pdf.

AWG-LCA_4. 2008. Use of biochar (charcoal) to replenish soil carbon pools, restore soil fertility and sequester CO2. Poznan : UNCCD - the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification, 2008. 4th Session of the Ad Hoc Working Group on Long-term Cooperative Action under the Convention.

BCS. 2006. Balance carbon and restore soil fertility. *www.biochar.org.* [Online] 2006. www.biochar.org.

Bech, N. 2008. *In Situ Flash Pyrolysis of Straw.* Lyngby : Department of Chemical and Biochemical Engineering, Technical University of Denmark, 2008. Ph.D. Dissertation.

Beenackers, A. A. C. M. 1999. Biomass gasification on moving beds, a review of european technologies. *Renewable Energy*. 1999, Vols. 16 pages 1180-1186.

BEST. 2006. About BEST Energies, Inc. *BEST Energies, Inc. - Essential Technologies Pwoering Biofuels.* [Online] 2006. www.bestenergies.com/aboutus.html.

BiocharFund. 2008. About us. *The Biochar Fund - Fighting hunger, deforestation, energy insecurity & climate change - simultaneously.* [Online] 2008.

http://biocharfund.org/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=21&Item id=41.

Blackwell, P., Riethmuller, G. and Collins, M. 2009. Biochar Application to Soil. [book auth.] J. Lehmann and J. Stephen. *Biochar for Environmental Management - Science and technology.* London : Earthscan, 2009.

Boddey, R. M:, et al. 2009. Biological Nitrogen Fixation and the Mitigation of Greenhouse Gas Emissions. [book auth.] D. W. (ed.) Emerich and H. B. (ed.) Krishnan. *Nitrogen Fixation in Crop Production.* Madison, USA : American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, Soil Science Society of America, 2009.

Bridgwater, A. 2007_A. IEA Bioenergy Update 27: Biomass Pyrolysis. *Biomass and Bioenergy.* 2007_A, Vols. 31 pages 1-5.

Bridgwater, A. V., Carson, P. and Coulson, M. 2007_B. A comparison of fast and slow pyrolysis liquids from mallee. *International Journal of Global Energy Issues.* 2007_B, Vol. 2, 27 pages 204 - 216.

Bridgwater, A., et al. 1990. *Fast pyrolysis of Biomass: A Handbook.* Newbury : CPL Press, 1990. ISBN: 1 872691 07 2.

Bridgwater, A.V. and Peacocke, G.V.C. 2000. Fast pyrolysis processes for biomass. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews.* 2000, Vols. 4 pages 1-73, PII: S1 36 4 -0 32 1 (9 9) 00 0 07 -6.

Bridgwater, A.V., Meier, D. and Radlein, D. 1999. An overview of fast pyrolysis of biomass. *Organic Geochemistry.* 1999, Vols. 30 pages 1479-1493, PII: S0146-6380(99)00120-5.

Brown, A. L., Dayton, D. C. and Daily, J. W. 2001. A Study of Cellulose Pyrolysis Chemistry and Global Kinetics at High Heating Rates. *Energy & Fuels.* 2001, Vols. 15 pages 1286-1294.

Brown, D. B. 1995. Continuous ablative regenerator system. [book auth.] A. V. (ed.) Bridgwater and E. N. (ed.) Hogan. *Proc. 2nd EU-Canada Workshop on Biomass Pyrolysis.* s.l. : CPL Press, 1995.

Brown, R. 2009. Biochar Production Technology. [book auth.] J. Lehmann. *Biochar for Environmental Management - Science and Technology.* London : Earthscan, 2009.

Brown, R. C. 2003. *Biorenewable resources: Engineering new products from agriculture.* Iowa : Iowa State Press - A Blackwell Publishing Company, 2003. ISBN-10: 0-8138-2263-7.

Brownsort, P. A. 2009. *Biomass pyrolysis processes: Performance parameters and their influence on biochar system benefits.* Edinburgh : UK Biochar Research Centre - SCCS Consortium, 2009. A dissertation presented for the degree of Master of Science University of Edinburgh, 2009.

Bruun, E.W., et al. 2009. *Biochar soil application to mitigate climate change.* Roskilde : Risø International Energy Conference - Energy solutions for CO2 emission peak, 2009. Petersen, L. S. (ed.) and Larsen, H. (ed.). Risø-R-1712(EN)_ISBN 978-87-550-3783-0.

Bruun, S. and Luxhøi, J. 2008. Is biochar production really carbon-negative? *Environmental Science & Technology.* Commentary, 2008, Vol. March p. 1388, American Chemical Society.

BTG. 2009. BTG - Biomass technology group. *Btg-btl_Biomass to liquids.* [Online] 2009. [Cited: 8 1 2010.] http://www.btgworld.com/uploads/documents/2009%20Brochure%20BTG%2 0BTL%20Pyrolysis%20oil.pdf.

Caballero, J. A., Font, R. and Marcilla, A. 1996. Kinetic study of the secondary thermal decomposition of Kraft lignin. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis.* 1996, Vols. 38 pages 131-152.

—. 1996. Study of the primary pyrolysis of Kraft lignin at high heating rates: yields and kinetics. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Physics.* 1996, 36 pages 159 - 178.

CarbonZero. 2009. CarbonZero Project - Switzerland. *Biochar.info.* [Online] 2009. www.biochar.info.

Cassman, K. G. 1999. Ecological intensification of cereal production systems: Yield potential, soil quality, and precision agriculture. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* 1999, Vols. 96 pages 5952–5959, From the National Academy of Sciences colloquium "Plants and Population: Is There Time?".

Chan, K. Y. and Xu, C. 2009. Biochar: Nutrient Properties and their enhancement. [book auth.] J. (ed.) Lehmann and S. Joseph. *Biochar for Environmental Management - Science and Technology.* London : Earthscan, 2009.

Chandrakant, P. and Bisaria, V. S. 1998. Simultaneous bioconversion of cellulose and hemicellulose to ethanol. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology.* 1998, Vols. 18 pages 295-331.

Channiwala, S. A. and Parikh, P. P. 2002. A unified correlation for estimating HHV of solid, liquid and gaseous fuels. *Fuel.* 2002, 81 pages 1051-1063.

Chen, G., et al. 2003. Biomass pyrolysis/gasification for product gas production: the overall investigation of parametric effects. *Energy Conversion and Management*. 2003, Vols. 44 pages 1875–1884.

Czernik, S and Bridgwater, A. V. 2004. Overview of Applications of Biomass Fast Pyrolysis Oil. *Energy & Fuels*. 2004, Vols. 18 pages 590-598.

Decision-/CP.15. 2009. *Copenhagen Accord.* [PDF] Copenhagen : The Conference of the Parties, 2009. ONLINE: http://www.um.dk/NR/rdonlyres/AA2E8765-4158-4BD1-B29E-1CEDC5BF2CCE/0/COP15CopenhagenAccord.pdf.

Demirbas, A. 2002. Utilization of urban and pulping wastes to produce synthetic fuel via pyrolysis. *Energy Sources.* 2002, Vols. 24 pages 205–213, 3.

—. 2004. Determination of calorific values of bio-chars and pyro-oils from pyrolysis of beech trunkbarks. *J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis* . 2004, Vols. 72 pages 215–219.

-. 2006. Production and Characterization of Bio-Chars from Biomass via Pyrolysis. *Energy Sources Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects.* 2006, Vols. 28:5 pages 413 - 422.

Di Blasi, C., Branca, C. and D'Errico, G. 2000. Degradation characteristics of straw and washed straw. *Thermochimica Acta.* 2000, Vols. 364 pages 133-142.

Di Blasi, C., et al. 1999. Product Distribution from Pyrolysis of Wood and Agricultural Residues. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* . 1999, Vols. 38 pages 2216-2224.

Diebold, J. P. 1994. A Unified, Global Model for the Pyrolysis of Cellulose. *Biomass and Bioenergy.* 1994, Vols. 7 pages 75-85, 0961-9534(94)00039-5.

DKvind. 2008. Danmarks Vindmølleforening - Kort & Godt. *dkvind.dk.* [Online] Danmarks Vindmølleforening, 3 2008. [Cited: 4 1 2010.] http://www.dkvind.dk/materiale/kort_godt/pixi.pdf.

Downie, A., Crosky, A. and Munroe, P. 2009. Physical Properties of Biochar. [book auth.] J. (ed.) Lehmann and S. (ed.) Joseph. *Biochar for Environmental Management - Science and Technology.* London : Earthscan, 2009.

Downie, A., Klatt, P. and Munroe, P. 2007. *Slow pyrolysis: Australian demonstration plant successful on multi-feedstocks.* Finland : Bioenergy 2007 Conference, 2007.

Dynamotive. 1991. Dynamotive Energy Systems Corporation - About Us. *Dynamotive - The Evolution of Energy.* [Online] 1991. www.dynamotive.com/about/.

—. 2009. Fast pyrolysis. *Dynamotive - The Evolution of Energy.* [Online] 2009. http://www.dynamotive.com/technology/fast_pyrolysis/.

eGen. 2008. Specifications - Exhibit A. *eGen industries Public - Purchase Agreement.* [Online] 2008.

http://sharepoint.egenindustries.com/Purchase%20Agreemnet%20Kit/Eprida %20Exhibit%20A_v03.pdf.

Elmegaard, B. and Houbak, N. 2005. DNA – A General Energy System Simulation Tool. *http://www.scansims.org/sims2005/SIMS2005_16.pdf.* 2005, Department of Mechanical Engineering _ Technical University of Denmark.

Emrich, W. 1985. *Handbook of charcoal making (Solar Energy R&D in the European Community. Series E, Energy from Biomass; v. 7).* Dordrecht : D. Reidel Publishing Company, 1985. ISBN: 90-277-1934-9.

Energistyrelsen. 2009. *Energi i Danmark 2008.* www.ens.dk : Energistyrelsen - Klima- og Energiministeriet, 2009. ISBN 978-87-7844-807-1 / ISBN 978-87-7844-808-8 www.

—. 1995. *Teknologidata for el- og varmeproduktionsanlæg.* Copenhagen : Miljø- og Energiministeriet, 1995. ISBN: 87-7844-029-7.

EPRIDA. 2002. About E P R I D A = Earth . People . Research . Innovation . Development . Acknowledgement. *EPRIDA: Sustainable soulutions for Global Concerns.* [Online] 2002. www.eprida.com/about/index.php4.

Ernsting, A. and Smolker, R. 2009. Biochar briefing PDF. *biofuelwatch.* [Online] 2009. [Cited: 6 November 2009.] http://www.biofuelwatch.org.uk/docs/biocharbriefing.pdf.

Field, C. B., et al. 1998. Primary production of the biosphere: integrating terrestrial and oceanic components. *Science.* Reports, 1998, Vol. DOI: 10.1126/science.281.5374.237, 281 pages 237-240.

Fjellerup, J., et al. 2005. *Formation, Decomposition and Cracking of Biomass Tars in Gasification.* Lyngby : Biomass Gasification Gropu - Department of Mechanical Engineering (MEK) - Technical University of Denmark (DTU), 2005. ISBN: 87-7475-326-6.

Fock, F., et al. 2000. Modelling a biomass gasification system by means of "EES". *Proceedings of the conference "41st SIMS Simulation Conference".* Department of Energy Engineering. DTU, 2000, 18-19 September 2000, DTU, Denmark. pp. 179-185.

Fogler, H. S. 2006. *Elements of Chemical Reaction Engineering - fourth edition.* Upper Saddle River : Pearson Education, Inc., 2006. ISBN 0-13-127839-8.

Friedl, A., et al. 2005. Prediction of heating values of biomass fuel from elemental composition. *Analytica Chimica Acta* . 2005, Vols. 544 pages 191–198.

Gassner, M. and Marechal, F. 2009. Thermodynamic comparison of the FICFB and Viking gasification concepts. *Energy.* 2009, Vols. 34 pages 1744–1753.

Gaunt, J. L. and Lehmann, J. 2008. Energy Balance and Emissions Associated with Biochar Sequestration and Pyrolysis Bioenergy Production. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* . 2008, 42 pages 4152–4158.

Greenpeace. 2009. Greenpeace Copenhagen Outcome Assessment. *www.greenpeace.org.* [Online] 19 12 2009. [Cited: 8 1 2010.] http://www.greenpeace.org/raw/content/international/press/reports/cop15assessment.pdf.

Hamer, U., et al. 2004. Interactive Priming of black carbon and glucose mineralization. *Organic Geochemistry .* 2004, Vols. 35 pages 823-830.

Hammes, K. and Schmidt, M. W. I. 2009. Changes of Biochar in Soil. [book auth.] J. Lehmann and J. Stephen. *Biochar for Environmental Management - Science and Technology.* London : Earthscan, 2009.

Hauggaard-Nielsen, H., Ambus, P. and Jensen, E. S. 2001. Temporal and spatial distribution of roots and competition for nitrogen in pea-barley intercrops- a field study employing 32P technique. *Plant & Soil.* 2001, Vols. 236 pages 63-74.

Henlov, J. 2009. Ekspert til læserne: Potentialet for biomasse i energiforsyningen er 30 procent. *Ingeniøren - nyheder.* [Online] Mediehuset Ingeniøren A/S, 30 11 2009. [Cited: 4 1 2010.] http://ing.dk/artikel/104493ekspert-til-laeserne-potentialet-for-biomasse-i-energiforsyningen-er-30procent?highlight=halm+potentiale.

Henriksen, U., et al. 1991. *Pyrolyse og Forgasning af halm - Delrapport 4 : Eksperimentel og beregningsmæssig undersøgelse af forhold ved pyrolyse og forgasning af halm.* Lyngby : Laboratoriet for Energiteknik, DTH, 1991. ISBN: 87-7475-137-9.

Henriksen, U., et al. 2006. The design, construction and operation of a 75 kW two-stage gasifier. *Energy.* 2006, Vols. 31 pages 1542–1553.

Holm, E. 2009. Ingeniøren - Nyheder - Energi & Miljø. *Ingeniøren.* [Online] September 2009. http://ing.dk/artikel/101975-professor-lad-bare-co2-rensning-doe-hurtigt-og-stille?highlight=ccs.

Holst, N. 2009. Klimaet og politik - COP15 ender med tynd klimaerklæring. *Politikken.* [Online] 19 12 2009. [Cited: 8 1 2010.] http://politiken.dk/klima/klimapolitik/article864230.ece.

Hornung, A. 2009_A. *Energy from waste biomass - the BtVB process.* [Powerpoint presentation] Lancaster : European Bioenergy Research Institute EBRI, Aston University, 2009_A.

-. 2008. Fast, intermediate or slow pyrolysis for fuels production, power generation from various biomasses or as pre-conditioning unit for gasifiers. [Powerpoint presentation] Birmingham : Aston University - Chemical Engineering and Applied Chemistry - CEAC, 2008. Imperial College 2008 - London.

-. 2009_B. The Haloclean Process - Combined Pyrolysis/Heat and Power. [Powerpoint presentation] Birmingham : Aston University, Chemical Engineering and Applied Chemistry, BioEnergy Reserach Group, 2009_B. ONLINE: http://www.ukerc.ac.uk/Downloads/PDF/Meeting%20Place/Events/2008/05S upergen/presentations/Hornung.pdf.

IBI. 2006. *International Biochar Initiative.* [Online] 2006. www.biochar-international.org.

-. 2009. *Biochar in the UNFCCC - updated July 8th, 2009.* s.l. : International Biochar Initiative, 2009. http://www.biochar-international.org/sites/default/files/Biochar_in_the_UNFCCC_July%20_2009.pdf.

Ibrahim, N., et al. 2008. *Unpublished results.* Lyngby, Denmark : Combustion and Harmful Emission Control (CHEC), Department of Chemical and Biochemical Engineering, Technical University of Denmark, 2008.

Intelligen. 2010_a. Company Information. *Intelligen, Inc.* [Online] 2010_a. [Cited: 25 1 2010.] http://www.intelligen.com/compinfo.shtml.

—. 2009. Products - SuperPro Designer. *Intelligen Inc.* [Online] 2009. [Cited: 8 1 2010.] http://www.intelligen.com/superpro_overview.shtml.

—. 2010_b. SuperPro Designer. *Intelligen, Inc.* [Online] 2010_b. [Cited: 25 1 2010.] http://www.intelligen.com/superpro_overview.shtml.

IPCC_WG3. 2009. SCOPING FOR THE IPCC 5TH ASSESSMENT REPORT - Concept paper for an IPCC Expert Meeting on the Socio-Economic Consequences of Low Stabilization Scenarios. Antalya : IPCC, 2009. IPCC-XXX/Doc.15 (6.IV.2009).

IPCC-WG1. 2007. *IPCC Fourth Assessment Report (AR4) - Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis.* Cambridge/ New York : Cambridge University Press, 2007.

IPCC-WG2. 2007. *IPCC Fourth Assessment Report (AR4) - Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability.* Cambridge/ New York : Cambridge University Press, 2007.

IPCC-WG3. 2007. *IPCC Fourth Assessment Report (AR4) - Climate Change 2007: Mitigation of Climate Change.* Cambridge/ New York : Cambridge University Press, 2007.

Jay, D. C., et al. 1995. *Wood pyrolysis oil for Diesel engines.* Milwaukee : ASME Fall Technical Conference, 1995. WI, September 24-27.

Johnson, D. A., Tomberlin, G. and Ayres, W. A. 1991. Conversion of wood waste to fuel oil and charcoal. *Energy from Biomass and Wastes XV, 25-29 March 1991.* Washington DC : Pages 915-925, 1991.

Jung, C. G. 2009. *Pyrolysis and Gasification of Industrial Waste Towards Substitution Fuels Valorisation.* Brussels : ULB/ Solvay Brussels School of Economics and Management Centre Emile Bernheim, 2009. CEB Working Paper N° 09/001.

Jørgensen, U. and Dalgaard, T. (red.). 2004. *Energi i økologisk jordbrug -Reduktion af fossilt energiforbrug og produktion af vedvarende energi.* Tjele : Forskningscenter for Økologisk Jordbrug (FØJO), 2004. ISSN: 1398-716X. **Kofoed, E., et al. 1991.** *Pyrolyse og forgasning af halm - delrapport 3: Varmetransport i halm.* Lyngby : Laboratoriet for Energiteknik, DTH, 1991. RE 91-4, ISBN 87-7475-139-5.

Laird, D., et al. 2009. Impact of biochar amendments on soil quality for a typical midwestern agricultural soil. *Poster presentation, North American Biochar Conference, 9-12 August 2009.* Boulder, Colorado, USA : s.n., 2009.

Lanzetta, M. and Di Blasi, C. 1998. Pyrolysis kinetics of wheat and corn straw. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis.* 1998, 44 pages 181–192.

Lehmann, J. 2007. A Handfull of carbon. *Nature.* Commentary, 2007, Vol. 447, Pages 143-144.

Lehmann, J. and Josph, S. 2009. Biochar for Environmental Management: An Introduction. [book auth.] J. (ed.) Lehmann and S. (ed.) Joseph. *Biochar for Environmental Management - Science and Technology.* London : Earthscan, 2009, pp. 1-12.

Lehmann, J. and Rodon, M. 2006. Bio-Char Soil Management on Highly Weathered Soils in the Humid Tropics. [book auth.] N. (ed.) Uphoff. *Biological approaches to sustainable Soil Systems.* Boca Raton : CRC Press, 2006.

Lehmann, J. 2006. Black is the new green. *Nature.* 2006, Vol. 442, pages 624-626.

Lehmann, J., et al. 2003. Nutrient availability and leaching in an archaeological Anthrosol and a Ferralsol of the Central Amazonbasin: Fertilizer manure and charcoal amendments. *Plant Soil.* 2003, 249 pages 343–357.

Lehmann, J., Gaunt, J. and Rondon, M. 2006. Bio-char sequestration in terrestrial ecosystems - a review. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change.* Springer, 2006, Vols. 11 pages 403–427, DOI: 10.1007/s11027-005-9006-5.

Lovelock, J. 2009. James Lovelock on biochar: Let the Earth remove CO2 for us. *The Guardian - Environment - Biochar.* [Online] March 2009. [Cited: 6 November 2009.] http://www.guardian.co.uk/environment/2009/mar/24/biochar-earth-c02.

Maggi, R. and Delmon, B. 1994. Comparison between 'slow' and 'flash' pyrolysis oils from biomass. *Fuel*. 1994, Vols. Vol. 73, # 5, pages 671-677.

Mahinpey, N., et al. 2009. Analysis of Bio-Oil, Biogas, and Biochar from Pressurized Pyrolysis of Wheat Straw Using a Tubular Reactor. *Energy & Fuels.* 2009, Vols. 23 pages 2736–2742.

Maschio, G., Koufopanos, C. and Lucchesi, A. 1992. Pyrolysis, a Promising Route for Biomass Utilization. *Bioresource Technology.* 1992, Vols. 42 pages 219-231. **Masiello, C. A. and Druffel, E. R. M. 1998.** Black carbon in deep-sea sediments. *Science.* 280. Pages 1911–1913, 1998, doi:10.1126/science.280.5371.1911.

Mathews, J. A. 2007. *Carbon-negative biofuels.* Sydney : Elsevier, 2007. doi:10.1016/j.enpol.2007.11.029.

Miao, X., Wu, W. and Yang, C. 2004. Fast pyrolysis of microalgae to produce renewable fuels. *J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis.* 2004, Vols. 71 pages 855–863.

Miles, T. 2007. Companies producing biochar and biochar technologies. *Bioenergy Lists: Biochar (or Terra Preta).* [Online] January 2007. http://terrapreta.bioenergylists.org/company.

Miljø&Energi_Ministeriet. 2001. *Drivhusgasemission ved tilvejebringelse af fossile brændsler og biomassebaserede brændsler til energiformål - Energiforbrug og emissioner.* København : Miljø og Energi Ministeriet, 2001. 87-7844-217-6.

Miller, R. S. and Bellan, J. A. 1996. A Generalized Biomass Pyrolysis Model Based on Superimposed Cellulose, Hemicellulose and Lignin Kinetics. *Combust Sci Technol.* 1996, Vols. 126 pages 97-137.

—. **1997.** A Generalized Biomass Pyrolysis Model Based on Superimposed Cellulose, Hemicellulose and Lignin Kinetics. *Combust Sci Technol.* 1997, Vols. 126 pages 97-137.

Milosavljevic, I., Oja, V. and Suuberg, E. M. 1996. Thermal Effects in Cellulose Pyrolysis: Relationship to Char Formation Processes. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* . 1996, 35 pages 653-662.

Mohan, D., Pittman Jr., C. U. and Steele, P. H. 2006. Pyrolysis of Wood/Biomass for Bio-oil: A Critical Review. *Energy & Fuels.* 2006, Vols. 20 pages 848-889.

Mok, W. S. L. and Antal, M. J. 1983. Effect of pressure on biomass pyrolysis. II: Heats of reaction of cellulose pyrolysis. *Thermochimica Acta.* 1983, 68 pages 165-186.

Morris, R. M. 1990. Effect of particle size and temperature on volatiles produced from coal by slow pyrolysis. *Fuel.* June, 1990, Vols. 69 pages 776-779.

NOAA. 2009. Trends in Atmospheric Carbon Dioxide - Global. *National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration.* [Online] U.S. Department of Commerce - Earth System Research Laboratory, Global Monitoring Division , November 2009. [Cited: 1 12 2009.] http://www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/ccgg/trends/.

Onay, O. and Kockar, O. M. 2003. Slow, fast and flash pyrolysis of rapeseed. *Renewable Energy.* 2003, Vols. 28 pages 2417–2433.

Ottesen, P. and Gullev, L. 2005. News from DBDH 3 - Avedøre unit 2 - the world's largest biomass-fuelled CHP plant. *Danish Board of District Heating.* [Online] 2005. [Cited: 16 November 2009.] http://dbdh.dk/images/uploads/pdf-ren-energy/avedore-unit-2.pdf.

Overend, R. P. 2004. Thermochemical conversion of Biomass. [book auth.] E. S. (ed.) Evald. *Encyclopedia of Life Support Systems (EOLSS): Renewable Energy Sources Charged with Energy from the Sun and Originated from Earth-Moon Interaction.* Oxford : Eolss Publishers, 2004.

Peacocke, C. and Joseph, S. 2009. *Notes on Terminology and Technology in Thermal Conversion.* s.l. : International Biochar Initiative, 2009. http://www.biochar-international.org/images/Terminology.doc.

Raveendran, K., Ganesh, A. and Khilar, K. C. 1996. Pyrolysis characteristics of biomass and biomass components. *Fuel*. 1996, Vol. Vol. 75, No. 8 pages 987-998.

Raveendran, K., Ganesh, A. and Khilart, K. C. 1995. Influence of mineral matter on biomass pyrolysis characteristics. *Fuel.* 1995, Vol. Vol. 74, No. 12 pages 1812-1822.

Renner, R. 2007. Rethinking Biochar. *Environmental Science & Te chnology.* Technology Solutions, 2007, Vols. 5932-5933, American Chemical Society.

Robert, M., Leibold, H. and Seifert, H. 2009. *Hos gas filtration and Haloclean pyrolysis process operation experience and scale-up.* Karlsruhe : Institute for Technical Chemistry, Thermal Waste Treatment Division, Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe GmbH, 2009. ONLINE: http://www.fzk.de/fzk/groups/itc-tab/documents/internetdokument/id_067802.pdf.

Rondon, M., Ramirez, J. and Lehmann, J. 2005. Charcoal additions reduce net emissions of greenhouse gases to the atmosphere. *Proceedings of the 3rd USDA Symposium on Greenhouse Gases and Carbon Sequestration.* 2005, March 21–24, Baltimore, MD pages 208.

Rutherford, D. W., Wershaw, R. L. and Cox, L. G. 2004. *Changes in Composition and Porosity Occurring During the Thermal Degradation of Wood and Wood Components.* Reston, Virginia : U.S. Department of the Interior/ U.S. Geological Survey, 2004. Scientific Investigations Report 2004-5292.

Scott, D. S., et al. 1999. A second look at fast pyrolysis of biomass—the RTI process. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis.* 1999, Vols. 51 pages 23–37.

Seung-Soo, K., Foster, A. A. and Jongtae, L. 2009. Fast pyrolysis of chicken litter and turkey litter in a fluidized bed reactor. *Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry.* 2009, Vol. Elsevier doi:10.1016/j.jiec.2008.10.004, 15 pages 247–252.

Shafizadeh, F. and Chin, P. P. S. 1977. Thermal deterioration of wood. *ACS Symp Ser*. 1977, 43 pages 57–81.

Sharma, R. K., et al. 2004. Characterization of chars from pyrolysis of lignin. *Fuel* . 2004, Vols. 83 pages 1469–1482.

Shinogia, Y., et al. 2003. Basic characteristics of low-temperature carbon products from waste sludge. *Advances in Environmental Research.* 2003, Vols. 7 pages 661–665, 3.

Sipilaé, K, et al. 1998. CHARACTERIZATION OF BIOMASS-BASED FLASH PYROLYSIS OILS. *Biomass and Bioenergy*. 1998, Vols. Vol. 14, No. 2, pages 103-113.

Sohi, S., et al. 2009. *Biochar, climate change and soil: A review to guide future research.* Newcastle : CSIRO, 2009. CSIRO Land and Water Science Report series ISSN: 1834-6618.

Sombroek, W., et al. 2003. Chapter 7: Amazonian Dark Earhs as Carbon Stores and Sinks. [book auth.] J. (ed.) Lehmann. *Amazonian Dark Earths: Origin, Properties, Management.* the Netherlands : Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2003.

Statistikbanken. 2010_A. Landbrug og fiskeri/Arealer/Afgrøder/AFG07_Det dyrkede areal efter område, enhed og afgrøde. *Danmarks statistik.* [Online] 2010_A. [Cited: 8 1 2010.] http://statistikbanken.dk/statbank5a/default.asp?w=1280.

—. **2010_B.** Landbrug og fiskeri/Råstofanvendelse/Gødning/KVAEL2_Den samlede handelsgødningsforsyning/Indhold af rene næringsstoffer efter stoftype og måleenhed. *Danmarks statistik.* [Online] 2010_B. [Cited: 8 1 2010.] http://statistikbanken.dk/statbank5a/default.asp?w=1280.

Steiner, C., et al. 2008. Charcoal and smoke extract stimulate the soil microbial community in a highly weathered xanthic Ferralsol. *Pedobiologia.* 2008, Vols. 51 pages 359-366.

Steiner, C., et al. 2007. Long term effects of manure, charcoal and mineral fertilization on crop production and fertility on a highly weathered Central Amazonian upland soil. *Plant Soil.* 2007, 291 pages 275-290.

Stenseng, M., Jensen, A. and Dam-Johansen, K. 2001. Investigation of biomass pyrolysis by thermogravimetric analysis and differential scanning calorimetry. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis.* 2001, 58–59 pages 765–780.

StirlingDK. 2009. CHP-plants. *Stirling DK - Clean Power Production.* [Online] eContent, 2009. [Cited: 12 2 2010.] http://www.stirling.dk/?Technology:CHP_Plants.

Sun, R. C., et al. 2000. Physico-chemical and structural characterization of hemicelluloses from wheat straw by alkaline peroxide extraction. *Polymer*. 2000, Vols. 41 pages 2647–2656.

Suuberg, E. M., Milosavljevic, I. and Oja, V. 1996. Two-regime global kinetics of cellulose pyrolysis: The role of tar evaporation. *Twenty-Sixth Symposium (International) on Combustion.* 1996, Vols. The Combustion Institute, Pittsburgh pages 1515-1521.

Swift, R. S. 2001. Sequestration of carbon by soil. *Soil Science.* 2001, Vols. 166. Pages 858–871, doi:10.1097/00010694-200111000-00010.

TERRA. 2009. Climate, Carbon & Soil. *Carbon-negative Network.* [Online] 2009. www.carbon-negative.us.

Thies, J. E. and Rillig, M. C. 2009. Characteristics of Biochar: Biological Properties. [book auth.] J. Lehmann and S. Joseph. *Biochar for Environmental Management - Science and Technology.* London : Earthscan, 2009.

Torn, M. S., Vitousek, P. M. and Trumbore, S. E. 2005. The influence of nutrient availability on soil organic matter turnover estimated by incubations and radiocarbon modeling. *Ecosystems.* 4. Pages 352–372, 2005, doi:10.1007/s10021-004-0259-8.

Trimble, W. H. 1851. On Charring Wood. *Plough, the Loom and the Anvil.* 1851, Vols. 3 pages 513-516.

UNCCD. 2009. UNCCD Submission to Cimate Change/UNFCCC AWG-LCA 5. *United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification.* [Online] Febuary 2009. http://www.unccd.int/publicinfo/AWGLCA5/menu.php.

UOP_LLC. 2008. Renewables. *UOP.* [Online] 2008. [Cited: 8 1 2010.] http://www.uop.com/renewables/uop_ensyn_final.pdf.

Van de Velden, M., et al. 2010. Fundamentals, kinetics and endothermicity of the biomass pyrolysis reaction. *Renewable Energy*. 2010, 35 pages 232–242.

Várhegyi, G., et al. 1997. Kinetic modeling of biomass pyrolysis. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis.* 1997, Vols. 42 pages 73-87.

Wagenaar, B.M., et al. 2008. BIO-OIL AS NATURAL GAS SUBSTITUTE IN A 350 MW POWER STATION. *BTG-BTL_Biomass Technology Group - Biomass to Liquids.* [Online] 4 7 2008. [Cited: 17 1 2010.] http://www.btgbtl.com/uploads/documents/BTG%20Paper%20Biooil%20as%20natural%20gas%20substitute.pdf.

Wardle, D. A., Nilsson, M. and Zackrisson, O. 2008. Fire-Derived Charcoal Causes Loss of Forest Humus. *Science.* Brevia, 2008, Vol. 320 p. 629.

Yaman, S. 2004. Pyrolysis of biomass to produce fuels and chemical feedstocks. *Energy Conversion and Management.* 2004, Vols. 45 pages 651–671.

Zanzi, R., Sjöström, K. and Björnbom, E. 2002. Rapid pyrolysis of agricultural residues at high temperature. *Biomass and Bioenergy.* 2002, Vols. 23 pages 357 - 366.

Zwieten, L., et al. 2009. Biochar and Emissions of Non-CO2 Greenhouse Gases from Soil. [book auth.] J. (ed.) Lehmann and S. (ed.) Joseph. *Biochar for Environmental Management - Science and Technology.* London : Earthscan, 2009.

Østergaard, C. 2010. En fjerdel af verdens vindkraft blev opstillet i 2009. Ingeniøren - nyheder - Energi & miljø. [Online] Mediehuset Ingeniøren, 15 2 2010. [Cited: 15 2 2010.] http://ing.dk/artikel/106385-en-fjerdedel-af-verdens-vindkraft-blev-opstillet-i-2009.

Özcimen, D. and Karaosmanoglu, F. 2004. Production and characterization of bio-oil and biochar from rapeseed cake. *Renewable Energy.* 2004, Vols. 29 pages 779–787.

10 Appendix

APPENDIX 1: DATA FOR CORRELATION BETWEEN BIO-OIL WATER CONTENT AND BIO-OIL HHV (2 PAGES)91
APPENDIX 2: DATA FOR CORRELATION BETWEEN BIO-OIL C-CONTENT AND BIO-OIL HHV (2 PAGES)
Appendix 3: Kinetics parameters for degradation of biomass constituents (3 pages)95
Appendix 4: Pyrolysis model tests of variations in retention time and heating rate (2 pages)98
Appendix 5: Overview of unit operations and parameters (4 pages)
APPENDIX 6: CALCULATIONS FOR PROCESSING OF INCUBATION STUDY DATA (1 PAGE)
APPENDIX 7: DATA FROM BIOCHAR STABILITY STUDIES THROUGH INCUBATION EXPERIMENTS (2 PAGES)105
APPENDIX 8: PARAMETERS AND EQUATIONS FOR OVERALL CARBON-BALANCE CALCULATIONS (5 PAGES) 107
APPENDIX 9: SENSITIVITY TEST OF PARAMETERS FOR CARBON-BALANCE CALCULATIONS (1 PAGE)

Appendix 1:

Data for correlation between bio-oil water content and bio-oil HHV (2 pages)

Water content (wt %)	HHV MJ/kg	
45.9	6.8	(Bridgwater, et al.,
8.6	21.3	2007_B)
48.2	6.4	
11.3	20.4	
43.8	7.1	
7.8	21.8	
19.9	16.9	(Sipilaé, et al., 1998)
11.1	19.2	
0	31	(Demirbas, 2004)
23.4	16.4	(Bech, 2008)
20.8	15.4	
23.8	17.6	
22	17	
26	21	(Mohan, et al., 2006)
22,3	14,1	
40	13,9	
18,8	22,4	
20	20	
14,6	26,3	
4,5	22,2	
14	20,9	
22	23,1	
23,3	16,6]
23,4	16,4	
5	25	(Maggi, et al., 1994)



Simple correlation between bio-oil water content and higher heating value

Appendix 2:

Data for correlation between bio-oil C-content and bio-oil HHV (2 pages)

	HHV	C-content (wt %)
(Miao, et al., 2004	30	62,1
-	29	61
(Maggi, et al., 1994	21	55,1
(Özcimen, et al., 200	36.4	73,4
	27,1	68,6
	21,1	55,3
(Sipilaé, et al., 1998	21,6	56,4
	27,7	69,3
	25,9	65,8
	19,3	50,9
(Demirbas, 2004)	19,9	52
,	20,4	52,9
	21,7	54,5
	20,7	50
(Bech, 2008)	21,5	52
	15,2	37
	17,3	44
	40	85
	22,3	57,3
	18,7	46,5
	22,4	54,6
	15	48
	24,3	63,5
	33	76,4
	44	79,9
	21	56,4
	29	61,5
	30	52,1
(Mohan, et al., 2006	41	76,2
	42	85
	27	62
	22,5	54,8
	30,2	72,8
	25	58,8
	21	55,1
	27	61,7
	38,4	74
	31,8	66,9
	30	62,1
	41	76,2

C-content (wt %)	HHV MJ/kg	
61,5	29	(Mohan, et al., 2006)

48,8	14,1
46,9	13,9
54,6	22,4
72,8	30,2
58,8	25
55,1	21
61,7	27
74	38,4
66,9	31,8
62,1	30
76,2	41
61,5	29
48,8	14,1
46,9	13,9
54,6	22,4

Simple correlation between bio-oil carbon content and higher heating value



Appendix 3:

Kinetics parameters for degradation of biomass constituents (3 pages)

All reaction assumed to be 1^{st} order reactions with Arrhenius kinetics and therefore k (T) = A $\cdot e^{-E/RT}$

Cellulose kinetics:

Original parameters (Diebold, 1994):



Char-reactions 1 & 2 are defined with 100 % biomass reacting to 60 % char to 40 % water. Values adapted from hemicellulose kinetics (Miller, et al., 1997).

Slow pyrolysis fitting:

 E_{cc} changed from 110 kJ/mol to 115 kJ/mol ~(ca~4.5~%)

 E_{ac} changed from 150 kJ/mol to 155 kJ/mol (ca 3.5 %)

 E_{ag} and E_{vg} changed from 200 kJ/mol to 185 kJ/mol (ca 8 %)

 E_{av} changed from 140 kJ/mol to 141.8 kJ/mol (ca. 1.5 %)

 E_{vt} changed from 61 kJ/mol to 62 kJ/mol (ca 2 %)

Hemicellulose kinetics:

Original parameters (Miller, et al., 1997):



X for the char reaction is 0,6 for hemicellulose degradation (Miller, et al., 1997).

Slow pyrolysis fitting: E_{h2} changed from 202.4 kJ/mol to 200 kJ/mol (ca 1 %) E_{h3} changed from 145.7 kJ/mol to 145 kJ/mol (ca ½ %)

Lignin kinetics:

Original parameters (Miller, et al., 1997):



X for the char reaction is 0.75 for lignin degradation(Miller, et al., 1997).

 $\begin{array}{l} Slow pyrolysis fitting: \\ E_{12} \ changed \ from \ 143.8 \ kJ/mol \ to \ 143 \ kJ/mol \ (ca \ 1/2 \ \%) \\ A_{12} \ changed \ from \ 1.5 \cdot 10^9 \ s^{-1} \ to \ 1.5 \cdot 10^{10} \ s^{-1} \ (ca \ 0 \ \%) \\ E_{13} \ changed \ from \ 111.4 \ kJ/mol \ to \ 110 \ kJ/mol \ (ca \ 1.5 \ \%) \\ A_{13} \ changed \ from \ 7.7 \cdot 10^6 \ s^{-1} \ to \ 7.7 \cdot 10^7 \ s^{-1} \ (ca \ 0 \ \%) \\ \end{array}$

 $\begin{array}{l} E_{14} \text{ changed from 108 kJ/mol to 84.7 kJ/mol - value from (Caballero, et al., 1996)} \\ A_{14} \text{ changed from } 4.28 \cdot 10^6 \text{ to } 4.138 \cdot 10^3 \text{ - value from (Caballero, et al., 1996)} \end{array}$

Appendix 4:

Pyrolysis model tests of variations in retention time and heating rate (2 pages)



The above process modelling is done in a one-step pyrolysis at 450 °C and varying retentions times. The process below is modelled with 10 minutes drying at 110 °C, and then varying heating rates and correlated retention times to 450 °C, and then finished at this temperature for 10 minutes.



°C) - °C/min



The process above is modelled with an isotherm reactor at 510 °C, and a variation in solid phase retention times.

Appendix 5:

Overview of unit operations and parameters (4 pages)

The fast pyrolysis process:



The slow pyrolysis process:



Essential parameters:

Fast pyrolysis pre-treatment:

SHREI	D-1 (shredding): Power consumption: Power dissipation to heat:	0.05 5	kW / (kg ⋅ h) %	(default) (default)
DRY-1	(drum drying): Power consumption: Evaporation rate: Final LOD (loss on drying):	0.06 40 5	kW / m ² drum area kg / (m ² ·h) %	(default) (default) (default)
CONV	EY-1 (Screw conveying): Power consumption (slow): Power consumption (fast):	0.02 0.12	kW / (kg · h) kW / (kg · h)	(default) (user)
Down-	stream operations:			
CYCL	ONE-1: Velocity of inlet gas: Particle removal:	20 90	m / s % (of all solids)	(default) (user)
FILTE	R-1 (baghouse filtration): Particle separation: Linear velocity: 0.013 Fan efficiency: Gas viscosity: Filter depth: Filter permeability x 1.0E+11: Particulate permeability x 1.0E- Particulate layer bulk density:	100 m/s 80 0.018 2 0 +11:	% (of all solids) % cP cm m ² 0 m ² 1600 g / L	(user) (default) (default) (default) (default) (default) (default) (default)
COND	ENSE-1:			
	Condense: Vapour phase model: Liquid phase: Cooling agent: Temp. Difference factor: Heat transfer coefficient: Heat transfer efficiency: 90 Operating temperature: 40 Operating pressure:	100 Ideal g Ideal m Chilled 1 860.4 % °C 1.013	nixture	(user) (default) (default) (default) (default) (default) (user) (default)
	: Pressure change: Efficiency: eating) Exit temperature: eating) Heat transfer efficiency:	0.02 70 50 100	bar % °C %	(default) (default) (user) (default)
INCEN	VERATE: Auto-adjust air flow: Excess oxygen: Relative humidity of air:	yes 35 0	% %	(default) (default) (default)

	Ash to flue gas	0	%	(default)
Genera	al equipment:			
All kin	etic reactors: Adiabatic Power consumption:	0	kW / m ³	(default)
All sto	chiometric reactors (cosmetic un Adiabatic Power consumption:	its): 0	kW / m ³	(default)
SPLIT	-1 (splitter) / MIX-1 (mixer) (cos Power consumption: Efficiency:	smetic u 0 100	nits): kW / m ³ %	(default)
Heat ex	cchangers: Correction factor: Heat transfer coefficient: Pressure drop:	1 1500 0	Watt / $(m^2 \cdot K)$ bar (on both sides)	(default) (default) (default)
	Heat exchangers for slow pyrol Heat transfer coefficient:	ysis read 50	ctor: Watt / $(m^2 \cdot K)$	(user)

Appendix 6:

Calculations for processing of incubation study data (1 page)

In the following is given an example of the calculations done to process the data from the incubation study.

Original data from the first measurement of the first fast biochar+soil sample in the Slow><Fast study is on the form:

File Name	Date	Flux
F5.00.05	15-07-2009 15:30	1.1

The unit of the original flux measurement is in μ mol CO₂/m²·s

First the averages CO_2 -flux of the soil samples are subtracted, to isolate the CO2-flux based on the degradation of the biochar.

$$\left(1.1 \frac{\mu mol \ CO2}{m2} \cdot s \cdot 0.97 - 0.085 \frac{\mu mol \ CO2}{m2} \cdot s \cdot 0.98\right) \cdot 3600 \frac{sec}{hour} \cdot \frac{83.7 \ cm^2}{10000 \ cm^2/m^2} \cdot 10^{-6} \frac{mol}{\mu mol}$$
$$= 0.0000296 \frac{mol \ CO_2}{hour}$$

The factors 0.97 and 0.98 represent the relationship between the original LICOR chamber volume, and the actual volume available for CO2 gas build up. The actual volume is smaller due to the space taken by the sample. Volume of the samples varies, and this is reflected in the factor.

83.7 cm^2 is the area of the LICOR chamber.

In the next step the measurement is transformed into "amount of carbon released from the biochar per amount of char per hour".

$$0.0000296 \ \frac{mol \ CO_2}{hour} \cdot 44,01 \ \frac{g \ CO_2}{mol \ CO_2} \cdot 0,273 \ \frac{g \ C}{g \ CO_2} \cdot 2.0 \ g \ biochar^{-1} = 0.000178 \ \frac{g \ C}{g \ biochar \cdot hour}$$

This value is used for Figure 6-I A.

To build Figure 6-I B measurements has to be transformed into an accumulated flux value. This is done by assuming that the measured flux is a stabile value for the flux from the specific sample until the next time the sample is measured.

$$0.000178 \frac{g C}{g \ biochar \cdot hour} \cdot 12 \ hours = 0.00213 \ \frac{g C}{g \ biochar}$$

The final step towards Figure 6-I B is to sum these values over time, and use the average of the 4 replicates to build the graph.

Appendix 7:

Data from biochar stability studies through incubation experiments (2 pages)



C-loss rate as indicator of biochar stability



Accumulated C-loss as indicator of biochar stability

Appendix 8:

Parameters and equations for overall carbon-balance calculations (5 pages)
--

Parameter	Value/equation	Reference
	General parameters incl. transport	
Energy content in average diesel	44 MJ/kg	Bridgwater (1990)
Density of diesel	0,87 kg/litre	Bridgwater (1990)
Energy-output from consumption of 1 L diesel	38,3 MJ/litre	Calculated
C-emissions from combustion	1,13 kg C/litre	Gaunt et al (2008)
Transport trucks capacity	8,5 ton	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001
Truck energy consumption (fully loaded)	11,2 MJ/km	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001
Truck energy consumption (empty)	7,9 MJ/km	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001
Truck engine efficiency	32%	Ulrik Henriksen, Senior scientist Risø DTU
Diesel consumption pr km distance (out and back at full capacity)	0,18 l diesel/(km*ton cargo)	Calculated
Distance to combustion facility centralized scenario	100 km	Assumption
Distance to combustion facility decentralized scenario	20 km	Assumption
Distance to combustion facility local scenario	0 km	Assumption
Conversion factor	1 kWh = 3,6 MJ	www.unitconversion.org
C/CO2 weight ratio	0,27	Calculated
	Wheat straw production	I
Denmark average wheat straw production (collectable):	4,2 ton/ha	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001
Denmark average grain production:	6,3 ton/ha	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001
Straw weight fraction of total yield:	40 wt%	Calculated
	Denmark average fertilizer usage:	
Mineral phosphor:	3 kg P/ha	Statistikbanken, seson 2008-2009
Mineral potassium:	10 kg K/ha	Statistikbanken, seson 2008-2010
Mineral nitrogen:	75 kg N/ha	Statistikbanken, seson 2008-2011
	Fertilizer production cost (energy):	
Mineral phosphor:	12 MJ/kg P	Jørgensen et al (2004)
Mineral potassium:	7 MJ/kg K	Jørgensen et al (2004)
Mineral nitrogen:	50 MJ/kg N	Jørgensen et al (2004)
Total fertilizer requirements:	3856 MJ/ha	Calculated
G	rowth operations (Denmark average	e)

rolling		
Distribution of fertilizer	2 I diesel/ha	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001)
3 x harrowing against weeds	6 l diesel/ha	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001)
Combine harvesting	14 l diesel/ha	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001)
Shredding	4 l diesel/ha	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001)
Pressing	2 l diesel/ha	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001)
Wrapping	6 l diesel/ha	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001)
Smaller operations	3 l diesel/ha	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001)
Transport of straw in from field	8 I diesel/ha	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001)
	Uptake of atmospheric Carbon:	
Wheat straw C-content	49 wt% (daf)	Bech (2008)
Wheat straw ash content	6,8 wt% (dry)	Brown (2003)
Wheat straw water content	6,2 wt%	Brown (2003)
CO2-input for photosynthesis	1570 kg CO2/ton wheat straw	Calculated
Co	nventional wheat straw combustio	n
Straw energy content (wet):	17 MJ/kg	HHV from Bech (2008)
Combustion of straw	1570 kg CO2/ton wheat straw	Calculated
	Centralized scenario	
Large LT-CFB electricity efficiency	45%	Stoholm et al (2010)
Large LT-CFB heat efficiency	50%	Stoholm et al (2010)
Large LT-CFB overall efficiency	95%	Stoholm et al (2010)
Plant utilities consumption	??? kWH	Unused parameter
	Decentralized scenario	
CHP Plant electricity efficiency	26%	Energistyrelsen (1995)
CHP Plant heat efficiency	59%	Energistyrelsen (1995)
CHP Plant overall efficiency	85%	Energistyrelsen (1995)
Plant utilities consumption	??? kWH	Unused parameter
	Local scenario	
Straw-fired steam turbine - electricity efficiency	17,50%	Stirling.dk (2010)
Straw-fired steam turbine - heat efficiency	67,50%	Stirling.dk (2010)
Straw-fired steam turbine - overall efficiency	85%	Stirling.dk (2010)
Plant utilities consumption	??? kWH	Unused parameter
		dal
Supe Slow pyrolysis temperature (T)	erPro Designer pyrolysis process mo 300-700 ° C	Assumption
	400-800 ° C	
Fast pyrolysis temperature (T)	400-800 C	Assumption
	Bio-oil yield	
East purchasis 100 675 °C /Laltas	-1,7E-09*T^5+4,8-06*T^4-	Trand line from SuperDro Decision
Fast pyrolysis 400-675 °C (kg/ton	-1,/E-09 113+4,8-00 114-	Trend line from SuperPro Designer

straw)	0,005*T^3+2,9*T^2- 757*T+77650	simulation	
Fast pyrolysis 675-800 °C (kg/ton straw)	757*T+77650 0,006*T^2-9,3*T+3882	Trend line from SuperPro Designer simulation	
Slow pyrolysis 300-700 °C (kg/ton straw)	-2,1-12*T^6+0,000000008*T^5- 0,00001*T^4+0,008*T^3- 3,2*T^2+683*T-59412	Trend line from SuperPro Designer simulation	
	0,2 1 21000 1 00 12		
	Bio-oil water content		
Fast pyrolysis 400-675 °C (kg/ton straw)	-0,00082*T^2+1,03*T-228	Trend line from SuperPro Designer simulation	
Fast pyrolysis 675-800 °C (kg/ton straw)	0,0000012*T^3- 0,0027*T^2+2,1*T-455	Trend line from SuperPro Designer simulation	
Slow pyrolysis 300-700 °C (kg/ton straw)	1E-10*T^5-2,8E- 07*T^4+0,0003*T^3- 0,16*T^2+41,7*T-4098	Trend line from SuperPro Designer simulation	
	Bio-char yield		
Fast pyrolysis 400-675 °C (kg/ton straw)	0,00000001*T^5-3,3E- 06*T^4+0,0036*T^3- 1,9*T^2+492,7*T-48483	Trend line from SuperPro Designer simulation	
Fast pyrolysis 675-800 °C (kg/ton straw)	5,3E-06*T^3-0,01*T^2+8,05*T- 1683,5	Trend line from SuperPro Designer simulation	
Slow pyrolysis 300-700 °C (kg/ton straw)	3,4E-12*T^6-1,1E- 08*T^5+0,000015*T^4- 0,01*T^3+4*T^2-816*T+69815	Trend line from SuperPro Designer simulation	
	0,01 1 314 1 2 010 1105013		
Fast pyrolysis C-content in biochar	Biochar C-content (wt%) = 0,0772*T+15,918	Correlation temperature/C-conten Data from table 4-VII	
Slow pyrolysis C-content in biochar	Biochar C-content (wt%) = 0,1*T+10	Correlation temperature/C-conten Data from Demirbas (2006) (- ash content)	
	Biochar labile fraction		
	-8,6E-12*T^6+2,9E-08*T^5-		
Fast pyrolysis 400-675 °C (kg/ton straw)	0,00004*T^4+0,03*T^3- 12,%*T^2+2700*T-239580	Trend line from SuperPro Designe simulation	
Fast pyrolysis 675-800 °C (kg/ton straw)	3,6E-06*T^3-0,0079*T^2+5,8*T- 1410	Trend line from SuperPro Designe simulation	
Slow pyrolysis 300-700 °C (kg/ton straw)	8,9E-13*T^6-3,2E-09*T^5+4,8E- 06*T^4-0,0038*T^3+1,7*T^2- 384,6*T+36697	Trend line from SuperPro Designe simulation	
	Process gas yield	1	
Fast pyrolysis 400-675 °C (kg/ton straw)	-4,0E-12*T^6+1,2E-08*T^5- 0,000017*T^4+0,013 *T^3-5,3*T^2+1162*T-105833	Trend line from SuperPro Designer simulation	
Fast pyrolysis 675-800 °C (kg/ton straw)	0,000031*T^3-0,075*T^2+60*T- 15746	Trend line from SuperPro Designer simulation	
Slow pyrolysis 300-700 °C (kg/ton straw)	-1,0E-12*T^6+2,8E-09*T^5-3,2E- 06*T^4+0,0019*T^3- 0,6*T^2+101*T-6974	Trend line from SuperPro Designe simulation	
	Gas carbon content	1	
Fast pyrolysis	39 wt%	Data from Table 4-VIII	
Slow pyrolysis	36 wt%	Data from Table 4-VIII	
Gas heat capacity	1,8 kJ/(kg*oC)	Kofoed (1991)	
	Energy production from bio-oil		
Centralized scenario:			

Combined-cycle natural gas plant electricity efficiency	41%	Rambøl (2008)
Combined-cycle natural gas plant heat efficiency	50%	Rambøl (2008)
Combined-cycle natural gas plant overall efficiency	91%	Rambøl (2008)
,		
	Decentralized scenario:	
Combined-cycle natural gas plant	30%	Adjusted from 34% Energistyrelsen
electricity efficiency Combined-cycle natural gas plant		(1995) Adjusted from 57% Energistyrelsen
heat efficiency	55%	(1995)
Combined-cycle natural gas plant overall efficiency	85%	Adjusted from 91% Energistyrelsen (1995)
	Local scenario/In-situ scenario:	
Small gas turbine - electricity efficiency	12%	Calculated from Stirling.dk (2010)
Small gas turbine - heat efficiency	74%	Calculated from Stirling.dk (2010)
Small gas turbine - overall efficiency	86%	Calculated from Stirling.dk (2010)
	Γ	
Bio-oil HHV (MJ/kg)	HHV (MJ/kg) = -0,408*water content (wt%)+26,9	Correlation for water content < 60 wt%
		(See Appendix 1)
Bio-oil HHV (MJ/kg)	HHV (MJ/kg) = $-0,06^*$ water	Correlation for water content > 60 wt%
	content (wt%)+6,0025	(See Appendix 1)
Bio-oil C-content (wt%)	Bio-oil C-content (wt%) =	Correlation between HHV and C- content
	1,3*HHV+26,2	(See Appendix 2)
В	iochar amendment and degradation	1
Distribution of biochar	6 l diesel/ha	Set as 3 x distribution of fertilizer
Carbon loss from biochar over time (kg C/kg biochar)	Carbon-loss from biochar (kg C/kg biochar) = 0,0012*Labile fraction (wt%)+0,013	Correlation C-loss/labile fraction Data from Bruun et al (2009)
	Grid loss	
	Grid losses for substitution energy	
All scenarios Electricity	5%	Ulrik Henriksen, Senior scientist
All scenarios Heat	30%	Risø DTU Ulrik Henriksen, Senior scientist
		Risø DTU
Gi	rid losses for pyrolysis back-up energ	у
All scenarios Electricity	5%	Assumption
Local scenario heat	10%	Assumption
	Loss in scenario electricity grid	
Centralized scenario	30%	Ulrik Henriksen, Senior scientist Risø DTU
Decentralized scenario	25%	Assumption
Local/In-situ scenario	20%	Assumption
	·	
Loss	in scenario district heating distribut	ion
Centralized scenario	5%	Ulrik Henriksen, Senior scientist Risø DTU

Depenturalized and a dist	40/	A
Decentralized scenario	4%	Assumption
Local/In-situ scenario	3%	Assumption
	Substitution energy production	
Oil to close electricity gap	80,5 Kg CO2/GJ	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001)
Oil to close heat gap	80,5 Kg CO2/GJ	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001)
Natural gas to close electricity gap	60,2 Kg CO2/GJ	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001)
Natural gas to close heat gap	60,2 Kg CO2/GJ	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001)
Biomass to close electricity gap	3 Kg CO2/GJ	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001)
Biomass to close heat gap	3 Kg CO2/GJ	Miljø- og Energi-ministeriet (2001)
Wind power to close electricity gap	0 Kg CO2/GJ	Assumption
Wind power to close electricity gap	0 Kg CO2/GJ	Assumption
Ba	alancing of electricity- and heat yield	e
	for consumption	5
	Excess heat from pyrolysis process	
Fast pyrolysis 400-510 °C	-0,000035*T^3+0,054*T^2-	Trend line from SuperPro Designer
(kWh heat/ ton straw) Fast pyrolysis 510-675 °C	27,7*T+4659 -0,00035*T^3+0,61*T^2-	simulation Trend line from SuperPro Designer
(kWh heat/ ton straw)	350*T+64451	simulation
Fast pyrolysis 675-800 °C kWh heat/ ton straw)	-0,031*T^2+47,8*T-16543	Trend line from SuperPro Designer simulation
Slow pyrolysis 300-400 °C	-0,000059*T^3+0,064*T^2-	Trend line from SuperPro Designer
(kWh heat/ ton straw)	20,3*T+2230 -3,76E-	simulation
Slow pyrolysis 300-525 °C (kWh heat/ ton straw)	07*T^4+0,0003*T^3+0,048*T^2- 94,2*T+20078	Trend line from SuperPro Designer simulation
	7,9E-10*T^6-2,9E-	
Slow pyrolysis 525-700 °C (kWh heat/ ton straw)	06*T^5+0,0044*T^4- 3,6*T^3+1625*T^2-	Trend line from SuperPro Designer simulation
(kwiineat) ton strawy	393451*T+39592319	Simulation
Energy lo	oss from excess energy to plant surrou	undings
Centralized scenario	20%	Assumption
Decentralized scenario	20%	Assumption
Local scenario	10%	Assumption
In-situ scenario	100%	Assumption
	yrolysis plant electricity consumption:	
Fast pyrolysis 400-510 °C (kWh heat/ ton straw)	0,0026*T^2-2,4*T+619	Trend line from SuperPro Designer simulation
Fast pyrolysis 510-550 °C (kWh heat/ ton straw)	-0,000084*T^4+0,18*T^3- 146,3*T^2+52496,5*T-7062018	Trend line from SuperPro Designer simulation
Fast pyrolysis 550-675 °C (kWh heat/	0,000011*T^3-	Trend line from SuperPro Designer
ton straw) Fast pyrolysis 675-800 °C (kWh heat/	0,019*T^2+11,0*T-2090 -0,00051*T^2+0,93*T-243	simulation Trendline from SuperPro Designer
ton straw)	, .,	simulation
	1,07*T^6-3,25E-09*T^5+4,08E-	
Slow pyrolysis 300-700 °C (kWh heat/	1,07*1^6-3,25E-09*1^5+4,08E- 06*T^4-0,0027*T^3+0,99*T^2-	Trend line from SuperPro Designer
ton straw)	190*T+15166	simulation

Appendix 9:



Sensitivity test of parameters for carbon-balance calculations (1 page)

- 1 oil yield
- 2 water fraction
- 3 Bio-oil HHV >< water correlation (2 parameters)
- 4 Bio-oil C-wt%><HHV correlation (2 parameters)
- 5 Biochar yield
- 6 Biochar C-wt% >< Temp correlation (2 parameters)
- 7 gas yield
- 8 Gas c-content
- 9 gas heat capacity
- 10 Pyrolysis process heat balance
- 11 Heat loss to surroundings (factor)
- 12 Plant electricity consumption
- 13 Natural gas substitution cost
- 14 Energy content in 1 l diesel
- 15 Density of diesel

- 17 Straw fraction of total harvest
- 18 Fertilizer use in growth
- 19 Growth operations diesel consumption
- 20 Diesel consumption per km transport
- 21 Distance to combustion facility
- 22 Straw C-content
- 23 Straw ash content
- 24 Straw water content
- 25 Straw plant electrical efficiency
- 26 Straw plant heat efficiency
- 27 Bio-oil plant electrical efficiency
- 28 Bio-oil plant heat efficiency
- 29 Electrical grid loss
- 30 Heat grid loss
- 31 Straw HHV

Risø DTU is the National Laboratory for Sustainable Energy. Our research focuses on development of energy technologies and systems with minimal effect on climate, and contributes to innovation, education and policy. Risø has large experimental facilities and interdisciplinary research environments, and includes the national centre for nuclear technologies.

Risø DTU National Laboratory for Sustainable Energy Technical University of Denmark

Frederiksborgvej 399 PO Box 49 DK-4000 Roskilde Denmark Phone +45 4677 4677 Fax +45 4677 5688

www.risoe.dtu.dk